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NARRATIVE REPORT 
 
Background 
 

Under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act (PRSRA) 2011 (the Act), Police and 
Crime Commissioners (PCC) and Chief Constables (CC) are deemed to be separate entities 
(Corporations Sole) and further to this the two entities have been established as Schedule 
2 bodies under the Audit Commission Act 1998 (now replaced by the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014) which means that they are both required to produce accounts which 
are subject to audit. 
 
The primary function of the PCC is to secure the maintenance of an efficient and effective 
police force in Lancashire and to hold the Chief Constable (CC) to account for the exercise 
of operational policing duties under the Act.   
 
The CC is, in technical terms, a 100% subsidiary of the PCC and in accounting terms this 
means that, although the CC is required to produce accounts in their own right, their  
accounts will also be consolidated with those of the PCC to form a third set of "PCC Group" 
accounts. The CC's accounts can be found at the following link: 
 
https://www.lancashire.police.uk/about-us/our-performance/statement-of-accounts/  
 
The governance framework reinforces the PCC's position in control of the budget whereby 
the CC has a budget delegated to them by the PCC against which performance is monitored 
and reported to the PCC throughout the year. The governance framework can be found at 
the following link: 
 
https://www.lancashire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/governance-documents/  
 
The Financial Statements of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable 
 
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 require authorities to follow "proper 
practices in relation to accounts" when preparing the accounts. The Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2022/23 (the Code), which is based on 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) constitutes a "proper accounting 
practice" in England and Wales under the terms of Section 21 (2) of the Local Government 
Act 2003. The 2022/23 Statement of Accounts is also prepared in accordance with the Code.   
 
The accounts reflect the current legislative framework as well as the local arrangements 
operating in practice.  
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Contents of the Statement of Accounts 
 
The statement gives the reader an overall impression of the finances of the PCC and the 
PCC Group for the financial year ended on 31 March 2023 (referred to as 2022/23).   
 
The various sections contained within the consolidated financial statements are: 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements for the PCC and the PCC Group 
These statements show the accounting cost in the year of the PCC and PCC Group 
providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than 
the amount to be funded from taxation. The PCC raises taxation to cover expenditure in 
accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation 
position is shown in the movement in reserves statement.  
 
Movement in Reserves Statement for the PCC and the PCC Group 
The statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the end on the different 
reserves held by the PCC, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e., those that can be applied to 
fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. This statement 
shows how the movements in year of the PCC’s reserves are broken down between gains 
and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the 
statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the 
year. The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance 
movements in the year following those adjustments. During 2022/23 total reserves of the 
Group increased by £1,692.0m (PCC increased by £13.9m): an increase in usable reserves 
of £6.3m (PCC increased by £6.3m) and an increase in unusable reserves of £1,685.7m 
(PCC increased by £7.7m). 
 
Balance Sheets for the PCC and the PCC Group 
These statements show the value as at the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the PCC and the PCC Group. Net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched 
by the reserves held by the PCC.  
 
Cash Flow Statements for the PCC and the PCC Group 
These statements show the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the PCC during the 
reporting period. The statements show how the PCC generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing, and financing activities. The 
statements show a increase in cash and cash equivalents during 2022/23 from £16.8m at 
31 March 2022 to £43.9m at 31 March 2023. 
  
Auditor's Report 
This sets out the opinion of the PCC's external auditor on whether the Accounts present a 
true and fair view of the financial position and operations of the PCC and the PCC Group for 
2022/23. 
 
Annual Governance Statement 
This is a statement by the PCC which states their position on governance issues, and which 
provides assurances on the systems of control which are maintained and on the way he 
conducts their business.  

 
As the PCC Group position presents the most meaningful picture, from a reader's 
perspective, of the activities of the PCC and the CC, where there is a separate statement or 
note for the PCC and the PCC Group the order of presentation will be the PCC Group 
followed by the single entity PCC statement or note.  
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Review of 2022/23 
 
The PCC's Police and Crime Plan for Lancashire 2021-2025 identifies five priorities: 

• Getting Tough on Anti-Social Behaviour 

• Disrupting and Dismantling Organised Crime 

• Tackling Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

• Cracking down on Burglary and Robbery 

• Targeting Dangerous Drivers 

The PCC has reported their progress against these priorities in 2022/23 here:  

https://www.lancashire-pcc.gov.uk/the-police-and-crime-plan/annual-report/  

Selected highlights include: 

➢ A 20% reduction in the number of Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) incidents reported 

compared to the previous year 

➢ 271 civil orders issued to target ASB hotspot areas 

➢ A 21% reduction in serious violence in targeted hotspot areas 

➢ A 21% reduction in presentations to emergency departments with injuries from 

assaults with knife and sharp weapons 

➢ 897 serious organised crime related arrests resulting in sentences totalling 425 years 

➢ £7m funding secured to support Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence programmes 

➢ Inaugural Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) conference held driving the 

generation of a VAWG strategy for Lancashire 

➢ Operation Defender launched, targeting residential burglary 

➢ £900,000 secured through the 'Safer Streets' fund to improve crime prevention 

infrastructure 

➢ 2,683 arrests for impaired driving 

➢ 66,878 speeding tickets issued 

➢ Nearly 9,000 victims of crime supported 

 

Financial performance of the Group  
 
Revenue Budget 
 
The PCC for Lancashire's spending power in respect of 2022/23 was agreed at £348.278m 
and, after taking account of specific grants, the net budget requirement was set by the 
previous Police and Crime Commissioner in February 2022 at £338.243m funded as follows: 

 £m  
Police grant 230.767 68% 
Council Tax 107.476 32% 

 338.243  
 
Funding received from central government increased from £219.543m in 2021/22 to 
£230.767m in 2022/23 (£11.224m). This increase was, in the main, to meet the 
consequences of the national 'uplift' programme that will increase the number of police 
officers by 20,000 at the national level by 31 March 2023. 
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The Commissioner raised £107.476m from council tax in 2022/23 made up as follows: 

 £m 
Council tax precept 2022/23 106.350 
Council Tax surplus 2021/22 1.126 

 107.476 
 
This represents £236.45 for each Band D property in the County, an increase of £10 (4.42%) 
over the 2021/22 charge.  
 
 
 
The 2022/23 Revenue Outturn  
 
The 2022/23 year-end position shows spending of £334.154m representing an underspend 
of £4.089m (1.21%) against the revenue budget. 

  Budget Spend Variance 

  £m £m £m % 

Chief Constable:      

Pay costs 266.551 264.155 -2.396 -0.90 

ACC Territorial Operations 7.294 9.171 1.877 25.73 

ACC Crime 3.416 3.947 0.531 15.54 

ACC People and Specialist Uniform 
Operations 

5.168 5.084 -0.084 -1.63 

Chief Operating Officer 29.412 29.057 -0.355 -1.21 

Deputy Chief Constable 1.386 1.419 0.033 2.38 

Sub total 313.227 312.833 -0.393 -0.13 

Non-DFM budget 15.174 12.836 -2.338 -15.41 

Total Constabulary Budget 328.401 325.669 -2.731 -0.83 
      

PCC:     

Office of the PCC (including 
Communications) 

1.627 1.706 0.079 4.9 

Fighting Crime 0.740 0.596 -0.144 -19.46 

Victim and Domestic Abuse services 0.573 0.510 -0.063 -10.99 

Sub total 2.940 2.812 -0.128 -4.35 

Non-DFM 6.902 5.672 -1.230 -17.82 

Total PCC 9.842 8.484 -1.358 -13.80 

TOTAL BUDGET 338.243 334.154 -4.089 -1.21 

 

The detailed year-end report is on the PCC website  

https://www.lancashire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/decisions/april-2023-to-june-2023/ 
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The year-end position is made up of a number of pressures and savings, the main elements 
of the position are: 

Over/(Under) 
spend 
(£m) 

Area of under/over spending 

-4.8 Vacancy savings 

1.0 Additional cost of staff pay award above budgeted forecast 

1.4 Costs of agency staff to fill vacancies 

1.0 Additional overtime in excess of budget 

0.8 Cost of Ill Health retirements 

0.5 Travel and subsistence 

0.3 Hire of transport 

0.1 Equipment 

0.2 Vehicle parts 

0.4 Driver training income 

0.2 Insurance 

0.1 Catering 

0.3 'Other costs' – items less than £0.1m in value aggregated 

-0.1 Rates 

-0.4 ICT costs 

-0.3 Taser cartridges 

-0.3 External trainer/lecturer fees 

-0.8 Saving from upfront pension contribution payment 

-0.3 Additional operation Palisade grant 

-0.8 Mutual Aid 

-0.3 Oracle saving 

-0.1 Operation safeguard 

-0.2 Cyber Crime grant funding 

-0.6 TOM implementation spend 

-1.2 Interest received on investments greater than budget 

-0.2 OPCC office savings 

-4.1 Underspend 

 
2022/23 year-end position for reserves 
 
The general reserves (DFM and general fund) at 31 March 2023 are £18.655m and 
represent around 5.2% of the 2023/24 budget of £361.127m.  Other earmarked reserves 
total £11.560m including £4.384m held in reserves that provide investment for the PCC's 
capital programme in 2023/24 and future years. 

The 2023/24 budget includes a contribution from general reserves of £3.011m which 
would reduce the level of general reserves to £15.644m (4.6% of the 2023/24 revenue 
budget). 

The PCC's Chief Finance Officer believes that the level of reserves remains appropriate 
and in particular, the level of general reserves is considered sufficient to meet any 
unexpected or unusual financial issues during the financial year 2023/24. 

Further detail on movement in reserves can be found in the movement in reserves statement 
and in Notes 8 and 9 to the accounts. 
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Capital Funding 
 
A total of £14.527m has been spent on capital projects in this year: 

 £m 
IT Strategy 6.973 
Estate 3.791 
Vehicle Replacement Programme 3.093 
Other schemes 0.670 

Total 14.527 
 
The main elements of the spend summarised above are: 

I.T. Strategy 

➢ £0.697m Network Access and Security 
➢ £3.681m Device upgrade and replacement 
➢ £2.595m System replacement 

Estate 

➢ £0.949m Critical Policing Infrastructure Programme 
➢ £0.210m Skelmersdale Station refurbishment 
➢ £0.303m Solar Panel installation 
➢ £1.268m Bamber Bridge – ISO accreditation requirement 
➢ £1.061m 'Minor works programme'  

 

Other Schemes 

➢ £0.404m Replacement of specialist equipment 
➢ £0.162m ANPR equipment and infrastructure 
➢ £0.183m Average speed cameras 
➢ -£0.079m Regional collaborations 

 
The following table shows how the expenditure of £14.527m has been financed: 

 £m 

Capital Grant/Contribution 0.670 
Revenue Resources 10.088 
Revenue Reserves 0.465 
Borrowing 3.304 

TOTAL FINANCING 2022/23 14.527 
 
The capital expenditure is partially funded from borrowing. The PCC needs to pay the cost 
of this borrowing out of their own resources and therefore must ensure such borrowing is 
prudent, sustainable, and affordable in the long run. The borrowing is met by a mixture of 
long and short-term loans and the use of internal cash balances. The majority of long-term 
loans have been taken with the PWLB and are taken in line with long term need. The 
borrowing strategy is outlined in the 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy, a copy of 
which can be found on the PCC's website at the following link: 
 
https://www.lancashire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/financial-information/financial-strategy/  
 
The PCC maintains a rolling five-year capital forecast and resources are set aside to finance 
future capital expenditure. As at 31 March 2023 the PCC has set aside £4.384m in 
earmarked reserves to support capital expenditure. 
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Investing for the future 

To preserve the operational integrity and capability of the force in future years, whilst 
delivering the savings required, the PCC must consider several proposals that will change 
how the service operates. 

It is recognised that, to deliver savings proposals to meet the funding gap faced by the PCC 
in future years, the way the police service is delivered will need to change significantly. It is 
also recognised that improving the efficiency in which assets such as buildings, 
infrastructure, IT networks, IT equipment and staff are used, is crucial if the level of service 
being provided is to be maintained whilst the way it is delivered changes. 

To improve the efficiency of the service it has been identified that significant investment is 
therefore needed in these assets which is recognised in both the ICT and the Asset 
Management strategies. 

This investment will help to deliver the permanent savings in the revenue budget that are 
required in future years to ensure that the PCC can provide policing services in Lancashire 
within the resources he has available. 

The Commissioner's Reserves Strategy is reviewed each year considering the level of general 
reserves and the level of earmarked reserves available for investment in the capital 
programme. 

This process ensures that all future investment decisions are considered against the 
resources available for investment each year and this in turn informs the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy and the setting of the annual revenue budget. 

Police Pension Account 

The police pension account administers all the police pension schemes (the 1987, 2006 and 
the new 2015 schemes). Under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the 
account is to be administered by the CC and the accounts for 2022/23 follow the main 
statements. 

Benefits payable are funded by contributions from employees and employers and any 
difference between benefits payable and contributions receivable is funded by an additional 
contribution by the PCC from the Police General Fund.   

From 1 April 2020 the actuarial valuation changed the employer contribution rate from 24.2% 
to 31%. The amount of additional contribution required from the PCC in 2022/23 was £49.7m 
(£52.6m in 2021/22) financed from Home Office grant and the additional funding given to 
Policing authorities to cover the costs of the additional employer contributions.  

Pension Liabilities 

Pension costs are reported in line with International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS19). The 
pensions' liabilities shown on the PCC Group balance sheet reflect the underlying 
commitment that the PCC has in the long term to fund retirement benefits. Although 
recognition of these liabilities has a considerable impact on the net worth of the PCC Group, 
statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the PCC 
Group remains healthy.  

At 31 March 2023 the net pensions' liability of the PCC Group, calculated by the actuary, is 
£2,869.0m, (an decrease of £1671.5m over the previous year’s figure of £4,540.6m). The 
net liability is split between the Local Government Pension Scheme (£2.3m) and the Police 
Pension Schemes (£2,866.7m) the police schemes are unfunded, i.e. no investments or 
other assets exist to offset future liabilities. 
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The liability relating to the PCC’s office is shown as a net nil position therefore the total 
pension liability relates solely to the Chief Constable.  

Other elements affecting the change in liability are shown in detail in Note 28 to the accounts. 

Financial outlook 

The PCC, in conjunction with the CC, maintains a multi-year financial strategy to deliver 
efficient and effective financial management for the organisation. The provision of the three-
year financial settlement in 2022/23 has assisted with medium term financial planning 
however recent economic conditions have increased the level of uncertainty for future cost 
pressures significantly. 
 
The longer-term financial position is reviewed regularly based on best estimates of the likely 
level of cost pressures, grant income and council tax receipts. Based on this environment 
and further savings of c £18.9m are currently forecast to be required for the period to 
2026/27. This is a significant challenge for the PCC and the Constabulary and work is 
already underway to develop plans on how these can be achieved.  The PCC and the 
Constabulary have a proven track record, as recognised by both HMIC and external audit 
reports, in their ability to identify and deliver financial savings and it is anticipated that this 
will continue.  However, as the economic position becomes more difficult, it will be 
increasingly challenging to find savings on the scale required.   
 
The level of funding and demand pressures for 2022/23 and future years remains uncertain.  
 
Specific Risks include: 
 
➢ Economic uncertainty 

Increased inflation is having a significant impact for financial planning. The costs of 
goods and services are increasing at a significant rate which in turn has a potential 
impact for increases in pay. These factors will put greater pressure on the budget in 
future years requiring further savings to be identified which may then impact upon the 
level of service provided in Lancashire. 

➢ National 'Uplift' programme 

The government has provided funding for the national programme to deliver an 
additional 20,000 officers by March 2023. However, PCCs have alerted the 
government to the risk to the delivery of this programme caused by significant 
increases in costs such as pay and inflation on non-staff costs. If significant savings 
are required, it may affect the ability of forces to meet their respective uplift targets 
including the potential for reductions in police staff roles in order to maintain officer 
numbers. 

➢ Review of the Funding Formula 

The formula used to allocate grant to PCCs by the Home Office is considered 
redundant. A review of the formula is being undertaken by the Home Office and the 
impact for Lancashire is uncertain. 

Any change to the formula could have a significant impact on the allocation that 
Lancashire receives (positive or negative) making effective financial management 
much more complex. 
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➢ Emergency Services Network (ESN) - Replacement of Airwave 

The emergency services communications network ‘Airwave’ programme has 'slipped' 
even further. There is a growing financial consequence of a delay in moving over to 
the new network that is not yet clear. There is also a separate capital requirement that 
will be required to operate on the new system that will impact upon future years' capital 
programme. The financial impact of these is not yet known and an estimated impact is 
reflected in the capital investment programme based upon the best information 
currently available. When further information is received from the Home Office, the 
MTFS and the capital programme will be amended accordingly. 

➢ Changing nature of Police demand 

The demand on police services is changing with a reduction in traditional high-volume 
crimes. However, as recognised by the National Audit Office (NAO) crime levels are a 
limited measure of demand and do not show the full range of work carried out by the 
police.  This situation is echoed in Lancashire, where recorded crime does not include 
all types of crime, it does not take account of complexity, nor does it take into 
consideration those emerging more complex risks and threats such as cyber-crime and 
child sexual exploitation, which have historically been under-reported.  

There is increasing pressure on digital services within policing as advances are made 
in the use of data as well as the way the public access the service, in turn driving 
demand up. 

This changing profile within the context of economic uncertainty requires the 
Constabulary to ensure that it places emphasis on driving out efficiencies wherever 
possible to increase the capacity to meet the challenge. 

➢ Impact of the Police Pensions Remedy 

The Government introduced changes to public sector pensions and introduced revised 
pension arrangements for Police Officers in 2015. As part of the implementation a 
series of protection measures were put in place to protect those officers within 10 years 
of their normal retirement date. 

This policy was successfully challenged in the Courts and was found to be 
discriminatory on the basis of age. The Government has recently announced its 
proposals to remedy the discrimination. Whilst these proposals will take some time 
before they are in place, initial indications are that the cost of administering the 
remediation will be an additional cost on police forces and the ultimate cost of the 
remedy may require an increase in employer contributions of 10%. 

This will form detailed discussion with the Government and the extent to which 
sufficient funding is made available will be a key element of the discussion. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Steve Freeman CPFA 
CFO to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Lancashire 
 
11 December 2024 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES  

The Police and Crime Commissioner's Responsibilities 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is required to: 

• make arrangements for the proper administration of the financial affairs of the Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility 
for the administration of those affairs. In this instance, that officer is the chief financial officer. 

• manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard 
its assets. 

• approve the Statement of Accounts. 

 
Clive Grunshaw 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire 
11th December 2024 

The Chief Financial Officer’s Responsibilities 

The Police and Crime Commissioner's Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of 
the Statement of Accounts of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and the PCC Group in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the PCC's CFO has: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently 

• made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent 

• complied with the local authority Code. 

The PCC's CFO has also: 

• kept proper accounting records which were up to date 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

I certify that this Statement of Accounts is that upon which the auditor should enter a certificate and 
an opinion. It presents a true and fair view of the financial position of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Lancashire (PCC) and the PCC Group and their transactions as at 31 March 2023 
and for the year then ended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STEVE FREEMAN CPFA 
CFO to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire 
11 December 2024 
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PCC GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT 
 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services for the Group in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover 
expenditure in accordance with regulations: this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown 
in the movement in reserves statement 
 

 

2021/22 (restated)   2022/23 

Gross Exp 
Gross 

Inc 
Net Exp   

Gross 
Exp 

Gross 
Inc 

Net Exp 

£000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 

    Chief Constable:       

316,744 0 316,744 Centralised Pay Budgets 333,529 0 333,529 

31,647 (4,038) 27,609 Director of Resources* 33,426 (4,386) 29,041 

9,268 (793) 8,475 ACC Territorial Ops 10,636 (1,445) 9,191 

5,483 (947) 4,536 
ACC Crime (formerly 
Specialist Operations) 

4,944 (948) 3,996 

5,818 (1,327) 4,491 
ACC People & Specialist 
Uniform Operations * 

6,318 (1,267) 5,051 

1,669 (347) 1,322 Deputy Chief Constable* 1,756 (312) 1,444 

40,345 (21,307) 19,038 
Constabulary Non-
Devolved budgets 

39,866 (26,091) 13,775 

    PCC:       

1,677 (39) 1,637 Office of the PCC 1,846 4 1,850 

966 (421) 545 Fighting Crime 1,027 (431) 596 

5,451 (4,792) 659 
Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services 

6,043 (5,519) 523 

21,179 (98) 21,081 
PCC Non-Devolved 
budgets 

21,683 0 21,683 

440,249 (34,111) 406,138 Net Cost of Services 461,075 (40,396) 420,679 

            

   (92) 
Other operating Income & 
expenditure (Note 11) 

    (109) 

   97,161 
Financing & investment 
income & expenditure 
(Note 12) 

    125,855 

   (378,674) 
Taxation & non-specific 
grant income (Note 13) 

    (393,227) 

   124,533 
(Surplus)/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

    153,198 

            

   (20,295) 
(Surplus)/deficit on 
revaluation of property, 
plant & equipment assets 

    (15,211) 

            

   (4,631) 
Re-measurements of 
pension assets/liabilities 

    (1,830,005) 

   (24,926) 
Other Comprehensive 
(Income) & Expenditure 

    (1,845,216) 

             

    99,607 
Total Comprehensive 
(Income) & Expenditure 

    (1,692,018) 
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*The areas of responsibility covered by these budget holders changed from 1 April 2022. As a result of 
this change the figures for 2021/22 have been restated for comparability purposes. The tables below 
show the original position and the revised position and show that there is a net nil impact on Net 
Services. 
 

Original 21/22 Position Gross Exp Income Net Exp 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Centralised Pay Budgets 315,824 0 315,824 
Director of Resources 31,175 -3,458 27,717 
ACC-Territorial Ops. 9,268 -793 8,475 
ACC-Specialist Ops. 5,339 -772 4,567 
ACC People 7,394 -1,708 5,686 
Deputy Chief Constable 388 -100 288 
Constabulary Non-Devolved budgets 41,587 -21,928 19,658 
  410,975 -28,760 382,216 

 

Restated 21/22 Position Gross Income Net 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Centralised Pay Budgets 316,744 0 316,744 

Director of Resources 31,647 -4,038 27,609 

ACC-Territorial Ops. 9,268 -793 8,475 

ACC-Specialist Ops. 5,483 -947 4,536 

ACC People 5,818 -1,327 4,491 

Deputy Chief Constable 1,669 -347 1,322 

Constabulary Non-Devolved budgets 40,345 -21,307 19,038 
  410,975 -28,760 382,216 

 

Net Changes  Gross Exp Income Net Exp 
  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Centralised Pay Budgets 921 0 921 
Director of Resources 472 -580 -107 
ACC-Territorial Ops. 0 0 0 
ACC-Specialist Ops. 144 -555 -31 
ACC People -1,576 760 -1,196 
Deputy Chief Constable 1,280 -247 1,034 
Constabulary Non-Devolved budgets -1,241 621 -620 
  0 0 0 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT 

 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices for the Office of the PCC, rather than the amount to be 
funded from taxation. 
 

2021/22 (restated)   2022/23 

Gross 
Exp 

Gross 
Inc 

Net Exp   Gross Exp Gross Inc Net Exp 

£000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 

1,676 (39) 1,637 Office of the PCC 1,838 4 1,843 

670 (421) 248 Fighting Crime* 742 (431) 311 

5,451 (4,792) 659 
Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services (previously Victims 
and Witnesses) 

6,043 (5,519) 523 

4,509 (98) 4,411 PCC Non-Devolved budgets 406 0 406 

408,644 0 408,644 
Funding provided by PCC to 
CC (Note 16) 

428,110 0 428,110 

0 (28,760) (28,760) 
Income managed within 
Constabulary Budgets 

0 (34,450) (34,450) 

420,950 (34,111) 386,839 Net Cost of Services 437,139 (40,396) 396,743 
            

   (92) 
Other operating Income & 
expenditure (Note 11) 

    (109) 

   801 
Financing & investment 
income & expenditure (Note 
12) 

    112 

   (378,674) 
Taxation & non-specific grant 
income (Note 13) 

    (393,227) 

   8,874 
(Surplus)/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

    3,519 

            

   (20,295) 
(Surplus)/deficit on revaluation 
of property, plant & equipment 
assets 

    (15,211) 

   (736) 
Re-measurements of pension 
assets/liabilities 

    (2,208) 

   (21,031) 
Other Comprehensive 
(Income) & Expenditure 

    (17,419) 

   

         

    (12,157) 
Total Comprehensive 
(Income) & Expenditure 

    (13,900) 

 
 

* Due to a change in reporting arrangements within the PCC from 1 April 2022 the division of Fighting Crime is 
now shown. This replaces the previous lines for Community Safety & Partnerships and Reducing Crime & 
Reoffending. 
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PCC GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the PCC Group, analysed into usable reserves (those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services line shows the true economic cost of providing the 
PCC Group's services, more details of which are shown in the comprehensive income & expenditure statement. These are different from the statutory amounts 
required to be charged to the General Fund balance for council tax setting purposes. The net increase/(decrease) before transfers to earmarked reserves line 
shows the statutory General Fund balance before any discretionary transfers undertaken by the PCC Group. 
 

  
    

Notes 

General 
Fund 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 
Total Usable Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

Total PCC Group 
Reserves 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Balance at 31 March 2021   (24,098) (1,240) 0 (25,338) 4,294,800 4,269,462 
Movement in reserves during 
2021/22: 

              

Total Comprehensive (Income) & 
Expenditure  

  124,533 0 0 124,533 (24,926) 99,607 

Adjs between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations 

8 (124,647) (262) 0 (124,910) 124,910 0 

Net (Increase)/Decrease in 2021/22   (114) (262) 0 (377) 99,983 99,607 

Balance at 31 March 2022   (24,213) (1,502) 0 (25,715) 4,394,783 4,369,068 

Movement in reserves during 
2022/23: 

              

Total Comprehensive (Income) & 
Expenditure  

  153,198 0 0 153,198 (1,845,216) (1,692,018) 

Adjs between accounting basis & 
funding basis under regulations 

8 (159,201) (3) (243) (159,447) 159,447 0 

Net (Increase)/Decrease in 2022/23   (6,003) (3) (243) (6,249) (1,685,769) (1,692,018) 

Balance at 31 March 2023   (30,216) (1,505) (242) (31,964) 2,709,014  2,677,050 
 

NOTE: The General Fund Balance is held by the PCC in reserves that are earmarked for specific purposes or in a general reserve, as follows: 
 

 Earmarked General Total 
 £000 £000 £000 
31 March 2023 11,560 18,655 30,216 
31 March 2022 11,506 12,707 24,213 
31 March 2021 12,371 11,727 24,098 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the PCC analysed into usable reserves (those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services line shows the true economic cost of providing the 
PCC services, more details of which are shown in the comprehensive income & expenditure statement. These are different from the statutory amounts required to 
be charged to the General Fund balance for council tax setting purposes. The Net increase/(decrease) before transfers to earmarked reserves line shows the 
statutory General Fund balance before any discretionary transfers undertaken by the PCC. 
 

  
    

Notes 

General 
Fund 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

Total Usable 
Reserves 

Unusable 
Reserves 

Total PCC 
Reserves 

    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Balance at 31 March 2021   (24,098) (1,240) 0 (25,338) (149,372) (174,710) 

Movement in reserves during 2021/22:               

Total Comprehensive (Income) & Expenditure    8,874 0 0 8,874 (21,031) (12,158) 

Adjs between accounting basis & funding basis 
under regulations 

8 (8,988) (262) 0 (9,251) 9,251 0 

Net (Increase)/Decrease in 2021/22   114 (262) 0 377 11,781 12,158 

Balance at 31 March 2022   (24,213) (1,502) 0 (25,715) (161,152) (186,867) 

Movement in reserves during 2022/23:               

Total Comprehensive (Income) & Expenditure    3,519 0 0 3,519 (17,419) (13,900) 

Adjs between accounting basis & funding basis 
under regulations 

8 (9,523) (3) (243) (9,768) 9,768 0 

Net (Increase)/Decrease in 2022/23   (6,003) (3) (243) (6,249) (7,651) (13,900) 

Balance at 31 March 2023   (30,216) (1,505) (243) (31,964) (168,803) (200,767) 
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PCC GROUP BALANCE SHEET 
 

The balance sheet shows the value as at the balance sheet date of assets and liabilities recognised 
by the PCC Group. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the 
Group. 

 

31-Mar-22   Notes 31-Mar-23 

£000     £000 

231,144 Property, Plant & Equipment 18 239,363 

1,639 Investment Property   1,834 

2,135 Intangible Assets   1,622 

234,918 Long Term Assets   242,819 

        

0 Short Term Investments   0 

0 Assets Held for Sale   0 

1,208 Inventories   1,358 

32,333 Short Term Debtors 20 35,959 

16,831 Cash and Cash Equivalents 22 43,876 

3,675 Payments in Advance   11,881 

54,047 Current Assets   93,073 

        

(25,922) Short Term Borrowing 27 (36,218) 

(41,317) Short Term Creditors 21 (46,050) 

(2,446) Short-Term Provisions   (1,553) 

(824) Receipts in Advance   (952) 

(70,509) Current Liabilities   (84,773) 

        

(1,352) Long-Term Provisions   (1,759) 

(45,602) Long Term Borrowing 27 (57,384) 

(4,540,570) Pensions' Liability 28 (2,869,025) 

(4,587,524) Long Term Liabilities   (2,928,169) 

        

(4,369,068) Net Liabilities   (2,677,050) 

        

(25,715) Usable Reserves   (31,964) 

4,394,783 Unusable Reserves 10 2,709,014 

    

4,369,068 Total Reserves   2,677,050 

 
The unaudited accounts were issued on 6 June 2024 and the audited accounts were authorised for 
issue on 11 December 2024. 
 
Signed :  
Steve Freeman, Chief Financial Officer to the PCC 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY BALANCE SHEET 

 
The balance sheet shows the value as at the balance sheet date of assets and liabilities recognised 
by the PCC as a single entity. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves 
held by the PCC. 

 

31-Mar-22   Notes 31-Mar-23 

£000     £000 

231,144 Property, Plant & Equipment 18 239,363 

1,639 Investment Property   1,834 

2,135 Intangible Assets   1,622 

234,918 Long Term Assets   242,819 

        

0 Short Term Investments   0 

0 Assets Held for Sale   0 

1,208 Inventories   1,358 

33,098 Short Term Debtors 20 35,959 

16,831 Cash and Cash Equivalents 22 43,876 

3,675 Payments in Advance   11,881 

54,813 Current Assets   93,073 

        

(25,922) Short Term Borrowing 27 (36,218) 

(24,720) Short Term Creditors 21 (37,258) 

(2,446) Short-Term Provisions   (1,553) 

(824) Receipts in Advance   (952) 

(53,912) Current Liabilities   (75,981) 

        

(1,352) Long-Term Provisions   (1,759) 

(45,602) Long Term Borrowing 27 (57,384) 

(1,996) Pensions Liability 28 0 

(48,950) Long Term Liabilities   (59,143) 

        

186,868 Net Assets   200,767 

        

(25,715) Usable Reserves   (31,964) 

(161,152) Unusable Reserves 10 (168,803) 

        

(186,868) Total Reserves   (200,767) 

The unaudited accounts were issued on 29 July 2022 and the audited accounts were authorised 
The unaudited accounts were issued on 6 June 2024 and the audited accounts were authorised for 
issue on 11 December 2024. 
 
Signed :  
Steve Freeman, Chief Financial Steve Freeman, Chief Financial Officer to the PCC
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PCC GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 
The cash flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the PCC Group in the reporting 
period. The statement shows how the Group generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying 
cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from 
operating activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Group are funded by way of 
taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Group. Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash flows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to 
the Group's future service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims 
on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Group. 

 
 

 

2021/22   2022/23 

£000   £000 

124,533 Net deficit on the provision of services 153,198 

      

(141,579) 
Adjustments to net deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements (Note 
23) 

(173,212) 

      

807 
Adjustments for items included in the net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services 
that are investing & financing activities (Note 24) 

916 

(16,239) Net cash flows from Operating Activities  (19,099) 

      

9,424 Investing activities (Note 25) 14,132 

13,068 Financing activities (Note 26) (22,078) 

6,253 Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash & cash equivalents (27,045) 

      

23,083 Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the reporting period 16,831 

16,831 Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period (Note 22) 43,876 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 
The cash flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the PCC in the reporting period. 
The statement shows how the PCC generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows 
as operating, investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities 
is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the PCC are funded by way of taxation and grant 
income or from the recipients of services provided by the PCC. Investing activities represent the extent to 
which cash flows have been made for resources which are intended to contribute to the PCC's future service 
delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by 
providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the PCC. 

 
 

 

2021/22   2022/23 

£000   £000 

8,874 Net deficit on the provision of services 3,519 

      

(25,920) 
Adjustments to net deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements 
(Note 23) 

(23,534) 

      

807 
Adjustments for items included in the net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of 
services that are investing & financing activities (Note 24) 

916 

(16,239) Net cash flows from Operating Activities  (19,099) 

      

9,424 Investing activities (Note 25) 14,132 

13,068 Financing activities (Note 26) (22,078) 

6,253 Net (Increase)/Decrease in cash & cash equivalents (27,045) 

      

23,083 Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the reporting period 16,831 

16,831 Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period (Note 22) 43,876 
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1. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 
 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources e.g. government grants and council tax by 
local authorities in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with generally accepted practices. It also shows 
how this expenditure is allocated for decision-making purposes between budget areas. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted 
practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
PCC GROUP 2022/23 

  
Outturn position 

as reported to 
management 

Adjustments to arrive at 
net amount chargeable 

to Police General Fund*  

Net expenditure 
chargeable to 

Police General 
Fund 

Adjustments between 
the funding and 

accounting basis* 

Net expenditure 
Comprehensive Income & 

Expenditure Statement 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Chief Constable:           

Centralised Pay Budgets 264,155 0 264,155 69,373 333,529 

Chief Operating Officer 29,057 (16) 29,041 0 29,041 

ACC Territorial Ops 9,171 20 9,191 0 9,191 

ACC Crime 3,947 49 3,996 0 3,996 

ACC People & Specialist Uniform 
Operations 

5,084 (33) 5,051 0 5,051 

Deputy Chief Constable 1,419 25 1,444 0 1,444 

Constabulary Non-Devolved 
Budgets 

12,886 46,328 59,213 (45,438) 13,775 

PCC:           

Office of the PCC 1,706 9 1,714 136 1,850 

Fighting Crime 596 0 596 0 596 

Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services 

510 0 510 13 523 

PCC Non-Devolved Budgets 5,672 (5,672) 0 21,683 21,683 

Net Cost of Services 334,203 40,709 374,912 45,768 420,679 

Other Income and Expenditure 0 (380,915) (380,915) 113,434 (267,481) 

(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of 
services 

334,203 (340,206) (6,003) 159,201 153,198 

Opening General Fund Balance     (24,213)     

In-year deficit     (6,003)     

Closing General Fund Balance     (30,216)     

*Further details are shown in tables that follow. 
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PCC GROUP 2021/22 (Restated) 
 

  
Outturn position 

as reported to 
management 

Adjustments to arrive at 
net amount chargeable 

to Police General Fund*  

Net expenditure 
chargeable to 

Police General 
Fund 

Adjustments between 
the funding and 

accounting basis* 

Net expenditure 
Comprehensive Income & 

Expenditure Statement 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Chief Constable:           

Centralised Pay Budgets 251,332 0 251,332 65,412 316,744 

Chief Operating Officer 27,122 487 27,609 0 27,609 

ACC Territorial Ops 8,435 40 8,475 0 8,475 

ACC Crime 4,486 50 4,536 0 4,536 

ACC People & Specialist Uniform 
Operations 

4,573 (83) 4,491 0 4,491 

Deputy Chief Constable 1,327 (5) 1,322 0 1,322 

Constabulary Non-Devolved 
Budgets 

15,212 49,939 65,152 (46,113) 19,038 

PCC:           

Office of the PCC 1,709 (10) 1,699 (62) 1,637 

Fighting Crime 546 0 546 (1) 545 

Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services 

645 25 670 (11) 659 

PCC Non-Devolved Budgets 4,003 (4,101) (98) 21,179 21,081 

Net Cost of Services 319,391 46,343 365,734 40,404 406,138 

Other Income and Expenditure 0 (365,849) (365,849) 84,244 (281,605) 

(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of 
services 

319,391 (319,506) (114) 124,647 124,533 

Opening General Fund Balance     (24,098)     

In-year deficit     (114)     

Closing General Fund Balance     (24,213)     

*Further details are shown in tables that follow 
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The areas of responsibility covered by the budget holders under the Chief Constable changed from 1 April 2022. As a result of this change the figures for 
2021/22 have been restated for comparability purposes. The table below show the changes to the figures reported in the 2021/22 accounts as a result of the 
change and shows that there is a net nil impact on Net Services. 
 

Group Change 

Outturn 
position as 
reported to 

management 

Adjustments to arrive at 
net amount chargeable 

to Police General Fund*  

Net expenditure 
chargeable to 

Police General 
Fund 

Adjustments between the 
funding and accounting 

basis* 

Net expenditure 
Comprehensive Income 

& Expenditure 
Statement 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Centralised Pay Budgets 921 0 921 0 921 

Chief Operating Officer 142 -249 -107 0 -107 

ACC Territorial Ops 0 0 0 0 0 

ACC Crime -31 0 -31 0 -31 

ACC People & Specialist Uniform 
Operations 

-1,431 235 -1,196 0 -1,196 

Deputy Chief Constable 1,034 0 1,033 0 1,033 

Constabulary Non-Devolved Budgets -634 13 -620 0 -621 

Impact on Net Services 0 0 0 0 0 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY 2022/23 
 

  
Outturn position 

as reported to 
management 

Adjustments to arrive 
at net amount 

chargeable to Police 
General Fund*  

Net expenditure 
chargeable to 

Police General 
Fund 

Adjustments between 
the funding and 

accounting basis* 

Net expenditure 
Comprehensive Income 

& Expenditure Statement 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Office of the PCC 1,706 1 1,706 136 1,843 

Fighting Crime 596 (285) 311 0 311 

Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services 

510 0 510 13 523 

PCC Non-Devolved Budgets 5,672 (26,949) (21,276) 21,683 406 

Funding provided to the CC 0 424,394 424,394 0 424,394 

Income collected by the CC 0 (34,450) (34,450) 0 (34,450) 

Net Cost of Services 8,484 366,427 374,911 21,832 396,743 

Other Income and Expenditure 0 (380,915) (380,915) (12,309) (393,224) 

Deficit on provision of services 8,484 (14,487) (6,003) 9,523 3,519 

Opening General Fund Balance     (24,213)     

In-year deficit     (6,003)     

Closing General Fund Balance     (30,216)     

 
 
*Further details are shown in tables that follow 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY 2021/22 (Restated) 
 

  
Outturn position 

as reported to 
management 

Adjustments to arrive at 
net amount chargeable 

to Police General Fund*  

Net expenditure 
chargeable to 

Police General 
Fund 

Adjustments between 
the funding and 

accounting basis* 

Net expenditure 
Comprehensive Income 

& Expenditure 
Statement 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Office of the PCC 1,709 (10) 1,699 (62) 1,637 

Fighting Crime 546 (297) 250 (1) 248 

Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services 

645 25 670 (11) 659 

PCC Non-Devolved Budgets 4,003 (20,771) (16,768) 21,179 4,411 

Funding provided to the CC 0 408,644 408,644 0 408,644 

Income collected by the CC 0 (28,760) (28,760) 0 (28,760) 

Net Cost of Services 6,903 358,831 365,735 21,105 386,839 

Other Income and Expenditure 0 (365,849) (365,849) (12,116) (377,965) 

Deficit on provision of services 6,903 (7,018) (114) 8,988 8,874 

Opening General Fund Balance     (24,098)     

In-year deficit     (114)     

Closing General Fund Balance     (24,213)     

 
*Further details are shown in tables that follow 
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Adjustments to arrive at net amount chargeable to Police General Fund 
 
These adjustments relate to items that are included within departmental budgets but excluded from the cost of services in the comprehensive income 
and expenditure statement. 
 
PCC GROUP 

 

2021/22 (restated) 2022/23 

Adjustments relating 
to other income & 

expenditure 

Adjustments 
relating to 

transfers to & from 
reserves 

Total 
Adjustments 

   
Adjustments relating 

to other income & 
expenditure 

Adjustments 
relating to transfers 
to & from reserves 

Total 
Adjustments 

£000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 
    Chief Constable       
0 0 0 Centralised Pay Budget 0 0 0 

318 169 487 Chief Operating Officer 465 (481) (16) 
0 40 40 ACC Territorial Ops 0 20 20 
0 50 50 ACC Crime 0 49 49 

0 (83) (83) 
ACC People & Specialist 
Uniform Operations 

0 (33) (33) 

0 (5) (5) Deputy Chief Constable 0 25 25 

52,598 (2,659) 49,939 
Constabulary Non-
Devolved Budgets 

49,657 (3,329) 46,328 

   PCC       
0 (10) (10) Office of the PCC 0 9 9 

0 0 0 Fighting Crime 0 0 0 

0 25 25 
Victim and Domestic 
Abuse services 

0 0 0 

(6,459) 2,358 (4,101) 
PCC Non-Devolved 
Budgets 

(7,451) 1,779 (5,672) 

46,458 (114) 46,343 Net Cost of Services 42,671 (1,962) 40,709 

(365,849) 0 (365,849) 
Other Income & 
Expenditure 

(380,915) 0 (380,915) 

(319,391) (114) (319,506) 
(Surplus)/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

(338,244) (1,962) (340,206) 
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The areas of responsibility covered by the budget holders under the Chief Constable changed from 1 April 2022. A result of this change the figures for 
2021/22 have been restated for comparability purposes. The table below show the changes to the figures reported in the 2021/22 accounts as a result of the 
change and shows that there is a net nil impact on Net Services. 
 

   
Adjustments relating to 

other income & 
expenditure 

Adjustments 
relating to transfers 
to & from reserves 

Total 
Adjustments 

  £000 £000 £000 

Centralised Pay Budget 0 0 0 
Chief Operating Officer 0 249 249 
ACC Territorial Ops 0 0 0 
ACC Crime 0 0 0 
ACC People & 
Specialist Uniform 
Operations 0 -235 -235 
Deputy Chief Constable 0 0 0 
Constabulary Non-
Devolved Budgets 0 -14 -14 

Net Cost of Services 0 0 0 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY 
 

2021/22 2022/23 

Adjs 
relating to 

other inc & 
exp 

Adjs relating 
to transfers to 

& from 
reserves 

Adjs 
relating to 

the funding 
of the CC 

Total Adjs    

Adjs 
relating to 

other inc & 
exp 

Adjs relating 
to transfers to 

& from 
reserves 

Adjs relating 
to the 

funding of 
the CC 

Total Adjs 

£000 £000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 £000 

               

0 (10) (1) (10) Office of the PCC 0 9 (8) 1 

0 0 (297) (297) Fighting Crime 0 0 (285) (285) 

0 25 0 25 
Victim and Domestic 
Abuse services 

0 0 0 0 

(23,129) 2,358 0 (20,771) 
PCC Non-Devolved 
Budgets 

(28,727) 1,779 0 (26,949) 

0 0 408,644 408,644 
Funding provided to the 
CC 

0 0 428,110 428,110 

0 0 (28,760) (28,760) 
Income collected by the 
CC 

0 0 (34,450) (34,450) 

(23,129) 2,373 379,587 358,831 Net Cost of Services (28,727) 1,787 393,367 366,427 

(365,849) 0 0 (365,849) 
Other Income & 
Expenditure 

(380,915) 0 0 (380,915) 

(388,978) 2,373 379,587 (7,018) 
(Surplus)/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

(409,642) 1,787 393,367 (14,487) 
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Adjustments between the funding and accounting basis 
 
The tables below provide a more detailed breakdown of the main technical adjustments to Net Expenditure Chargeable to Police General Fund to arrive 
at the amounts in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An explanation of what these adjustments represent follows these notes. 
 
PCC GROUP 
 
 

2021/22   2022/23 

Adjs for 
capital 

purposes 
(Note A) 

Net change 
for 

pensions 
adjs (Note 

B) 

Other 
statutory 

adjs 
(Note C) 

Total 
Statutory 

Adjs 
  

Adjs for 
capital 

purposes 
(Note A) 

Net change 
for pensions 

adjs (Note 
B) 

Other 
statutory 

adjs 
(Note C) 

Total Statutory 
Adjs 

£000 £000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 £000 

0 64,645 768 65,412 Centralised Pay Budgets 0 69,522 (148) 69,373 

0 (46,183) 70 (46,113) 
Constabulary Non-Devolved 
budgets 

0 (45,430) (8) (45,438) 

0 (51) (11) (62) Office of the PCC 0 135 1 136 

0 (1) (0) (2) Fighting Crime 0 0 0 0 

0 (9) (2) (11) 
Victim and Domestic Abuse 
services 

0 13 0 13 

20,816 363 0 21,179 PCC Non-Devolved budgets 21,674 9 0 21,683 

20,816 18,763 825 40,404 Net Cost of Service 21,674 24,249 (156) 45,768 

(11,479) 96,406 (684) 84,244 
Other income and expenditure from 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

(12,841) 125,798 476 113,434 

9,337 115,169 142 124,647 
Difference between General 
Fund deficit and CIES Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

8,833 150,047 321 159,201 
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PCC SINGLE ENTITY 
 

2021/22   2022/23 

Adjs for 
capital 

purposes 
(Note A) 

Net change 
for 

pensions 
adjs        

(Note B) 

Other 
differences 

(Note C) 

Total 
Adjs 

  

Adjs for 
capital 

purposes 
(Note A) 

Net change 
for pensions 

adjs        
(Note B) 

Other 
differences 

(Note C) 
Total Adjs 

£000 £000 £000 £000   £000 £000 £000 £000 

0 (51) (11) (62) Office of the PCC 0 135 1 136 

0 (1) 0 (1) Fighting Crime 0 13 0 13 

0 (9) (2) (11) Victim and Domestic Abuse services 0 0 0 0 

20,816 363 (0) 21,179 PCC Non-Devolved budgets 21,674 9 0 21,683 

20,816 302 (13) 21,105 Net Cost of Service 21,674 157 1 21,832 

(11,479) 46 (683) (12,116) 
Other income and expenditure from 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

(12,841) 55 476 (12,309) 

9,337 348 (696) 8,989 
Difference between General Fund 
deficit and CIES Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

8,833 212 477 9,523 
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Note A – Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
 
Adjustments for capital purposes –this column adds in depreciation, amortisation of intangible assets 
and revaluation gains and losses in the service lines and for: 

• Other Operating Income and Expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of 

income on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets. Also, any change 

in the fair value of assets held for sale is reflected in this note; 

• Financing and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for capital financing 

i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions are deducted from other 

income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting 

practices; 

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are adjusted for 

income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue grants are 

adjusted for those receivable in year to those receivable without conditions or for which 

conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 

and Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year without conditions or 

for which conditions were satisfied in the year. 

Note B - Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments 
 
Net change for the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS19  
Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income. 
 

• For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the 

PCC and CC as allowed by statute and the replacement with current and past service costs; 

• For Financing and investment income and expenditure the net interest on the defined benefit 

liability is charged to the CIES. 

Note C – Other Differences 
 
Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute. 
 

• For services this represents the change in accrued employee benefits such as annual leave 

and time off in lieu; 

• The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents the 

difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for council tax that was 

projected to be received at the start of the year and the income recognised under generally 

accepted accounting practices in the Code. This is a timing difference as any difference will 

be brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on the Collection Fund. 
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2. EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSED BY NATURE 
 
The PCC Group's expenditure and income is analysed by nature as follows: 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 
  £000 £000 
Expenditure     
Employee expenses 359,935 374,712 
Other service expenses 59,499 64,689 
Depreciation and amortisation 16,670 21,276 
Revaluation losses 4,146 397 
Interest expenses 97,727 127,532 
Reduction in FV of assets held for sale 0 0 
Write out of NCA sold in year 487 359 
Impairment allowance (4) 4 

Total expenditure 538,459 588,970 

     

Income    

Fees, charges and other service income (18,278) (20,993) 
Interest and investment income (71) (1,486) 
Income from council tax (102,888) (107,000) 

Increase in FV of investment assets and assets held for sale (490) (196) 

Receipts from sale of non-current assets (580) (468) 
Government grants and contributions (291,619) (305,629) 

Total Income (413,926) (435,772) 
      

DEFICIT ON PROVISION OF SERVICES 124,533 153,198 

 
The PCC's Single Entity expenditure and income is analysed by nature as follows: 
 

  2021/22 2022/23 
  £000 £000 
Expenditure     
Employee expenses 1,622 1,131 
Other service expenses 6,539 7,500 
Revaluation losses 4,146 397 
Interest expenses 1,367 1,789 
Reduction in FV of assets held for sale 0 0 
Write out of NCA sold in year 487 359 
Impairment allowance (4) 4 
PCC funding of CC 408,644 428,110 

Total expenditure 422,801 439,291 
     
Income    
Fees, charges and other service income (18,278) (20,993) 
Interest and investment income (71) (1,486) 
Income from council tax (102,888) (107,000) 

Increase in FV of investment assets and assets held for sale (490) (196) 

Receipts from sale of non-current assets (580) (468) 
Government grants and contributions (291,619) (305,629) 

Total Income (413,926) (435,772) 
     

DEFICIT ON PROVISION OF SERVICES 8,874 3,519 
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3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Accounting policies are set out in notes to the accounts.  In applying the accounting policies, the PCC 
Group must make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about 
future events.  
 

There remains a significant degree of uncertainty about future levels of funding for local government 
and police and crime commissioners. However, the PCC has determined that this uncertainty is not 
sufficient to provide an indication that the assets of the PCC might be impaired as a result of a need 
to close facilities and reduce levels of service provision.  
 
The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 
(CIES) 

Recognised 
in PCC 
CIES 

Recognised 
in CC CIES Judgement 

Income YES YES 

The Financial Management Code of Practice (FMCP) for the Police 
Service, issued by the Secretary of State, makes it clear that the PCC is 
the recipient of funding relating to policing and crime reduction, including 
government grants and precepts and other sources of income. This is 
supported in the PCC’s Scheme of Corporate Governance which states 
that ‘all funding to the Chief Constable must come via the 
Commissioner’. Therefore, the PCC recognises all income receivable in 
its single entity financial statements and in turn provides funding to the 
CC to undertake day-to-day policing and crime reduction services during 
the year. 

Expenditure – 
employee costs 
of police 
officers NO YES 

In recognising employee costs the PCC has considered the requirements 
of IAS19. This does not use control of risks and rewards in determining 
recognition but rather considers which body is responsible for incurring 
employee expenditure. In making this judgement however, the underlying 
substance of who the employment is incurred for has been considered 
and not just the legal form. Police Officers are employees of the Crown 
and they represent the most significant cost of operational policing which 
the CC is solely responsible for. The full IAS19 costs of police officers are 
therefore reflected in the CC’s financial statements. 

Expenditure – 
employee costs 
of civilian staff 

YES (for 
staff in 
Office of 
PCC) 

YES (for all 
other staff) 

The majority of police civilian staff are employed by the CC. These staff 
are considered to be employed to support the operational policing role of 
the CC and this expenditure is recorded in the CC’s financial statements. 
The employee costs reported in the financial statements of the PCC 
relate to staff employed in the Office of the PCC who support the strategic 
role of the PCC. 

Other Direct 
Expenditure 

YES (for 
costs 
relating to 
the Office 
of PCC) 

YES (for all 
other direct 
costs) 

The majority of other direct expenditure is employee driven (e.g. rent, 
rates, building maintenance, power, light, heat, telephones, transport, 
etc.). The costs are recognised in the financial statements of the entity 
which recognises the employee’s costs. 
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Balance Sheet (BS) 

Recognised 
in PCC 
CIES 

Recognised 
in CC CIES Judgement 

Interest 
payable/receivable YES NO 

The PCC holds all cash balances, loans and investments. The CC does 
not hold a bank account and no cash transactions take place between 
the two bodies. 

Property Plant and 
Equipment 
(including assets 
held for sale) YES NO 

The PCC has legal title to long term assets, the power to determine 
whether the assets are sold and receives all the sales proceeds. The 
PCC controls the services provided through the long-term assets, who 
they are provided to, and controls the residual value at the end of the 
contractual arrangement. It is therefore considered that the PCC will 
receive the future benefits from the assets. The PCC charges the CC a 
fair value for the assets which reflects depreciation and 
impairment/revaluation losses chargeable to the CIES. 

Current Assets YES YES * 

The majority of current assets are recognised on the PCC’s balance 
sheet. Inventories are recognised on the PCC’s Balance Sheet as the 
PCC controls the services provided through the assets. The majority of 
debtors are recognised on the PCC’s as the PCC is the recipient of all 
funding and is therefore considered to receive the future benefits. 
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are recognised 
on the PCC’s balance sheet as the PCC is in receipt of all income and 
funding and makes all payments. The CC does not hold a bank account 
and no cash transactions take place between the two bodies. 

Current Liabilities YES YES * 

The majority of the current liabilities are recognised on the PCC’s 
balance sheet. The PCC has responsibility for managing financial 
relationships with third parties and has legal responsibility for 
discharging the contractual terms and conditions of suppliers.  
Provisions relating to insurance risks are recognised in full on the 
PCC’s Balance Sheet. Whilst the PCC and the CC are jointly 
responsible for approving risk management and strategy, the PCC is 
ultimately responsible for financial liabilities affecting the Police Fund. 
Provisions relating to officers and staff under the direction and control 
of the CC are recognised on the CC’s Balance Sheet. 

Long-term liabilities YES YES * 

The PCC and CC each recognise pension liabilities relating to staff 
under their direction and control. The treatment of other long-term 
liabilities and provisions is consistent with the treatment of current 
liabilities outlined above. 

Usable Reserves YES NO 

The PCC has the responsibility of deciding upon the level of general 
balances and earmarked reserves. The CC must present a business 
case to the PCC for one-off expenditure items to be funded from 
earmarked reserves and/or general balances. 

Unusable Reserves YES YES * 

The PCC and CC each recognise the pensions reserve and 
accumulated absences account balances relating to staff under their 
direction and control. The remaining unusable reserves are held in 
relation to property, plant and equipment and are therefore recorded 
on the balance sheet of the PCC. 

 
* Balances reported on the CC’s balance sheet relate to assets/liabilities/reserves arising from officers/staff under the 
direction and control of the CC. 
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4. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 

A prior period adjustment has been made to show the upfront Employers Contribution to the LGPS within 
Note 28 on Pages 87 & 88. 
 
This error does not affect any figures within the Balance Sheet as the net position of the liability overall 
is unaffected. 
 

5. ACCOUNTING STANDARDS THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED BUT HAVE NOT YET BEEN ADOPTED 
 

The following amendments have been made to accounting standards or new accounting standards that 
have been issued on or before 1 January 2023 but not yet adopted by the Code: 
 

• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8) 

• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) 

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments 

to IAS 12)  

• Updating a Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3)  

 

None of the above amendments are expected to have any material impact on the accounts of the 

PCC Group. 

In addition to the above amendments a new standard IFRS 16 – Accounting treatment for Leases 
which was due to be introduced from 1st April 2020 but has now been deferred to 1st April 2024.  
 
The aim of this standard is to increase visibility of lease commitments as well ensuring more 
consistent financial reporting of lease assets. Under the new standard most leases will now be 
classified as finance leases and will appear on the balance sheet.  
 
The processing of collating information is well underway but at this stage the resulting changes to 
the primary statements has not yet been identified.  
 
However, it is anticipated that there will be a nil impact on the CIES as the current rental costs 
which appear in the CIES will be replaced by depreciation, MRP and interest charges at similar 
levels.  
 
In terms of the recognition of right of use assets this is not expected to be material but at this stage 
cannot be fully identified due to workload pressures. 
 
The position is currently being reviewed and a further update will be provided in next year’s 
Statement of Accounts. 
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6. ASSUMPTIONS MADE ABOUT THE FUTURE AND OTHER MAJOR SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY  
 
The statement of accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the PCC 
Group about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made considering historical 
experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  However, because balances cannot be 
determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates. The items in the PCC Group balance sheet at 31 March 2023 for which there is a significant 
risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 

 

Item Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions 

Property, 

Plant and 

Equipment 

 

The valuers employed by the PCC 

provide valuations as at 31 March 

based on a 3-year rolling programme 

of valuations. The valuations are 

undertaken by qualified valuers in 

accordance with the Royal Institute of 

Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 

professional standards using 

recognised measurement techniques. 

The value of the property, plant and 

equipment is dependent upon 

professional judgement based on 

information available at the time of 

valuation. 

 Land & building valuations are compiled by an expert 

using recognised measurement techniques and based on 

professional guidance. The underlying data is considered 

to be reliable and the scope to use judgement and change 

assumptions limited. The balance of assets not revalued 

in year are reviewed by applying local movement in prices 

and appropriate cost indices to ensure that the value of 

the PCC's assets are not materially misstated at the 

balance sheet date.  

 

At the balance sheet date of 31st March 2023 the value of 

property, plant and equipment was £232.2m. Any change 

in the useful lives of assets would impact on the 

depreciation charge and the carrying amount of the asset. 

It is estimated that the annual depreciation charge for 

property, plant and equipment would alter by £2.3m for 

every year that useful lives changed. 

 

The value of land & building assets which are subject to 

rolling revaluations was £207.1m at 31st March 2023.  It is 

estimated that a 1% variance in valuations would change 

the value of those assets on the balance sheet by £2m 

and the depreciation charge to the CIES by £41k. 
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Pensions 

Liability 

The net liability to pay pensions is 

calculated every three years with 

annual updates in the intervening 

years. A firm of consulting actuaries 

(Mercer) is engaged to provide the 

PCC with expert advice about the 

assumptions to be applied. Changes 

to these underlying assumptions can 

result in significant variances in the 

calculated liability. The assumptions 

and complex judgements applied 

include the discount rate used, the 

rate at which salaries are projected to 

increase, changes in retirement ages, 

mortality rates and expected returns 

on pension fund assets. Despite a 

period of relative stability, recently this 

volatility has increased again with the 

situation in Ukraine and the Middle 

East. The impact on asset values is 

reflected in the accounting figures. 

In relation to LGPS, the actuary 

calculated that the valuation resulted 

in a net asset of £93.911m, however 

under IAS 19 Employee Benefits 

requires that, where a pension plan 

asset exists, it is measured at the 

lower of: • The surplus in the defined 

benefit plan; and • The asset ceiling. 

The calculation has been completed 

by the actuary, and an adjustment has 

been made to reflect the asset ceiling 

which is nil. 

The effects on the net pension liability of changes in 

individual assumptions can be measured. Included within 

the Defined Benefits Note 28 is a sensitivity analysis that 

looks at the impact on net pensions' deficit of each of the 

significant actuarial assumptions. For instance, a 1% 

reduction in the discount rate assumption would result in 

an increase in the pension liability of the PCC Group of 

around £0.596m. During 2022/23, the PCC's actuaries 

advised that the net pensions' liability for the Group had 

reduced by £1,672m (PCC Single Entity reduced by £2m) 

on the Balance Sheet. This has occurred because of 

changes in financial assumptions and the effects of the 

asset ceiling. This included an increase of 2.0% in the 

discount rate of all schemes, which increases the liability, 

along with increases of 0.6% each in assumptions for 

inflation, salary and pension increases which result in 

further increases in liability.  

Pensions 
Assets 

The value of the assets of the LGPS is 
dependent on a professional 
judgement based on information 
available at the time of making the 
valuation.  

The total of property assets for the PCC Group as outlined 

in Note 28 is £55.835m (£0.862m for the PCC) (including 

Property held within Investment Funds). 

It should be noted that the proposed method of projecting 

from the previous valuation results is not as accurate as 

performing a full valuation at the disclosure date.  

However we have been advised by the actuary that a 1% 
increase in investment returns would result in an increase 
of £5.58m (£0.09m for the PCC) in the value of the 
Pensions Assets. 

 
7. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

 
Accounting Policy 
 
Events after the balance sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the statement of accounts is authorised for 
issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 

➢ those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the  
           statement of accounts is adjusted to reflect such events; 
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➢ those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the statement of 
accounts are not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have 
a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated 
financial effect. 
 

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the PCC's CFO on 11 December 2024.  Events 
taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the statement of accounts. 
 
Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31st March 
2023, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to 
reflect the impact of this information 
 
NOTES TO THE MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

8. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER REGULATION 
 

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure 
recognised by the PCC in the year in accordance with proper accounting practice to arrive at the resources 
that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the PCC to meet future capital and revenue 
expenditure. The following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made against.  

 
GENERAL FUND BALANCE 
 
The Police General Fund Balance is the statutory fund into which all receipts are required to be paid and 
out of which all liabilities are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide otherwise. 
These rules can also specify the financial year in which liabilities and payments should impact on the General 
Fund Balance, which is not necessarily in accordance with proper accounting practice. The General Fund 
Balance therefore summarises the resources that the PCC is statutorily empowered to spend on his services 
or on capital investment at the end of the financial year. 
 
CAPITAL RECEIPTS RESERVE 
 
The Capital Receipts Reserve holds the proceeds from the disposal of land or other assets, which are 
restricted by statute from being used other than to fund new capital expenditure or to be set aside to finance 
historical capital expenditure. The balance on the reserve shows the resources that have yet to be applied 
for these purposes at year-end. 
 
CAPITAL GRANTS UNAPPLIED 
 
The Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve holds the grants and contributions received towards capital projects 
for which the conditions have been met that would otherwise require the repayment of the monies, but which 
have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. The balance is restricted by grant terms as to the capital 
expenditure against which it can be applied and/or the financial year in which this can take place 
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2022/23 
 

  Usable Reserves 

PCC GROUP 
General Fund 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve  

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

  £000 £000 £000 

Adjustments to Revenue Resources     

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are 
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

    

•         Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions 
Reserve) 

(150,047) 0 0 

•         Council Tax (transfers to or from the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account) 
(476) 0 0 

•         Untaken leave and Time Off in Lieu (transferred to the 

Accumulated Absences Account) 
156 0 0 

•         Reversal of entries included in the deficit on provision of 
services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to 

the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(20,925) 0 (243) 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (171,293) 0 (243) 

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources     

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve 

3 (3) 0 

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer to the capital 
Adjustment Account) 

1,535 0 0 

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the 
Capital Adjustment Account) 

10,554 0 0 

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 12,092 (3) 0 

Adjustments to Capital Resources     

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments (159,201) (3) (243) 
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  Usable Reserves 

PCC SINGLE ENTITY 
General 

Fund 
Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve  

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

  £000 £000 £000 

Adjustments to Revenue Resources     

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are 
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

    

•         Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions 
Reserve) 

(212) 0 0 

•         Council Tax (transfers to or from the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account) 
(476) 0 0 

•         Untaken leave and Time Off in Lieu (transferred to the 

Accumulated Absences Account) 
(1) 0 0 

•         Reversal of entries included in the deficit on provision of 
services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to 

the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(20,925) 0 (243) 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (21,614) 0 243 

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources     

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve 

3 (3) 0 

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer to the capital 
Adjustment Account) 

1,535 0 0 

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the 
Capital Adjustment Account) 

10,554 0 0 

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 12,092 (3) 0 

Adjustments to Capital Resources     

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments (9,523) (3) (243) 
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2021/22 
 

  Usable Reserves 

PCC GROUP 
General Fund 

Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve  

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

  £000 £000 £000 

Adjustments to Revenue Resources     

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are 
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

    

•         Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions 
Reserve) 

(115,169) 0 0 

•         Council Tax (transfers to or from the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account) 
684 0  0 

•         Untaken leave and Time Off in Lieu (transferred to the 

Accumulated Absences Account) 
(825) 0  0 

•         Reversal of entries included in the deficit on provision of 
services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to 

the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(20,268) 0 0 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (135,578) 0 0 

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources     

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve 

262 (262) 0  

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer to the capital 
Adjustment Account) 

1,429 0 0  

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the 
Capital Adjustment Account) 

9,240 0 0 

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 10,931 (262) 0 

Adjustments to Capital Resources     

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments (124,647) (262) 0 
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  Usable Reserves 

PCC SINGLE ENTITY 
General 

Fund 
Balance 

Capital 
Receipts 
Reserve  

Capital 
Grants 

Unapplied 

  £000 £000 £000 

Adjustments to Revenue Resources     

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the CIES are 
different from revenue for the year calculated in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

    

•         Pensions costs (transferred to (or from) the Pensions 
Reserve) 

(348) 0 0 

•         Council Tax (transfers to or from the Collection Fund 

Adjustment Account) 
684 0  0 

•         Untaken leave and Time Off in Lieu (transferred to the 

Accumulated Absences Account) 
10 0 0 

•         Reversal of entries included in the deficit on provision of 
services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are charged to 

the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(20,268) 0  0 

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (19,919) 0 0 

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources     

Transfer of non-current asset sale proceeds from revenue to the 
Capital Receipts Reserve 

262 (262)  0 

Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer to the capital 
Adjustment Account) 

1,429 0 0  

Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer to the 
Capital Adjustment Account) 

9,240 0 0  

Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources 10,931 (262) 0 

Adjustments to Capital Resources     

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure     

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources 0 0 0 

Total Adjustments 8,988 262 0 
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9. EARMARKED RESERVES 

 
Accounting Policy 
 
All usable reserves belong to the PCC.  These include both revenue and capital usable reserves. The PCC sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future 
policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the Police General Fund balance in the movement in reserves 
statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged against the relevant service line to score against the surplus/deficit on the 
provision of services in the CIES. The reserve is then appropriated back into the Police General Fund balance in the movement in reserves statement so that 
there is no net charge against council tax in the year that the expenditure is incurred. 
 
Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves  

 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the Police General Fund balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans, 
and the amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2022/23.  

 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  Balance at 
31/03/2021 

Transfers Out 
2021/22 

Transfers In 
2021/22 

Balance at 
31/03/2022 

Transfers Out 
2022/23 

Transfers In 
2022/23 

Balance at 
31/03/2023   

Earmarked Reserves: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Capital Funding Reserve 175 (9,240) 9,216 151 (11,216) 11,166 101 
Confiscation & Forfeiture Reserve 423 (265) 128 286 (56) 159 389 
Clothing Development Reserve 223 (271) 75 28 (229) 987 786 
Vehicle Maintenance Reserve 8 0 0 8 0 0 8 
POCA Equalisation Reserve 547 0 0 547 0 156 702 
Transition Reserve 6,048 (3,655) 0 2,392 (663) 198 1,927 
Operational Policing Reserve 1,691 0 0 1,691 0 0 1,691 
Employers/Public Liability Reserve 685 0 0 685 0 0 685 
Road Safety Reserves 2,400 (542) 775 2,633 (570) 407 2,470 
Forensic Academy Reserves 132 (4) 38 165 0 36 202 
Wellbeing Reserve 17 0 0 17 (17) 0 0 
NWROCU Reserve 22 (22) 462 462 (462) 40 40 
Council Tax Support Reserve 0 0 2,356 2,356 0 0 2,356 
RDF Forensic Income Reserve 0 0 84 84 0 0 84 
RDF Capital Funding Reserve    0 (100) 220 120 
Catering Reserve    0 (6) 6 0 

Total Earmarked Reserves 12,371 (13,999) 13,133 11,506 (13,320) 13,375 11,560 
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10. Unusable Reserves 
 
Accounting Policy 

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets and retirement 
and employee benefits and they do not represent usable resources for the PCC; these reserves are 
explained in the relevant policies below. 

 

Revaluation Reserve 

The revaluation reserve contains the gains made by the PCC arising from increases in value of its 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The balance is reduced when assets with 
accumulated gains are: 
 

• Revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost; 

• Used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; 

• Disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 

The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date the reserve was 
created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the capital 
adjustment account. 
 
 

  PCC/PCC GROUP 

  31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

  £000 £000 

Balance at 1 April (69,608) (88,791) 

Upward revaluation of assets (26,194) (17,952) 

Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not charged to the 
surplus/deficit on the provision of services 

5,899 2,741 

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not posted to the 
surplus/deficit on the provision of services 

(20,295) (15,211) 

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost depreciation (990) (2,242) 

Accumulated gains on disposed assets (122) 0 

Amount written off to the capital adjustment account (1,112) (2,242) 

Balance at 31 March  (88,791) (101,760) 

 
 
  

PCC   PCC GROUP 

31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23   31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

£000 £000   £000 £000 

(88,791) (101,760) Revaluation Reserve (88,791) (101,760) 

(73,903) (67,066) Capital Adjustment Account (73,903) (67,066) 

1,996 0 Pensions Reserve 4,548,983 2,869,025 

(463) 13 Collection Fund Adjustment Account (463) 13 

8 10 Accumulated Absences Account 8,957 8,801 

(161,152) (168,803) Total Unusable Reserves 4,394,783 2,709,014 
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Capital Adjustment Account 
 
The capital adjustment account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements 
for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the acquisition, construction 
or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of 
acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are 
charged to the CIES (with reconciling postings from the revaluation reserve to convert fair value figures 
to a historical cost basis). The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the PCC as finance for 
the costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement. The account contains accumulated gains and 
losses on Investment Assets and also contains revaluation gains accumulated on property, plant and 
equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the revaluation reserve was created to hold such gains. 
 

  PCC/PCC GROUP 

  
31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23  

  

  £000 £000 

Balance at 1 April (82,390)        (73,903)  

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or credited to the 
comprehensive income and expenditure statement: 

 
  

Charges for depreciation and impairment of non-current assets 15,647      20,098 

Revaluation (gains)/losses on property, plant and equipment 4,146           397 

Amortisation of intangible assets 903           792 

Revenue expenditure funded by capital under statute 120           386 

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of 
gain/loss on disposal to the CIES 

487           359 

  21,303      22,033 

Adjusting amounts written out of the revaluation reserve (1,112)          (2,242)  

Net written out amount of the cost of non-current assets consumed in the 
year 

20,190      19,791 

Capital financing applied in year:    

Use of the capital receipts reserve to finance new capital expenditure 0 0 

Capital grants and contributions credited to the CIES that have been 
applied to capital financing 

(545)             (670)  

Application of grants to capital financing from the capital grant 
unapplied account 

0 0 

Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged 
against the General Fund balance 

(1,429)          (1,535)  

Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund balance (9,240)        (10,554)  

  (11,213)       (12,759)  

Movement in the market value of investment properties and assets held for 
sale debited or credited to the CIES 

(490)             (196)  

Other adjustments 0               0    

Balance at 31 March  (73,903)       (67,066)  
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Pensions Reserve 
 
The pensions reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The PCC and PCC 
Group account for post-employment benefits in the CIES as the benefits are earned by employees 
accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions 
and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements 
require benefits earned to be financed as the PCC makes the employer's contributions to the pension 
funds or eventually pays any pensions for which he is directly responsible. The negative balance on the 
pensions reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current 
employees and the resources set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that 
funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 

PCC   PCC GROUP 
31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23   31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

£000 £000   £000 £000 
2,385 1,996 Balance at 1 April 4,438,446 4,548,983 

(736) (2,208) 
Re-measurements of the net defined benefit 
(liability)/ asset 

(4,631) (1,830,005) 

700 320 
Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the surplus or 
deficit on the provision of services 

219,378 254,508 

(352) (108) 
Employer's pensions contribution and direct 
payments to pensioners payable in the year 

(104,209) (104,461) 

1,996 0 Balance at 31 March 4,548,983 2,869,025 

 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
 
The collection fund adjustment account manages the difference arising from the recognition of council 
tax income in the CIES as it falls due from council taxpayers compared with the statutory arrangements 
for paying across amounts to the Police General Fund from the collection fund. 
 

  31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

  £000 £000 

Balance at 1 April 220 (463) 

Amount by which council tax income credited to the CIES is 
different from council tax income calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

(684) 476 

Balance at 31 March  (463) 13 
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Accumulated Absences Account 
  
The accumulated absences account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the Police 
General Fund balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. 
annual leave entitlement and police officers lieu time carried forward at 31 March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers to or from 
the account. 
 

PCC   PCC GROUP 

31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23   31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

£000 £000   £000 £000 

21 8 Balance at 1 April 8,132 8,957 

(21) (8) 
Settlement or cancellation made at the end of the 
preceding year 

(8,132) (8,957) 

8 10 Amounts accrued at the end of the current year 8,957 8,801 

(13) 2 

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
CIES on an accruals basis is different from 
remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements 

825 (156) 

8 10 Balance at 31 March  8,957 8,801 

 
 
Notes to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

 

11. Other operating income and expenditure  
 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Loss/(Gain) on the disposal of non-current assets (92) (109) 

Changes in fair value of assets held for sale 0 0 

Total (92) (109) 

 
12. Financing and investment income and expenditure  

 

PCC   PCC GROUP 

2021/22 2022/23   2021/22 2022/23 

£000 £000   £000 £000 

1,321 1,734 Interest payable and similar charges 1,321 1,734 

(71) (1,486) Interest receivable and similar income (71) (1,486) 

46 55 
Net interest on the defined benefit pensions 
liability  

96,406 125,798 

(490) (196) Changes in fair value of investment properties  (490) (196) 

(4) 4 Impairment Allowance (4) 4 

801 112 Total 97,161 125,855 
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13. Taxation and non-specific grant income 
 

Collection Fund Accounting Policy 

To reflect that billing authorities act as agents for major preceptors in collecting their share of council tax, 
council tax transactions and balances will be allocated between billing authorities and major preceptors. 
Thus, the risks and rewards that the amount of council tax collected could vary from that predicted will 
be shared proportionately by the billing authorities and major preceptors. The difference between the 
income included in the CIES and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Fund 
shall be taken to the collection fund adjustment account and included as a reconciling item in the 
movement in reserves statement. A debtor/creditor position between billing authorities and major 
preceptors is required to be recognised for the cash collected by the billing council from council tax 
debtors that belongs proportionately to the billing authorities and the major preceptors. This is because 
the net cash paid to each major preceptor in the year will not be its share of cash collected from council 
taxpayers. The effect of any bad debts written off or movement in the impairment provision are also 
shared proportionately. 

Taxation and non-specific grant income included in the CIES is as follows: 

2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Council tax income (102,888) (107,000) 

Non ring-fenced government grants (219,543) (232,549) 

Capital grants and contributions (545) (912) 

Funding for Additional Employer Pension 
Contributions 

(3,104) (3,104) 

Home Office Pension Grant (52,595) (49,661) 

Total (378,674) (393,227) 

 
14. Government grants and contributions 

 
Accounting Policy 

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third-party contributions 
and donations are recognised as due to the PCC/PCC Group when there is reasonable assurance that 
the Group will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and the grants or contributions will 
be received. 

Amounts recognised as due to the PCC Group are not credited until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits 
or service potential embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be 
consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned 
to the transferor. 

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in 
the balance sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the 
relevant service line (attributable to revenue grants and contributions) or taxation and non-specific grant 
income (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the CIES.  

Where capital grants are credited to the CIES, they are reversed out of the Police General Fund balance 
in the movement in reserves statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the capital grants unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted 
to the capital adjustment account. Amounts in the capital grants unapplied reserve are transferred to the 
capital adjustment account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
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The PCC/PCC Group credited the following grants and contributions to the CIES in 2022/23:  

 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income:    

Police Grant (219,543) (230,767) 

Capital Grant and contributions (545) (912) 

Home office grant funding for Police Officer Pay Increase   (1,782) 

Home Office grant payable towards the cost of retirement benefits (52,595) (49,661) 

Home Office funding for additional employer’s pension contributions (3,104) (3,104) 

Total (275,787) (286,226) 

     

     

Credited to Services:    

Counter Terrorism (1,288) (2,658) 

Ministry of Justice Victims Funding (3,799) (4,200) 

Funding for Additional Police Officers (2,752) (4,536) 

Serious Violence Funding   (830) (895) 

Violence Reduction Unit Funding                                                             (1,153) (2,024) 

Trauma Informed Training (298) 0 

Teachable Moments (216) 0 

Teachable Moments - Youth Divert  (220) 0 

Share of grant funding received by lead forces in collaboration 
arrangements 

(526) (458) 

National Well Being (1,157) (2,162) 

Cyber Force - Build (149) (160) 

Police PPE (200) 0 

Covid Lost Income 32 0 

Project Adder                               (653) (572) 

DBS (888) (1,002) 

Safer Streets 8 0 

Domestic Abuse Perpetrator (192) 0 

Operation Palisade (620) (257) 

Operation Narvik (440) (11) 

Other small grants & contributions (492) (468) 

Total (15,833) (19,403) 
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15. Capital Charges and Fair Value Charge to Chief Constable 
 

All assets (land, buildings, equipment etc.) are owned by the PCC. Therefore, the costs of ownership for 
these assets, such as depreciation, are initially charged to the PCC’s statement of accounts.  However, it is 
necessary to reflect the fact that the CC has had use of these assets during 2021/22.  Using the principle of 
‘substance over form’, a fair value proxy cost will be included in the CC’s CIES to reflect the utilisation of the 
PCC- owned fixed assets which mirrors depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortisation of 
intangible assets and impairment from obsolescence or physical damage. 
 
The following transactions have been made in the PCC’s cost of service relating to the movement in balance 
sheet value of the PCC’s property plant and equipment.  
 

  
  

2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Depreciation of PPE 15,647 16,381 

Amortisation of intangible assets 903 792 

Revenue expenditure funded by capital under statute 120 386 

Fair value recharge to CC to reflect their use of the assets to 
deliver the policing service 

(16,670) (17,560) 

Revaluation losses 4,146 397 

Total charges in respect of property, plant and equipment & 
intangible assets 

4,146 397 

 
Revaluation gains and losses remain with the PCC as they are not deemed to reflect cost of use but are 
more a reflection of the economic conditions, which should remain with the PCC. 
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16. PCC Funding of the Chief Constable  
 

Accounting Policy 

The PCC’s funding of CC’s expenditure takes the form of “Intragroup funding” and is shown as income 
in the CC’s CIES and expenditure in the PCC’s CIES. There is no actual transfer of cash involved in this 
transaction as all the resources belong to the PCC. The CC is, in effect, consuming the resources of the 
PCC but, for the purpose of reflecting the arrangement the transactions are reported as such. The 
accruals concept applies equally to the Intragroup Funding in that revenue is funded upon recognition 
on the understanding that the PCC has responsibility for working capital balances. 

 

Funding for PCC resources consumed at the request of the CC represents the funding of the in-year 
costs recognised in the CC CIES and is calculated as follows: 
 

  
  

2021/22 2022/23  

  £000 £000 

      

Provision of services deficit in CC CIES prior to PCC funding 524,303 577,789 

Adjustment for net IAS19 pensions charges included in cost of 
service but funded by CC pensions reserve 

(218,678) (254,188) 

Replace with actual employer contribution funded by PCC 103,857 104,353 

Adjustment for movement in accumulated absence accrual 
funded by CC accumulated absence reserve 

(838) 157 

PCC funding for PCC resources consumed at the request 
of the CC 

408,644 428,110 

Consisting of:     

Fair value adjustment for CC consumption of PCC property & 
equipment 

16,670 21,726 

Other resources 391,974 406,834 

Total PCC resources consumed at the request of the CC 408,644 428,110 
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17. Officers’ Remuneration 
 

Accounting Policy Short Term Employee Benefits 

Benefits payable during employment 
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They include 
such benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits 
(e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which 
employees render service to the Group. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any 
form of leave e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which 
employees can carry forward into the next financial year (referred to as accumulated absences). The 
accrual is made at the salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which 
the employee takes the benefit.  
 
Termination Benefits 
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable to police staff, including PCSOs, as a result of a decision by 
the PCC Group to terminate a staff member’s employment before the normal retirement date or a staff 
member’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to surplus or 
deficit on the provision of services in the CIES at the earlier of when the PCC Group can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the PCC Group recognises costs for a restructuring. 
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the Police 
General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Group to the Pension Fund or 
pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the 
movement in reserves statement, appropriations are required to and from the pensions reserve to remove 
the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with 
debits for cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at 
the year-end. 

 
The remuneration paid to the senior employees of the Office of the PCC and the PCC group as a 
whole is as follows: 
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Senior Officers and Relevant Police Officers 2022-23 
 

Post Holder Information  
(Post title only) Notes 

Salary 
(including 

allowances) 
£ 

Bonus  
£ 

Expenses 
Allowance

s 
£ 

Compensation 
for loss of 

employment       
£ 

Benefits 
in Kind  

£  

Total 
Remunerations 
exc Pensions 
Contributions  

£ 

Employers 
Pensions 

Contribution
s 
£ 

Total 
Remuneratio

n  
£ 

OFFICE OF THE PCC                   

Police and Crime Commissioner   88,442         88,442 12,647 101,089 

Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner   10,134         10,134 0 10,134 

Chief Executive   104,750         104,750 14,094 118,845 

Chief Finance Officer - s151 officer   78,536         78,536 11,231 89,767 

Head of Governance and Accountability   52,653         52,653 7,529 60,183 

Procurement and Commissioning Lead   10,552     65,263   75,815 1,250 77,065 

Head of Communications and Engagement   47,914         47,914 6,852 54,766 

LANCASHIRE CONSTABULARY          

Chief Constable - C Rowley   174,696         174,696 53,142 227,838 

                    

Deputy Chief Constable   141,612         141,612 43,900 185,512 

                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Crime A Note 1 113,068   10,898     123,966 34,401 158,367 

Assistant Chief Constable - Crime B Note 1 14,078   1,111     15,189 4,276 19,465 

                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Territorial Operations   112,815   10,689     123,504 28,786 152,290 

                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Specialist Operations   120,330         120,330 37,302 157,632 

                    

Chief Operating Officer   110,752   20,406   4,092  135,249 16,945 152,194 
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Chief Finance Officer - s151 Officer   72,674         72,674 11,119 83,793 

                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Regional Collaboration 
Lead Note 2 123,476   11,420    134,895 37,632 172,527 

                    

Senior National Co-ordinator Note 3 118,261   8,261     126,522 0 126,522 

 
Note 1 - Post covered by two officers during the year. A - 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023, with post holder retiring 7th April 2023. B - 13th February 2023 
to 31st March 2023, who has continued in post 

Note 2 - Costs of post are recharged across the six Regional North-West Forces (Merseyside, GMP, Cheshire, Cumbria, North Wales and Lancashire) 
Note 3 - Senior National coordinator is seconded to the Metropolitan Police Service. Remuneration costs are reimbursed by MPS. Transferred to another 
force on 31/12/2022 
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Senior Officers and Relevant Police Officers 2021-22 
 

Post Holder Information  
(Post title only) Notes 

Salary 
(including 

allowances) 
£ 

Bonus  
£ 

Expenses 
Allowances 

£ 

Compensation 
for loss of 

employment       
£ 

Benefits 
in Kind  

£  

Total 
Remunerations 
exc Pensions 
Contributions  

£ 

Employers 
Pensions 

Contributions 
£ 

Total 
Remuneration  

£ 

OFFICE OF THE PCC                   

Police and Crime Commissioner A Note 1 10,022       431 10,453 1,433 11,886 

Police and Crime Commissioner B   76,678         76,678 10,965 87,643 

Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner C   3,727         3,727 456 4,183 

Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner D Note 2 6,267         6,267 0 6,267 

Director of the Office of the PCC & Monitoring 
Officer   126,270         126,270 13,708 139,978 

Chief Finance Officer   74,238         74,238 10,616 84,854 

Deputy Director of the OPCC & Crime, Re-offending 
and Criminal Justice Lead    57,516     37,948   95,463 8,225 103,688 

Governance and Policing Lead   51,356         51,356 7,344 58,700 

Procurement and Commissioning Lead   51,356         51,356 7,344 58,700 

Victims and Vulnerable People Lead Note 3 39,108         39,108 5,508 44,616 

Head of Communications and Engagement Note 4 38,917         38,917 5,565 44,482 

 

OFFICE OF THE PCC 
Note 1 Post covered by two officers over the year. A - 1st April 2021 to 12th May 2021; B - 13th May 2021 to 31st March 2022       
Note 2 Post covered by two officers over the year. A - 1st April 2021 to 12th May 2021; B - 2nd August 2021 to 31st March 2022 
Note 3 Postholder left post at end of December 2021 and was not replaced 
Note 4 Postholder was on maternity leave for part of the financial year 
 

LANCASHIRE CONSTABULARY          

Chief Constable - C Rowley   165,070         165,070 50,158 215,228 

                    

Deputy Chief Constable A Note 5 68,440         68,440 18,148 86,588 

Deputy Chief Constable B   9,757         9,757 2,454 12,211 

Deputy Chief Constable C   71,812         71,812 22,262 94,074 
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Assistant Chief Constable - Specialist Operations 
D Note 6 45,331   413     45,744 10,628 56,372 

Assistant Chief Constable – Crime & Specialist 
Capabilities (Specialist Operations) E   68,079   774     68,853 20,403 89,256 

                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Territorial Operations 
F Note 7 52,804   620     53,424 14,221 67,645 

Assistant Chief Constable - Territorial Operations 
G   53,866   620     54,486 14,221 68,707 

                    

Assistant Chief Constable – People & Specialist 
Uniform Operations B Note 8 108,160         108,160 33,489 141,649 

Assistant Chief Constable - People & Specialist 
Uniform Operations H   9,053   103     9,156 2,370 11,526 

                    

Director of Resources  Note 9 128,322       3,437 131,759 17,358 149,117 

                    

Chief Operating Officer Note 10 9,114         9,114 1,394 10,508 

                    

Deputy Senior National Co-ordinator Note 11 125,480   10,500     135,980 0 135,980 
 

LANCASHIRE CONSTABULARY 
Note 5 - Post covered by three officers over the year. A - 1st April 2021 - 31st August 2021; B - 1st September - 25th September 2021 ; C- 29th September 2021 - 31st March 
2022 
Note 6 - Post covered by two officers on the year. D - 1st April 2021 - 15th August 2021; E - 16th August 2021 - 31st March 2022 
Note 7 - Post covered by two officers over the year. F - 1st April 2021 - 30th September 2021; G - 1st October 21 - 31st March 2022 
Note 8 - New post covered by two officers over the year. B - from 1st April 2021 - 31st August and 26th September 2021 - 31st March 2022; H -1st September 2021 - 30th 
September 2021.  
Note 9 - Post covered from 1st April 2021 - 13th March 2022 
Note 10 - New post covered from 28th February 2022 - 31st March 2022 
Note 11 - Deputy Senior National coordinator is seconded to the Metropolitan Police Service. Remuneration costs £135,980 for the period 1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022 
have been reimbursed by MPS.
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The CC employed an estimated 5900 full time equivalents during 2022/23 (5800 in 2021/22). In addition to 
the senior and relevant officers outlined in the note above, the following employees received remuneration of 
greater than £50,000 for the year (excluding employer's pension contributions): 
 

      2021/22 2022/23 

      
Police 
Officers 

Police 
Staff Total 

Police 
Officers 

Police 
Staff Total 

£125,000 - £129,999 0 0 0 1 0 1 

£120,000 - £124,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£115,000 - £119,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£110,000 - £114,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£105,000 - £109,999 1 0 1 0 0 0 

£100,000 - £104,999 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£95,000 - £99,999 0 0 0 2 0 2 

£90,000 - £94,999 5 1 6 7 0 7 

£85,000 - £89,999 10 0 10 6 2 8 

£80,000 - £84,999 3 1 4 5 0 5 

£75,000 - £79,999 4 3 7 9 1 10 

£70,000 - £74,999 11 1 12 7 3 10 

£65,000 - £69,999 12 3 15 16 2 18 

£60,000 - £64,999 70 0 70 83 3 86 

£55,000 - £59,999 180 8 188 213 12 225 

£50,000 - £54,999 315 11 326 403 15 418 

Total     611 28 639 752 38 790 

 
NB Remuneration includes gross pay, before the deduction of employees' pension contributions, together 
with benefits declared to HM Customs & Excise on the form P11D and redundancy payments paid in the 
year. It does not include employers' pension contributions.  Senior Officer posts that are included in the 
Officers Remuneration note have been excluded. 

 
The table above includes no police staff who appear only as a consequence of a one-off redundancy 
payment. The numbers and banding affected are shown below: 
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Exit packages 
 

The numbers of exit packages for the PCC Group, with total cost per band and total cost of the 
compulsory redundancy and other departures, are set out in the table below. It should be noted that the 
exit package costs shown in the table reflect the total cost to the organisation including, where 
appropriate, cost of pension enhancements: 
 

Bandings 
Number of 

Compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 

Total cost of 
exit 

packages in 
each band 

£0 - £20,000 2 8 £80,109 

£20,001 -   £40,000 1 1 £65,535 

£40,001 -   £60,000 1 0 £43,189 

£60,001 -   £80,000 1 0 £70,149 

£80,001 -   £100,000 0 0 £0 

£100,001 -   £150,000 0 0 £0 

£150,001 -   £200,000 0 0 £0 

Total  5 9 £258,982 

 
The table below is for exit packages included in the above note that relate to the Office of the PCC for 
2022/23. 
 

Bandings 
Number of 

Compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 

Total cost of 
exit 

packages in 
each band 

£0 - £20,000 0 1 £6,387 

£20,001 -   £40,000 0 0 £0 

£40,001 -   £60,000 0 0 £0 

£60,001 -   £80,000 0 0 £0 

£80,001 -   £100,000 0 0 £0 

£100,001 -   £150,000 0 0 £0 

£150,001 -   £200,000 0 0 £0 

Total  0 1 £6,387 

 
2021/22 Comparators: 
 
PCC Group: 

Bandings 
Number of 

Compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 

Total cost of 
exit packages 
in each band 

      £ 

£0 - £20,000 0 9 £49,395 

£20,001 -   £40,000 1 0 £27,150 

£40,001 -   £60,000 1 0 £44,783 

£60,001 -   £100,000 0 0 £0 

£100,001 -   £150,000 1 0 £139,269 

£150,001 -   £300,000 1 0 £235,562 

Total 4 9 £496,160 
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OPPC: 
 

Bandings 
Number of 

Compulsory 
Redundancies 

Number of 
Other 

Departures 

Total cost of 
exit packages 
in each band 

£0 - £20,000 0 2 £4,555 

£20,001 -   £40,000 0 0 £0 

£40,001 -   £60,000 0 0 £0 

£60,001 -   £100,000 0 0 £0 

£100,001 -   £150,000 1 0 £139,269 

£150,001 -   £300,000 1 0 £235,562 

Total  2 2 £379,386 
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Balance Sheet Notes 
 

18. Property, Plant and Equipment  
 

Accounting Policies 

Physical assets that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are 
classified as property, plant and equipment. 

Recognition 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in excess of 
£15,000 is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the PCC Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future 
economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it 
is incurred. 

Measurement 

For assets that are purchased they are initially recognised at cost. The cost comprises: 

• the purchase price; 

• any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
operational. 

Assets that are being constructed by the PCC Group will initially be recognised at cost. Only those costs 
that can be directly attributable to bringing the asset into operation will be capitalised. The PCC does 
not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction. 

Assets are then carried in the PCC and PCC Group balance sheets using the following measurement 
bases: 

• assets under construction – historical cost 

• all other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid for the asset in its 
existing use (existing use value – EUV). 

Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an asset, 
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value. 

Where non-property assets, principally furniture, equipment and vehicles that have short useful lives or 
low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for fair value. 

All assets held on a valuation basis, as determined by the code of practice, have been reviewed within 
a three-year period by RICS qualified surveyors at Aspin & Co to ensure that the carrying amounts are 
not materially different from fair value at the balance sheet date.  Increases in valuations are matched 
by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains unless the gain reverses a loss 
previously charged to a service. In this case the gain up to the amount of the loss will be credited to the 
CIES.  

Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for as follows: 
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• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the revaluation reserve, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains) 

• where there is no balance in the revaluation reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down against the relevant service line(s) in the CIES. 

The revaluation reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its 
formal implementation. The revaluation reserve was created with effect from 1 April 2007 with a zero 
opening balance. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the capital adjustment 
account. 

Impairment 

Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. No impairments were identified in 2022/23. 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is provided for on all property, plant and equipment assets by the systematic allocation of 
their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a determinable 
finite useful life (i.e. freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under 
construction). 

Depreciation is calculated on the following bases: 

•  buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property as estimated by the valuer 

• vehicles and IT equipment, - straight line basis over lives which are assessed individually by 
professional staff within the Constabulary. 

• furniture and equipment other than IT equipment is depreciated over 10 years, unless it is known 
that a different period is required. 

 
The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 
Property and property components: 
 

• Under 10 years 

• 10-14 years 

• 15-19 years 

• 20-29 years 

• 30-39 years 

• 40-49 years 

• 50 years and over 
 

Depreciation is based on the lower limit. Properties over 50 years are depreciated over a 50 year life, 
while properties under ten years are depreciated based on an assessment of their actual life. The lives 
of vehicles, IT assets and intangibles such as software licences are assessed individually by professional 
staff within the Constabulary. Furniture and equipment other than computer equipment is depreciated 
over 10 years, unless it is known that a different period is required. 
 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment asset has major components whose costs are significant 
in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. In considering whether 
there is a component the policy followed is: 
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• The land element will continue to be considered as a separate asset with its own valuation which, 
are not subject to depreciation; 

• The asset will be reviewed and any part of the asset which can be identified as a self-contained 
building will be subject to a separate valuation and asset life. This will ensure that any part of the 
overall asset which is not of the same construction quality has a specific use and/or economic life 
identified; 

• For any building with a value above £1m consideration will be given as to whether there is any 
significant part which requires a separate component. This will take into consideration whether 
there is any aspect of the construction, such as roof, windows, services or any specialist item which 
has a substantially different asset life. For the purpose of this exercise it is considered that an 
element that represents more than 25% of the valuation is considered significant; 

• Any equipment which is a fixture of the building will be included within the overall asset valuation. 
There will be a separate valuation if it is likely to exceed 25% of the property value. 
 

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Disposals and Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 

When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is reclassified as an asset held for sale. The asset is 
re-valued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value 
less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss is posted 
to the other operating expenditure line in the CIES. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount 
of any previous losses recognised in the surplus or deficit on the provision of services. Depreciation is not 
charged on assets held for sale.  

If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as assets held for sale, they are reclassified back to 
non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held for 
sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not 
been classified as held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell. 

Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as assets held for sale. 

When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the balance sheet 
(whether property, plant and equipment or assets held for sale) is written off to the other operating 
expenditure line in the CIES as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposal (if any) are 
credited to the same line in the CIES also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the 
carrying value of the asset at the time of the disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in 
the revaluation reserve are transferred to the capital adjustment account. 

Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. The balance of 
receipts is required to be credited to the capital receipts reserve and can then only be used for new capital 
investment or be set aside to reduce the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the capital financing 
requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the reserve from the Police General Fund balance in the 
movement in reserve statement. 

The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  Amounts are appropriated to the capital 
adjustment account from the General Fund balance in the movement in reserve statement.  

Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets  

The PCC and PCC Group CIES are charged with the following amounts to record the real cost of holding 
non-current assets during the year: 



POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE 2022/23 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 

63 
 

Commercial in Confidence 

• Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the service; 

• Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 
accumulated  

• Gains in the revaluation reserve against which the losses can be written off; 

• Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service. 
 

The PCC is not required to raise council tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses or 
amortisations. However, he is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction 
in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined in 
accordance with statutory guidance; this is known as the minimum revenue provision (MRP). Depreciation, 
impairment and revaluation losses and amortisations are therefore reversed to the capital adjustment 
account via the movement in reserves statement and replaced by the MRP. 

Movements in 2022/23 
 

  
Land and 
Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture & 
Equipment 

Assets 
under 

Construction 

Total 
Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation         

At 1 April 2022 203,699 44,298 2,192 250,188 

Adjustments   4,743   4,743 

Restated Opening Balance 203,699 49,041 2,192 254,931 

Additions 2,140 10,756 967 13,862 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in the 
surplus/deficit on the provision of services 

(425) 0 0 (425) 

Revaluation increase/(decrease) recognised in the 
revaluation reserve.  

7,614 0   7,614 

Reclassification 0   0 0 

De-recognition on disposals 0 (7,462)   (7,462) 

At 31 March 2023 213,027 52,336 3,158 268,521 
 

    

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment         

At 1 April 2022 (46) (18,999) 0 (19,045) 

Adjustments   (4,743)   (4,743) 

Restated Opening Balance (46) (23,742) 0 (23,788) 

Depreciation charge (9,341) (10,756)   (20,098) 

Depreciation written out to revaluation reserve 7,594 2   7,597 

Depreciation written out to the surplus/deficit on the 
provision of services 

28   28 

De-recognition on disposals 0 7,102   7,102 

At 31 March 2023 (1,765) (27,394) 0 (29,159) 
 

    

Net Book Value         

At 31 March 2023 211,262 24,942 3,158 239,363 

At 31 March 2022 (restated) 203,653 25,299 2,192 231,144 

At 31 March 2022 203,653 25,299 2,192 231,144 

 
Adjustments for Vehicles, Plant, Furniture & Equipment had no effect on the Net Book value of the 
assets. 
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Movements in 2021/22: 
 

  
Land and 
Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture & 
Equipment 

Assets under 
Construction 

Total Property, 
Plant and 

Equipment 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cost or Valuation         

At 1 April 2021 193,762 46,342 1,789 241,893 

Prior Period Adjustments (See Analysis 
Below) 

317     317 

Restated Opening Balance 194,079 46,342 1,789 242,209 

Additions 4,349 7,510 403 12,262 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) 
recognised in the surplus/deficit on the 
provision of services 

(4,146)     (4,146) 

Revaluation increase/(decrease) recognised 
in the revaluation reserve.  

9,510 367   9,877 

Reclassification to Investment Assets (5)     (5) 

De-recognition –disposals (260) (9,921)   (10,181) 

Correction of historic error, no effect to NBV 172     172 

At 31 March 2022 203,699 44,298 2,192 250,189 
 

    

Accumulated Depreciation & Impairment         

At 1 April 2021 (6,768) (18,966) 0 (25,734) 

Prior Period Adjustments (See Analysis 
Below) 

2,395     2,395 

Restated Opening Balance (4,373) (18,966) 0 (23,339) 

Depreciation charge (5,926) (9,720)   (15,647) 

Depreciation written out to revaluation 
reserve 

10,419     10,419 

Depreciation written out to the surplus/deficit 
on the provision of services 

0   0 

De-recognition on disposals 7 9,687   9,694 

Correction of historic error, no effect to NBV (172)     (172) 

At 31 March 2022 (46) (18,999) 0 (19,045) 
     

Net Book Value         

At 31 March 2022 203,653 25,299 2,192 231,144 

At 31 March 2021 (restated) 189,705 27,376 1,789 218,870 

At 31 March 2021  186,993 27,376 1,789 216,158 

 
Analysis of Prior Period Adjustments for Land and Buildings 

 

Cost £000 

Removal of REFCUS incorrectly charged  288 

Correction of duplicated gain on Investment Properties (3) 

Correction of losses on investment properties 25 

Correct historic difference on ledger 7 

Total 317 



POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE 2022/23 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 

65 
 

Commercial in Confidence 

 
  

Accumulated Depreciation £000 

Reverse PPE Depreciation charged in prior years (3,567) 

Reverse componentisation 2018/19 (150) 

Missing componentisation in previous years 1,322 

Total (2,395) 

 
Capital Commitments  
 
At 31 March 2023 the PCC Group has entered a number of capital contracts in respect of expenditure to be 
incurred in 2023/24 and future years, budgeted to cost £3.3m. Similar commitments at 31 March 2022 were 
£5.5m. 

 
Effects of Changes in Estimates 
 
In 2022/23 the PCC made no material changes to its accounting estimates for property, plant and equipment. 
 
Revaluations  

 
The PCC Group carries out a rolling three-year programme that ensures that all property, plant and equipment 
required to be measured at current value is re-valued sufficiently regularly to ensure that the carrying amount 
is not materially different from current value at the balance sheet date. Revaluations in 2022/23 were carried 
out by RICS qualified surveyors from Aspin and Company Ltd. Valuations of land and buildings were carried 
out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Where non-property assets, principally furniture, equipment and 
vehicles that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a 
proxy for current value and these are not therefore subject to revaluation. 

 
The following table shows the progress of the PCC Group’s rolling programme for the revaluations of property 
plant and equipment. 
 

  
Land & 

Buildings 

Vehicles, 
Plant, 

Furniture & 
Equipment 

Assets under 
Construction 

Total 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

Carried at historical cost  0 52,336 3,158 55,494 

Valued at current value 
at: 

    

31-Mar-23 165,422 0 0 165,422 

31-Mar-22 47,584  0 0 47,584  

31-Mar-21 1  0 0 1  

31-Mar-19 21 0 0 21 

          

Total Cost or valuation 
as at 31st March 2023 

213,027 52,336  3,158  268,521 
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19. Capital Expenditure and Financing  
 

Accounting Policy - Government Grants and Contributions 

Where capital grants are credited to the CIES, they are reversed out of the General Fund balance in the 
movement in reserves statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it 
is posted to the capital grants unapplied reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the capital 
adjustment account. Amounts in the capital grants unapplied reserve are transferred to the capital 
adjustment account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below together with the 
resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years 
by charges to revenue as assets are used by the PCC Group, the expenditure results in an increase in 
the capital financing requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
PCC Group that has yet to be financed. The CFR is analysed in the second part of this note. 

 

  2021/22 2022/23 
  £000 £000 
      

Opening Capital Financing Requirement 68,437 72,227 
      
Capital Investment     
Property, plant and equipment 12,262 13,862 
Investment Property 641 0 
Intangible assets  1,981 279 
Revenue expenditure funded by capital under statute 120 386 
      
Sources of finance      
Capital receipts 0 0 
Government grants & other contributions (545) (670) 
Direct revenue contributions (9,240) (10,554) 

Minimum Revenue Provision (1,429) (1,535) 

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 72,227 73,995 

      
Explanation of movements in year     

Increase/(reduction) in underlying need to borrow 3,790 1,768 

Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 3,790 1,768 

      

 
20. Debtors  

 

PCC 
 

PCC Group 
31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23  31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

£000 £000  £000 £000 
    Debtors comprise:    

9,374 13,311 Trade debtors 9,374 13,311 
7,911 8,753 Share of council tax debtors 7,911 8,753 
1,232 2,649 Tax & Social Security 1,232 2,649 

13,789 11,216 Police Pension Grant 13,789 11,216 
27 31 Other debtors 27 31 

765 0 Intragroup debtor  0 0  

33,098 35,959 TOTAL 32,333 35,959 

 
Debtors are reported net of impairment allowance. Billing authorities have confirmed that all overdue 
council tax debt is considered for impairment. 
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It has been determined that Trade Debtors meet the definition a Financial Asset and the total of £13.311m 
(£9.374m in 2021/22) has been included in Note 27 on Page 71. 
 

21. Creditors 
 

PCC   PCC Group 

31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23  31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

£000 £000  £000 £000 

    Creditors comprise:    

14,113 16,602 Trade creditors 14,114 16,602 

7,448 8,766 Share of council tax creditors 7,448 8,766 

140 214 Tax & social security 5,199 5,298 

(18) 223 Other Entities and Individuals 11,520 11,358 

3,035 4,027 Monies held on account 3,035 4,027 

0 7,426 Intragroup Creditor  0  0 

24,720 37,258 TOTAL 41,317 46,050 

 
Included in the Monies held on account figure is an amount of £3.736m (£2.789m at 31st March 2022) 
representing Seized Funds held awaiting conclusion on investigations which determine the outcome for 
the seized funds. 
 
It has been determined that the Trade Creditors and Monies held on account meet the definition of 
Financial Liability and the total of £20.629m (£17.149m as 31st March 2022) is shown in the Financial 
Liabilities table within Note 27 on Page 70. 
 

22. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Accounting Policy 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in three 
months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
with insignificant risk of change in value.  
 
In the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. 
 
The balance of cash and cash equivalents is made up of the following elements: 
 

  31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 
  £000 £000 
Cash held  195 106 
Bank current accounts 9 3 
Short-term deposits under 
three months 

16,627 43,767 

TOTAL 16,831 43,876 

 
Included in the Cash & Cash Equivalents Balance for 22/23 is £3.736m (for 21/22 this was £2.789 m) 
related to Seized Cash held awaiting conclusion on investigations which will determine the outcome for 
the seized funds.  
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23. Cash Flow Statement -Adjustments to Net Deficit on the provision of services for non-cash 
movement 
 

PCC   PCC GROUP 

2021/22 2022/23 
 

2021/22 2022/23 

£000 £000  £000 £000 

(19,913) (20,495) 
Depreciation, REFCUS, impairments and 
downward valuations 

(19,913) (20,495) 

(903) (792) Amortisation (903) (792) 

(2,613) (13,571) Net (increase)/decrease in revenue creditors (4,156) (5,767) 

(1,653) 11,066 Net increase/(decrease) in revenue debtors (949) 11,831 

(7) 150 Increase/(decrease) in inventories (7) 150 

(348) (212) Pension liability (115,169) (158,461) 

(486) 485 Contributions from provisions (486) 485 

(487) (359) Carrying amount of non-current assets sold  (487) (359) 

0 0 Movement in value of assets held for sale 0 0 

490 196 Movement in value of investment property 490 196 

(25,920) (23,534) Total  (141,579) (173,212) 

 
24. Cash Flow Statement – Adjustments for items included in the net deficit on the provision of 

services that are investing and financing activities 
 

PCC/PCC GROUP 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Capital grants and contributions credited to 
(surplus)/deficit on provisions of services 

545 912 

Proceeds from sale of PPE 262 3 

Total  807 916 

 
25. Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities 
 

  PCC/PCC GROUP 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assets 

15,581 15,047 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, 
investments property and intangible assets 

(262) (3) 

Purchase of short-term investments 0 10,000 

Proceeds from disposal of short-term investments (5,350) (10,000) 

Other receipts from investing activities (545) (912) 

Net cash outflows/(inflows) from investing activities  9,424 14,132 
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26. Cash Flow Statement – Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
 

  PCC/PCC GROUP 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Cash repayment of short- and long-term borrowing 71,068 25,922 

Cash receipt of long- and short-term borrowing (58,000) (48,000) 

Total cash outflows from financing activities 13,068 (22,078) 

 
27. Financial Instruments  
 

Accounting Policy 
 
Financial Instruments – Classifications 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability 
in another entity. Non-exchange transactions, such as those relating to taxes and government grants do 
not give rise to a financial instrument. 

Financial Liabilities  

A financial liability is an obligation to transfer economic benefits controlled by the PCC and can be 
represented by a contractual obligation to deliver cash or financial assets or an obligation to exchange 
financial assets and liabilities with another entity that is potentially unfavourable to the PCC. 

All the PCCs financial liabilities held during the year are measured at amortised cost and comprised: 

• long term loans from the Public Works Loans Board; 

• short term loans from other local authorities; 

• trade payables for goods and services received. 

Financial Assets  

A financial asset is a right to future economic benefits controlled by the PCC that is represented by cash, 
equity instruments or a contractual right to receive cash or other financial assets or a right to exchange 
financial assets and liabilities with another entity that is potentially favourable to the PCC.  

Financial assets should be classified and measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised 
in the profit and loss as they arise (FVPL), unless specific criteria are met for classifying and measuring 
the asset at either amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

All the financial assets held by the PCC during the year are all held under the classification of amortised 
cost (where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest and the PCCs business model is to 
collect those cash flows) comprising: 

• cash in hand; 

• bank current account held with Nat West Bank; 

• surplus cash balances held on call with Lancashire County Council; 

• trade receivables for goods and services provided. 

Expected Credit Loss Model  

The PCC recognises expected credit losses on its financial assets held at amortised cost (subject to 
materiality) either on a 12-month or lifetime basis.   
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Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place 
because the borrower could default on their obligations.  Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing 
losses.  Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are 
assessed on a lifetime basis.  Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are 
assessed based on 12-month expected losses.  

Lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) held by the PCC, where material. 

The Code confirms that local authorities must not recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses 
on a financial asset where the counterparty for a financial asset is central government or a local authority 
for which relevant statutory provisions prevent default. As surplus cash balances are swept from the 
bank current account daily into a call account with the County Council no loss allowance is recognised 
for this financial asset. 

Fair Values 

All Financial instruments are carried in the balance sheet at amortised cost as the PCC’s business model 
is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Their fair values have been estimated by 
calculating the net present value of the remaining contractual cash flows at 31 March 2023, using the 
following methods and assumptions: 

• Loans borrowed by the PCC have been valued by discounting the contractual cash flows over 

the whole life of the instrument at the appropriate market rate for local authority loans; 

• The fair values of long-term loans have been discounted at the market rates for similar 

instruments with similar remaining terms to maturity on 31 March 2023; 

• The fair value of short-term instruments, including trade payables and receivables, is assumed 

to approximate to the carrying amount given the low and stable interest rate environment. 

Fair values are shown in the table below, split by their level in the fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1 Derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, e.g. bond 
prices 

Level 2 Calculated from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 
liability, e.g. interest rates or yields for similar instruments 

Level 3 Determined using unobservable inputs, e.g. non-market data such as cash flow forecasts 
or estimated creditworthiness 

 

 PCC/PCC GROUP 
Fair 

Value 
Level 

Balance Sheet  Fair Value Balance Sheet  Fair Value    

31-Mar-22 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-23 

   £000 £000 £000 £000 
Financial liabilities held at 
amortised cost: 

       

         
Long term loans from PWLB 2 41,417 40,428 43,538 34,146 
Other Long Term Borrowing  2 5,000 4,800 15,000 14,141 
TOTAL  46,417 45,228 58,538 48,287 
Liabilities for which fair value is not 
disclosed* 

 42,257  55,694   

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  88,673  114,231   
    55   

  

Recorded on the balance sheet as:        
Long term borrowing  45,602  57,384   
Short-term borrowing  25,922  36,218   
Short-term creditors  17,149  20,629   
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES   88,674   114,231   



POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE 2022/23 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 

71 
 

Commercial in Confidence 

 
*The fair value of short-term financial liabilities held at amortised cost, including trade payables, is 
assumed to approximate to the carrying amount. 
 
The fair value of financial liabilities held at amortised cost is lower than their balance sheet carrying 
amount because the PCC’s portfolio of loans includes a number of loans where the interest is lower than 
the current rates available for similar loans as at the Balance Sheet date. 
 

 PCC/PCC GROUP Balance Sheet           
31 March 22 

Balance Sheet           
31 March 23 Financial assets held at amortised cost: 

  £000 £000 

Assets for which fair value is not disclosed* 26,205 57,186  

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 26,205 57,186  

     

Recorded on the balance sheet as:    

     

Short-term Deposits 0 0  

Cash and cash equivalents 16,831 43,876  

Short-term debtors 9,374 13,311  

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 26,205 57,186  

 
*The fair value of short-term financial assets held at amortised cost, including trade receivable and 
surplus cash balances invested “on-call” with Lancashire County Council as well as the short-term 
deposit, are assumed to approximate to the carrying amount. 
Income, Expense, Gains and Losses   

Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments   

The gains and losses during 2022/23 on financial instruments, i.e. the borrowings and investments 
detailed above, which have been recognised in the deficit on the provision of services in the CIES, are 
as shown in the following table. 
 

 PCC/PCC GROUP 2021/22 2022/23 
  £000 £000 

     

Interest expense 1,273 1,701 

Total Interest payable 1,273 1,701 

     

Interest income 71 1,486 

Total interest 
receivable 

71 1,486 

 
Exposure to Risk in Financial Instruments  

There is some risk attached to our holdings of and transactions in financial instruments. The following 
sections show how we quantify, where possible, and control our exposure to the three main elements of 
financial risk. These are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. 
 
Credit Risk - Trade Receivables 

Counterparty credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to meet its obligations and repay 
monies owed to the PCC. The risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as 
credit exposures to the organisation’s customers. 
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Regarding financial institutions, the risk is minimised through the annual investment strategy, which 
requires that deposits are not made with an institution unless it meets identified minimum credit criteria, 
as laid down by the three main credit rating agencies. The strategy also imposes a maximum sum and 
duration with which the PCC can be invested in an institution depending upon the quality of credit rating.  
 
During the 2022/23 financial year the PCC’s balances were invested with Lancashire County Council so 
that the investment portfolio maintained a very high AA- credit rating.  
 
The following analysis summarises the PCCs trade receivables by due date. Only those receivables 
meeting the definition of financial assets are included. 
 

 PCC/PCC GROUP 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

  £000 £000 

Neither past due nor impaired 8,936 12,263 

Past due < 3 months 128 705 

Past due 3 – 6 months 36 127 

Past due 6 – 12 months 85 61 

Past due 12+ months 114 80 

Individually impaired 74 74 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 9,374 13,311 

 
Receivables are considered to be in credit risk where they are 60 days or more past due and they are 
determined to be credit impaired where they are 90 days or more past due. They are collectively 
assessed for credit risk and the requirement for an impairment loss allowance has been assessed by 
reference to the PCC’s historic experience of ultimate default across the following categories: 
 

• Public Sector – debt has been excluded from this assessment as there are statutory provisions in 

place to prevent default; 

• Football – whilst, a three year average of £16k has been identified as being credit impaired, the 

amount of debt ultimately written off over that period is nil hence no impairment allowance is 

considered necessary; 

• Individual legal, court costs awarded – the value of debt in default, excluding the cases where 

successful instalments are being collected, amounts to £59k at 31 March 2023 (£50k at 31 March 

2022). Provision has been made to 100% of this debt.  

• Private Sector and Individual debt – the expected requirement for loss allowance has been assessed 

at £34k. Provision has been made to 100% of this debt. 

Liquidity Risk  
 

Liquidity risk is the danger that, at any time, we will have insufficient funds in our bank account to make 
the payments necessary to meet our financial obligations. We must manage our financial liabilities and 
assets in such a way as to mitigate this risk. 
 
In managing our financial liabilities, we seek to achieve a maturity pattern of our borrowings which will 
ensure that there are no heavy concentrations of maturities in any one year. In fact, the risk is more of a 
price risk than a liquidity risk as we can always secure replacement loans from the PWLB or other market 
sources but would not want to replace too large a proportion of our loans at a time of high interest rates. 
 
The maturity profile of our debt is shown in the table below. This illustrates the spread of maturities into 
the future and how we have avoided the need for too much debt to be replaced in any one year. 
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 PCC/PCC GROUP 2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Under 1 year 25,922 36,218  

Total short-term borrowing 25,922 36,218  

      

Maturing in 1 to 2 years 1,240 11,497  

Maturing in over 2 but less than 5 years 8,925 7,525  

Maturing in over 5 but less than 10 years 10,375 15,375  

Maturing in more than 10 years 25,063 22,988  

Total long-term borrowing 45,602 57,384  

      

Total borrowing 71,525 93,602  

 
With our financial assets a significant proportion are recallable at any time. The PCC’s CFO meets on a 
regular basis with the County Council’s treasury management team to discuss cash flow and the 
appropriate level of balances to keep on call. 
 
The maturity analysis of financial instruments is as follows: 
 

PCC/PCC GROUP  
31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

Liabilities Assets Net Liabilities Assets Net 

 Time to maturity (years) £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

           

Not over one 43,072 (26,205) 16,867 36,218 (57,078) (20,859) 

Over one but not over two 1,240 0 1,240 11,497   11,497 

Over two but not over five 8,925 0 8,925 7,525   7,525 

Over five but not over 10 10,375 0 10,375 15,375   15,375 

Over 10 but not over 20 13,563 0 13,563 11,488   11,488 

Over 20 but not over 40 11,500 0 11,500 11,500   11,500 

TOTAL 88,674 (26,205) 62,469 93,602 (57,078) 36,525 

 
Market Risk –Interest Rate Risk 

 

The PCC is exposed to risk in term of their exposure to interest rate movements on their borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the authority. For instance, a rise in 
interest rates would have the following impact: 
 

• Borrowings at variable rates –the interest expense will rise; 

• Borrowings at fixed rates-the fair value of liabilities will fall; 

• Investments at variable rates – the interest income will rise; 

• Investments at fixed rate – the fair value of the assets will fall. 

Investments are measured at amortised cost and borrowings not carried at fair value, so changes in the 
fair value will have no impact on the CIES. However, changes in interest payable or receivable on 
variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services. 
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The Treasury Management Strategy aims to mitigate these risks by setting upper limits on the PCC’s net 
exposures to fixed and variable interest rates. At 31 March 2023, £59.7m (£46.4m in 2022) of net principal 
borrowed (i.e. borrowing net of investments) was exposed to fixed rates and £8.77m (£8.37m in 2022) net 
investments was exposed to variable rate risk. 

 
If all interest rates had been 1% higher (with all other variables held constant) the financial effect would 
be: 

  
 

*No impact on CIES 

 
The approximate impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with movements being 
reversed. 

 
28. Defined Benefit Post-Employment Benefits  
 

Accounting Policies 
 
Police officers and police staff currently belong to one of four separate pension schemes:  

 

• 1987 Police Pension Scheme for Police Officers; 

• 2006 Police Pension Scheme for Police Officers; 

• 2015 Police Pension Scheme for Police Officers; 

• Local Government Pensions Scheme for Police Staff  
 

There are unfunded arrangements for uniformed police officers. They are defined benefit pension 
arrangements which are governed by statute. 
 
The Lancashire County Pension Fund, which is part of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), 
applies to Police Staff and is administered by Lancashire County Council. The LGPS is a contributory 
defined benefit pension arrangement for local authorities and related employers and is governed by 
statute (principally now the Public Service Pensions Act 2013).  Teachers, police officers and firefighters 
are not included within the scheme as they come within other national pension schemes. 
 
The Fund is administered in accordance with the following secondary legislation: 
 

• the Local Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) Regulations 2018  

• the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 (as amended) 

• the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016. 

 
The Lancashire County Pension Fund is a multi-employer arrangement, under which each employer is 
responsible for the pension costs, liabilities and funding risks relating to its own employees and former 
employees.  Each employer’s contributions to the Fund are calculated in accordance with the LGPS 
Regulations, which require an actuarial valuation to be carried out every three/four years. 
 
A full actuarial valuation took place in March 2022. 
 

  PCC/PCC GROUP 31-Mar-23 
  £000 

Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments (543)  

Impact on (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services (543) 

   

Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowing* (3,092) 
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The investments of the Fund are managed by external investment managers, including the Local 
Pensions Partnership (LPP), a joint venture owned, in equal shares, by Lancashire County Council and 
the London Pension Fund Authority (LPFA).  LPP manages the administration and investment functions 
on behalf of the two partner authorities. 
 
All the schemes provide index linked defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), 
which are earned as employees work for the PCC Group and determined by the individuals pensionable 
pay and pensionable service.  Details of how the schemes operate can be found on the Local Pensions 
Partnership website at the link below: 
 

www.lppapensions.co.uk 
 
The Local Government Scheme and the police pension schemes are accounted for as defined benefits 
schemes, as follows:   
 
Local Government Scheme: 

 
Police staff, PCSOs and staff of the Office of the PCC are members of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme, a funded defined benefit scheme, which is managed by Lancashire County Council. The PCC 
Group paid an employer’s contribution of 15.3% (16.3% reduced to 15.3% to offset surplus funds) for 
employees of the Chief Constable and 14.3% (16.8% reduced to 14.3% to offset surplus funds) for 
employees of their Office during 2022/23. The Chief Constable contribution for three years (including 
FY20/21, FY21/22 and FY 22/23) was made upfront at a cost of £25m. The upfront payments resulted 
in interest savings of £1.691m. 
 
The liabilities of the Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the PCC Group are included in 
the balance sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method i.e. an assessment of 
the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, 
based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates and projected earnings for 
current employees. 
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using discount rates which vary according to 
the duration of the employer's liability, with an average of 4.8% for the staff employed by the PCC and 
the CC (2.8% in 2021/22), based on the weighted average of “spot yields” on AA rated corporate 
bonds. 
 
The assets of the Local Government Pension Fund attributable to the PCC Group are included in the 
balance sheet at their fair value. The valuation at fair value has been classified into three levels 
according to quality and reliability of information used to determine fair values and in line with the fair 
value hierarchy. Further detail as to how it was determined which assets were included in each level  
can be found later in this note on Page 89. 
 
Police Officers: 

 
From April 2015 the 2015 Police Pension Scheme replaced the 1987 and 2006 Police Pension Schemes. 
Apart from some officers closest to retirement, who are covered by full or tapered transitional provisions, 
all police officers have moved to the new scheme. The 2015 Police Pension Scheme is a Career Average 
Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme and replaces final salary schemes. It is governed by the Police 
Pensions Regulations 2015 and related regulations in the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. 
 
As transitional provision is in place, some members will remain in the 1987 and 2006 Police Pension 
Scheme and, more significantly, the benefits members have accrued will be retained and hence the 
liabilities reported in the balance sheet will remain with the PCC group.  
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All the police officer schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), 
which are earned as employees work for the PCC Group. The employers’ contribution for each serving 
officer is common to both schemes (31% of pensionable pay from 1 April 2019). This is set nationally 
and is subject to review. A police pension account was set up on 1 April 2006 which administers all the 
police pension schemes. 
 
Accrued net pension liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis in accordance with IAS19. The 
net liability and a pensions reserve incorporating both pension schemes have been recognised in the 
PCC and PCC Group balance sheets, as have entries in the PCC and PCC Group CIES for movements 
in the asset/liability relating to the defined benefit schemes. Transfers into and out of the schemes, 
representing joining and leaving police officers are recorded on a cash basis in the police pension 
account as a result of the time taken to finalise the sums involved. In accordance with the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the police pension account is administered by the CC for Lancashire 
Constabulary and is included in both the CC and PCC Group statements of accounts. 

 
The liabilities of all of the schemes attributable to the PCC Group are included in the balance sheet on 
an actuarial basis using the projected unit method i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about 
mortality rates, employee turnover rates and projections of earnings for current employees. 
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 4.8% (2.8% in 2021/22), 
based on the weighted average of “spot yields” on AA rated corporate bonds. 
 
Injury Awards: 
 
Injury awards are paid to police officers under the Police (Injury Benefits) Regulations 2006 and 
entitlement is dependent on the salary, service and also degree of disablement of the member at the 
time the injury is incurred. Accordingly, the actuaries have calculated the defined benefit obligation as at 
31 March 2023 including allowances for the following:  
 

• the actuarial value of the injury pensions that are currently in payment;  

• advance provision for the part of the injury pensions that are accrued up to 31 March 2023 and 
are not yet in payment, for members still in service, in the same way that provision is made for 
accrued pensions for members still in service for the 1987, 2006 and 2015 schemes. 
 

In addition, an ongoing "service cost" is also calculated which represents the cost of one year's accrual 
of injury benefits in relation to members in service. Therefore, in line with the 2022/23 CIPFA Code of 
Practice Guidance Notes (Module 6, Para. B72) the assumption that such awards are "not usually subject 
to the same degree of uncertainty as the measurement of post-employment benefits" has been rebutted 
and injury awards are therefore accounted for, under IAS 19, in the same manner as the main police 
pension schemes. Liabilities are included on the PCC Group balance sheet within the pensions' liabilities 
and shown separately in the notes to the accounts. 
 

The change in the net pension liability must be analysed into the following components:  

Service cost, comprising: 

- current service cost: represents the future service cost to the employer of one year's accrual of 
pension benefits for active members, calculated on the actuarial assumptions used at the start of 
the year for IAS19 purposes. The interest on the service cost is included within the service cost -
allocated in the CIES across activity areas; 

- past service and curtailments costs: these are normally the result of increased benefits being 
awarded in the event of members retiring early during the year. Changes in scheme benefits and 
any augmentation of benefits for active members would also give rise to past service costs – debited 
to the surplus or deficit on the provision of services in the CIES as part of non-distributed costs; 
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- administrative expenses: these are the costs of running the fund, attributable to the employer, and 
does not include any investment management expenses which are allowed for under "Re-
measurements". These costs are debited to the surplus or deficit on the provision of services in the 
CIES; 

- net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset): net interest expense for the PCC Group 
– the change during the period in the net defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the passage 
of time, charged to the financing and investment income and expenditure line of the CIES, This is 
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 
beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the period – 
taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a 
result of contribution and benefit payments. 

Re-measurements, the components of which pass through the Other Comprehensive income and 
expenditure section of the CIES and are made up as follows:  

- Re-measurements (assets) –these are set out in IAS19 as being the return on assets net of interest 
on assets, so this reflects the extent to which the investment returns achieved are different from the 
interest rate used at the start of the year. However, for multi-employer schemes such as LGPS, 
which do not have asset values which are formally segregated between employers, additional 
adjustments can arise in the year in which a new set of actuarial valuation results is brought into 
account for IAS19 purposes. In particular, the approach to calculating the IAS19 assets and liabilities 
in between full actuarial valuations is approximate in nature. At each valuation, the position is 
reassessed, with the assets (and liabilities) attributable to each employer being fully recalculated. 
Following each full actuarial valuation, it can therefore be necessary to put through some 
adjustments to reflect this recalculation. The adjustment is not explicitly catered for under IAS19 and 
it has been presented as part of the re-measurement on assets and referred to as "experience 
gain/loss on assets"; These have been adjusted in 2022-23 for the impact of the asset ceiling 
calculations. 

Re-measurements (liabilities) –these are subdivided into: 

Gain/loss on financial assumptions and gain/loss on demographic assumptions –under the 
accounting standards the assumptions will normally differ between the start and end of the 
employer's financial year. Changes in actuarial assumptions show the effect of this difference, 
calculated at the end of the financial year; 

Experience gains/losses on liabilities –as mentioned earlier, the approach to calculating the IAS19 
figures in between full actuarial valuations is approximate in nature. At each triennial valuation, the 
position is reassessed, with the assets and liabilities attributable to each employer fully recalculated. 
The adjustment to the liabilities which arises from this recalculation is known as an "experience 
gain/loss on liabilities". Experience gain/loss on liabilities is normally zero in between full actuarial 
valuations.  

Contributions paid to the pension fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the pension fund in 
settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.  In the case of the police pension scheme, this 
includes any contribution made by the PCC to meet the deficit on the pension fund. 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the Police General Fund balance to be 
charged with the amount payable by the PCC/PCC Group to the pension funds or directly to pensioners 
in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the movement 
in reserves statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to 
remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash 
paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable to the fund but unpaid at the 
year-end. The negative balance that arises on the PCC/PCC Group Pensions Reserve thereby measures 
the beneficial impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits based on 
cash flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees. 
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Governance and Risk Management: 
 
The liability associated with the employer’s pension arrangements is material to the employer, as is the 
cash funding required. The details in relation to each arrangement, including the relevant provisions for 
governance and risk management, are set out below. 
 
Lancashire County Pension Fund 
 
Governance: 
Management of the Fund is vested in Lancashire County Council as administering authority of the 
Fund.  Lancashire County Council has appointed a Pension Fund Committee (comprised of a mixture 
of County Councillors and representatives from other employers) to manage the Fund.  The Committee 
is assisted by an investment panel which advises the Committee on its investment strategy and risk 
management provisions.  
 
Funding the liabilities: 
Regulations governing the Fund require actuarial valuations to be carried out every three years.  
Contributions for each employer are set having regard to their individual circumstances.  The 
Regulations require the contributions to be set with a view to targeting the Fund’s solvency, and the 
detailed provisions are set out in the Fund’s Funding strategy statement.  The most recent valuation 
was carried out as at 31 March 2022, which showed that the Fund’s liabilities were covered by the 
fund’s assets, equivalent of a funding level of 100%. The fund’s employers are paying additional 
contributions over a period of between 13 and 16 years in order to meet any shortfall.  
 
The weighted average duration of the PCC Group’s defined benefit obligation is 22 years for staff 
employed by the CC and 18 years for staff employed by the PCC, measured on the actuarial 
assumptions used for IAS19 purposes. 
  
Risks and Investment strategy: 
The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that the Fund’s assets will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised 
benefits payable to members). The aim of investment risk management is to balance the minimisation 
of the risk of an overall reduction in the value of the Fund with maximising the opportunity for gains 
across the whole Fund portfolio. The Fund achieves this through asset diversification to reduce 
exposure to market risk (price risk, currency risk and interest rate risk) and keep credit risk to an 
acceptable level. In addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to 
meet the Fund’s forecast cash flow. 
 
Market Risk: 
Market risk is the risk of loss from fluctuations in equity and commodity prices, interest and foreign 
exchange rates and credit spreads. To mitigate market risk, the Fund and its investment advisors 
undertake appropriate monitoring of market conditions and benchmarking analysis. 

 
Other Price Risk: 
Other price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk). The 
Fund’s investment managers mitigate this price risk through diversification. The selection of securities 
and other financial instruments is monitored by the Fund to ensure it is within limits specified in the 
fund investment strategy. 
 
Interest Rate Risk: 
The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on investments. 
These investments are subject to interest rate risks, which represent the risks that the fair value of 
future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The 
Fund’s interest rate risk is routinely monitored by the Investment Panel and its investment advisors. 
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Currency risk: 
Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund’s currency rate risk is routinely monitored by 
the Fund and its investment advisors in accordance with the Fund’s risk management strategy. 
 
Credit risk: 
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to 
discharge an obligation and cause the Fund to incur financial loss. Credit risk is minimised by ensuring 
that counterparties meet the Fund’s credit criteria. The Fund has also set limits as to the maximum 
percentage of the deposits placed with any class of financial institution. 
 
Liquidity risks: 
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Fund therefore takes steps to ensure that there are adequate cash resources to meet its 
commitments, and the Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings. 
 
Other risks: 
Actions taken by the government, or changes to European legislation, could result in stronger local 
funding standards, which could materially affect the employer’s cash flow.  
 
There is a risk that changes in the assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price inflation, discount rate) 
could increase the defined benefit obligation and/or the liabilities for actuarial valuation purposes. Other 
assumptions used to value the defined benefit obligation are also uncertain, although their effect is less 
material.  The sensitivity analysis included in the notes below indicates the change in the defined 
benefit obligation for changes in the key assumptions. 
 
Amendments, curtailments and settlements: 
The provisions of the Fund were amended with effect from 1 April 2014.  For service up to 31 March 
2014 benefits were based on salaries when members leave the scheme, whereas for service after that 
date benefits are based on career average salary.  Further details of the changes are available from 
the Fund’s administering authority. 
 
Curtailments shown in the accounting figures relate to the cost of providing retirement benefits for 
members who retire early, to the extent that provision has not already been made for the relevant 
defined benefit obligations. 
 
Settlements shown in the accounting figures relate to the admission of new employers into the Fund, 
and who take on part of the employer’s assets and liabilities as a result of employing members who 
have accrued benefits with the employer. 
 
Police Pensions Schemes 
 
Governance: 
These arrangements are managed by the employer, although this essentially involves administering 
the plan, including managing its cash flows. The requirement to set up Police Pension boards has 
resulted in the setting up of a North West region Police Pension board which is administered by the 
Constabulary. The Board comprises employer representatives as well as representatives of the 
individual scheme managers and carries out a variety of activities to assess governance arrangements. 
 
Funding the liabilities: 
Given that the arrangements are unfunded, the contributions payable are simply those which are 
sufficient to meet the benefit outgo as and when it arises.  As mentioned above, this benefit outgo is 
largely underwritten by central government.  The weighted average duration of the liabilities is 20 years 
in respect of the 1987 scheme, 31 years in respect of the 2006 scheme and 41 years in respect of the 
2015 scheme (injury awards have a duration of 24 years), measured on the actuarial assumptions 
used for IAS19 purposes. The PCC Group anticipates paying £95.3m contributions to the Police 
Schemes in 2023/24. 
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Investment Risks: 
There are no investment risks in relation to these arrangements, given their unfunded nature.  The 
greatest single risk is that the government could change the arrangements for meeting part of the 
benefit outgo, which could increase the employer’s contributions to them.  
 
Other risks: 
There is a risk that changes in the assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price inflation, discount rate) 
could increase the defined benefit obligation. Other assumptions used to value the defined benefit 
obligation are also uncertain, although their effect is less material.  The sensitivity analysis above 
indicates the change in the defined benefit obligation for changes in the key assumptions. 
 
McCloud / Sargeant judgement  
 
Background 
 
Claims of age discrimination were brought in relation to the terms of transitional protection by groups of  
firefighters and members of the Judiciary in the McCloud/Sargeant legal case (referred herein as 
“McCloud”) and the Court of Appeal handed down its judgment on this claim on 20 December 2018, 
ruling that the transitional protection arrangements were discriminatory on the basis of age. As a result, 
the cost control element of the 2016 valuation was paused whilst the Government addressed the need 
to remedy this discrimination across all public service pension schemes. The cost cap mechanism for 
the 2016 valuation has since been un-paused and the calculations complete, with the outcome being no 
changes to benefits or contributions. 
 
The impact of McCloud has been factored into IAS19 liability estimate since 2018/19.  
 
The introduction of the act has confirms that the remedy methodology to be on a deferred choice basis 
to members (as opposed to an immediate choice).  
 
As a result, there is no underlying change in method/approach to the IAS19 liability estimate. The IAS 
19 liability estimate will therefore roll-forward the McCloud impact with a further 1 year of benefits 
recognised. 
 
Legal Claims 
 
Claimants have lodged claims for compensation under two active sets of litigation, Aarons and 
Pennington. 
 
Aarons & Ors  
 
The Government Legal Department settled the injury to feelings claims for Aarons on behalf of Chief 
Officers without seeking any financial contributions. Pecuniary loss claims have been stayed until the 
remedy is brought into force from 1 October 2023.  The settlement of the injury to feelings claims for 
Aarons sets a helpful precedent.  Therefore no liability in respect of compensation claims is recognised 
in these accounts.   
 
Penningtons  
 
As at 31 March 2023, it is not possible to reliably estimate the extent or likelihood of these claims being 
successful, and therefore no liability in respect of compensation claims is recognised in these accounts. 
 
Remedy  
 
The PSPJOA 2022 legislates for how the government will remove the discrimination identified by the 
courts in the way that the 2015 reforms were introduced for some members.   
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The main elements of the Act are:   
 

- Changes implemented across all the main public service pension schemes in response to the Court of 

Appeal judgment in the McCloud and Sargeant cases:   

- Eligible members of the main unfunded pension schemes have a choice of the benefits they wish to 

take for the “remedy period” of April 2015 to 31 March 2022.   

- From 1 April 2022, when the remedy period ends, all those in service in main unfunded schemes will 

be members of the reformed pension schemes, ensuring equal treatment from that point on.  

- Ensures there are no reductions to member benefits as a result of the 2016 cost control valuations.   

Impact on pension liability 
 
The impact of an increase in scheme liabilities arising from McCloud/Sargeant judgement will be 
measured through the pension valuation process, which determines employer and employee contribution 
rates. The next Police Pension valuation is due to be reported in 2023/24, although this timetable is 
subject to change.  
 
The impact of an increase in annual pension payments arising from McCloud/Sargeant is determined 
through the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007. These require a police authority to maintain a 
pension fund into which officer and employer contributions are paid and out of which pension payments 
to retired officers are made. If the police pension fund does not have sufficient funds to meet the cost of 
pensions in year the amount required to meet the deficit is then paid by the Secretary of State to the 
police authority in the form of a central government top-up grant 
  
Regarding the LGPS a similar adjustment to past service costs within the IAS19 Disclosure was made 
in 2018-19 for the McCloud judgment. The impact of an increase in scheme liabilities arising from 
McCloud / Sargeant judgment will be measured through the pension valuation process, which determines 
employer and employee contribution rates. 
 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) 
 
UK and European law requires pension schemes to provide equal benefits to men and women in respect 
of the service after 17 May 1980 and this includes providing equal benefits accrued from that date to 
reflect the differences in GMPs. The 26 October 2018 Lloyds Bank court judgement provided further 
clarity in this area but as yet Government policy in this area has yet to be determined. 
 
There is therefore a possibility that all public sector schemes will be required to index-link GMP benefits 
in respect of those members who reach their State Pension Age after April 2021. Following discussions 
with our actuaries we included the additional indexation liabilities in the accounting figures for 2019/20.   
 
However, in response to this judgment HM Treasury stated that “public sector schemes already have a 
method to equalise guaranteed minimum pension benefits, and as a result we have been advised by our 
actuary that it is not appropriate for any provision to be included for the effect of the Lloyds Bank judgment 
at the present time. 
 
However, in due course there may be a further cost to the LGPS and its employers in connection with 
equalisation/indexation (see section below on post-retirement GMP increases for the approach 
specifically relating to indexation), when the Government confirms the overall approach which it wishes 
to adopt in this area following its consultation. 
 
GMP equalisation – historic transfers: There is an additional consideration in respect of GMP 
equalisation. In December 2020 a further High Court ruling extended GMP equalisation costs to 
historic transfers, potentially creating a further liability for pension schemes.  
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Given the uncertainty around whether this applies to public sector schemes, which transfer would be in 
scope if it does, the difficulty in obtaining the necessary historic data and the low likelihood of a material 
impact for employers, it has been agreed with our actuary that no allowance has been made for this 
judgment. 
 
Post-retirement increases on GMPs from April 2021: There is a possibility that all public sector 
schemes will be required to index-link GMP benefits in respect of those members who reach their 
State Pension Age (SPA) after April 2021. Government policy in this area is still to be determined – 
however a consultation was issued in October 2020 considering extending indexation to members 
reaching SPA beyond April 2021, as either an interim or permanent solution. 
 
As figures supplied by our actuary already included an allowance for full GMP indexation for all members 
reaching SPA after 2021 no further adjustment was  
 
Transactions Relating to Post-Employment Benefits 
 
We recognise the cost of post-employment/retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when they 
are earned by the employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, 
the charge we are required to make against council tax is based on the employers’ contributions payable 
in the year, so the real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the PCC Group 
General Fund via the movement in reserves statement. The following transactions have been made 
during the year:
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PCC GROUP 
Local Government 
Pension Scheme 

Police Officer Pension 
Schemes 

Injury Awards Total 

  2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)                 

Cost of Services:                 

•         Current service cost 26,580 25,471 89,281 86,670 6,260 16,094 122,121 128,235 

•         Past service/Curtailment costs 443 58 0 0 0 0 443 58 

•         Admin. Expenses 408 417 0 0 0 0 408 417 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:               0 

•         Net Interest expense 4,315 3,906 86,254 114,396 5,837 7,496 96,406 125,798 

Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the surplus/deficit 
on Provision of Services in the CIES 

31,746 29,852 175,535 201,066 12,097 23,590 219,378 254,508  

 
Other Post Employment Benefit charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement:                 

 

Re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability, comprising:  

•         Re-measurements (assets) (69,199) (1,934) 0 0 0 0 (69,199) (1,934)  

•         Experience (gains)/losses on Liabilities 46,234 44,703 114,573 227,836 (3,178) 9,346 157,629 281,885  

•         (Gains)/losses on demographic assumptions (28,559) 0 (33,304) (23,411) (3,137) (2,231) (65,000) (25,642)  

•         Actuarial (gains)/losses arising on changes in    
financial assumptions 

(28,061) (305,828) 0 (1,745,367) 0 (129,322) (28,061) (2,180,517)  

Historical Adjustment   (161)           (161)  

Impact of Asset Ceiling   96,364           96,364  

Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement 

(79,585) (166,856) 81,269 (1,540,942) (6,315) (122,207) (4,631) (1,830,005)  
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Movement in Reserves Statement         
 

   

Reversal of net charges made to the (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision 
of Services for post-employment benefits by IAS19 in accordance with 
the Code 

(31,746) (29,852) (175,535) (201,066) (12,097) (23,590) (219,378) (254,508)  

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for 
pensions in the year: 

                 

•         Employers’ contributions payable to scheme 9,071 9,059 91,790 91,894 0 0 100,861 100,953  

•         Retirement benefits paid to pensioners  0 0 0 0 3,348 3,508 3,348 3,508  
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A further breakdown of the LGPS scheme is shown below, which identifies those costs reflected individually in the PCC and CC financial statements. 

  PCC CC Total 

  2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement             

Cost of Services:             

•         Current Service Cost 291 256 26,289 25,215 26,580 25,471 

•         Past Service/Curtailment costs 358 5 85 53 443 58 

•         Admin expenses 5 4 403 413 408 417 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:             

•         Net interest expense 46 55 4,269 3,851 4,315 3,906 

Total Post- Employment Benefits Charged to the surplus/deficit on Provision of 
Services in the CIES 

700 320 31,046 29,532 31,746 29,852 

              

Other Post Employment Benefit charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

            

•         Re-measurements (assets) (1,469) (29) (67,730) (1,905) (69,199) (1,934) 

•         Experience (gains)/losses on Liabilities 1,265 526 44,969 44,177 46,234 44,703 

•         Actuarial (gains)/losses arising on changes in demographic assumptions (390) 0 (28,169) 0 (28,559) 0 

•         Actuarial (gains)/losses arising on changes in financial assumptions (142) (4,250) (27,919) (301,578) (28,061) (305,828) 

Historical Adjustment   5   (166)   (161) 

Impact of Asset Ceiling   1,540   94,824   96,364 

Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

(736) (2,208) (78,849) (164,648) (79,585) (166,856) 

              

Statement of Movement in the General Fund Balance:             
 

Reversal of net charges made to the (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services for 
post-employment benefits by IAS19 in accordance with the Code 

(700) (320) (31,046) (29,532) (31,746) (29,852)  

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for pensions in the year:              

Employers’ contributions payable to scheme 352 108 8,719 8,951 9,071 9,059  
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Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 

  
Local Govt Pension 

Scheme 
Police Pension Schemes Injury Awards Total 

  
31-Mar-22  
Restated 

31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22  31-Mar-23 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 
31-Mar-22  
Restated 

31-Mar-23 

PCC GROUP £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

                  

Present value of the defined benefit obligation (671,317) (444,605) (4,131,204) (2,699,434) (269,424) (167,299) (5,071,945) (3,311,338) 

Impact of Asset Ceiling   (96,364)           (96,364) 

Fair value of plan assets 531,375 538,676 0 0 0 0 (531,375) (538,676) 

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation (139,942) (2,293) (4,131,204) (2,699,434) (269,424) (167,299) (4,540,571) (2,869,026) 

 
 

 SINGLE ENTITY PCC Local Govt Pension Scheme 

  31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

  £000 £000 

Present value of the defined benefit obligation  (10,418) (6,824) 

Impact of Asset Ceiling   (1,540) 

Fair value of plan assets 8,421 8,364 

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation 1,996 0 

 
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the PCC Group has in the long run to fund retirement benefits, both in respect of the staff of the Office of 
the PCC (£0m) and the police officers and staff under the direction of the CC (£2,869m) 
 
The total liability of £2,869m has a considerable impact on the net worth of the PCC Group as recorded in the balance sheets, resulting in a net liability of 
£2,677m. 
   

However, statutory arrangements for funding the liability mean that the financial position remains healthy: 

• Finance is only required to be raised to cover police pensions and injury awards when the pensions are actually paid. 
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Assets and Liabilities in Relation to Post-employment Benefits  
 
Reconciliation of the present value of the scheme liabilities: 
 

  
  Funded Liabilities: Local Govt Pension Scheme 

            

  PCC GROUP PCC CC 

  
2021/22 

Restated 
2022/23 2021/22  2022/23 

2021/22 
Restated 

2022/23 

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

01-Apr (647,347) (671,317) (8,877) (10,418) (638,470) (660,899) 

Current Service Costs (26,580) (25,471) (291) (256) (26,289) (25,215) 

Interest on pensions liabilities (14,156) (18,660) (186) (286) (13,970) (18,374) 

Contributions by scheme participants (4,322) (4,457) (61) (57) (4,261) (4,400) 

Actuarial losses –changes in 
demographic assumptions 

28,559 0 390 0 28,169 0 

Actuarial (gains)/losses –changes in 
financial assumptions 

28,061 305,828 142 4,250 27,919 301,578 

Experience (gains)/losses on liabilities (46,234) (44,703) (1,265) (526) (44,969) (44,177) 

Benefits paid 11,145 14,234 88 474 11,057 13,760 

Past Service/Curtailment Costs (443) (58) (358) (5) (85) (53) 

31-Mar (671,317) (444,604) (10,418) (6,824) (660,899) (437,780) 

 
Prior Period Adjustment 
 
The balance of scheme liabilities as 1st April 2021 has been restated in the above table by removing the 
prepaid pension contributions of £16.892m which had been incorrectly shown against the liability in 2020/21. 
This has changed the PCC Group balance as 1st April 2021 from £630.455m to £647.347m. 
 
This has also had the effect of increasing the balance as 31st March 2022 by £8.413m from £662.904m to 
£671.317m. 
 

  Unfunded Liabilities - PCC GROUP  

  Police Pension Schemes Injury Benefits 

  2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 

          

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

          

01-Apr (3,966,189) (4,131,204) (266,991) (269,424) 

Current Service Costs (89,281) (86,670) (6,260) (16,094) 

Past Service costs 0 0 0 0 

Interest on pensions liabilities (86,254) (114,396) (5,837) (7,496) 

Contributions by scheme participants (16,245) (17,087) 0 0 

Experience (gains)/losses on liabilities (114,573) (227,836) 3,178 (9,346) 

Actuarial gains –changes in demographic assumptions 33,304 23,411 3,137 2,231 

Actuarial (gains)/losses –changes in financial 
assumptions 

0 1,745,367 0 129,322 

Benefits paid 108,035 108,981 3,348 3,508 

31-Mar (4,131,204) (2,699,434) (269,424) (167,300) 



POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE 2022/23 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 

88 
 

Commercial in Confidence 

 
NB: All the unfunded liabilities relate to police officers who are/were under the direction and control of 
the CC.  

 

Reconciliation of the fair value of the scheme assets: 
 

  
Funded Scheme –Local Government Pension Scheme 

            

  PCC GROUP PCC CC 

  
2021/22 

Restated 
2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 

2021/22 
Restated 

2022/23 

              

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

              

01-Apr 458,973 531,375 6,492 8,421 452,481 522,954 

Adjustment to match actuary report   162   (5)   167 

Interest on plan assets 9,841 14,754 140 231 9,701 14,523 

Admin expenses (408) (417) (5) (4) (403) (413) 

Employer contributions paid 593 647 352 109 241 538 

Contributions by scheme participants 4,322 4,457 61 57 4,261 4,400 

Re-measurements (assets) 69,199 1,934 1,469 29 67,730 1,905 

Benefits paid (11,145) (14,234) (88) (474) (11,057) (13,760) 

31-Mar 531,375 538,678 8,421 8,364 522,954 530,314 

 
Prior Period Adjustment 
 
The balance of scheme asset as 1st April 2021 has been restated in the above table by £16.892m due to the 
addition of the prepaid contributions which were incorrectly reported within the planned liabilities section in 
2020/21. This has changed the PCC Group balance as at 1 April 2021 from £442.081m to £458.973m. 
 
The employers contribution for 2021/22 has reduced by £8.478m from £9.071m to £0.593m 
 
This also has the effect of restating the balance as 31st March 2022 by £8.413m from £522.961m to 
£531.375m.   

 
  Unfunded Schemes –PCC Group 

  Police Pension Schemes Injury Benefits 

  2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 
          
  £000 £000 £000 £000 
          

01-Apr 0 0 0 0 
Employer contributions 91,790 91,358 3,348 3,508 
Contributions by scheme 
participants 

16,245 17,087 0 0 

Benefits paid (108,035) (108,445) (3,348) (3,508) 

31-Mar 0 0 0 0 

 
  



POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR LANCASHIRE 2022/23 
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 

 

89 
 

Commercial in Confidence 

Local Government Pension Scheme assets for the PCC Group comprised: 
 

  
Fair Value 

Input Level 
31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

  (if relevant) £000 £000 
        
Cash and Cash Equivalents   13,168 4,282 
Equities   623 627 
        
Bonds       
By Sector       
Corporate 1 / 2. 4,080 1,110 
UK index-linked 3 0 0 
Sub-Total Bonds   4,080 1,110 
        
Property       
By Type       
Retail  2 463 1,085 
Commercial 2 7,892 7,030 
Sub-Total Property   8,355 8,115 
        
Private Equity       
Overseas 3 31,538 35,821 
Sub-Total Private Equity   31,538 35,821 
        
Other Investment Funds       
Overseas Pooled Equity 1 250,899 256,568 
UK Pooled Equity 1 4,925 5,703 
UK Private Equity 1 11,570 9,324 
Pooled Fixed Income 1 22,746 7,764 
Credit Funds 3 70,011 78,170 
Infrastructure 3 59,594 83,795 
Property 3 45,614 47,420 
Sub-Total Other Investment Funds   465,359 488,744 
        
TOTAL ASSETS*   523,123 538,699 

 
*At 31 March 2023 the share of these assets that relate to staff of the Office of the PCC are £8.369m 
(£8.421m at 31 March 2022) 

 
Allocation into Fair Value Hierarchy 
 
Level 1 
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.  Examples include quoted equity investments, unit trusts, UK pooled fixed 
income funds, overseas pooled fixed income funds, UK and overseas quoted fixed interest securities.  Listed 
investments are shown at bid prices.  The bid value of the investment is based on the bid market quotation 
of the relevant stock exchange. 
 
Level 2 
Level 2 investments are those where quoted market prices are not available, for example where an instrument 
is traded in a market that is not considered to be active or valuation techniques are used to determine fair 
value and where these techniques use inputs that are based significantly on observable market data. Such 
instruments include bonds secured on affordable housing assets.  The technique for valuing these assets is 
independently verified. 
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The bonds secured on affordable housing assets are based on long term expectations of interest rates, 
inflation and credit spreads in the housing association sector. 
 
The valuation of directly held properties is carried out by independent valuers, Avison Young on an individual 
property basis rather than as a portfolio, by qualified surveyors and in accordance with the RICS Professional 
Standards, Global and UK, RICS Valuation – Professional Standards – 2017. 
 
Level 3 
Level 3 portfolios are those where at least one input which could have a significant effect on the instrument's 
valuation is not based on observable market data.  Such instruments include internally managed overseas 
equity funds, overseas quoted fixed income investments, pooled UK fixed income investments, private equity, 
infrastructure and indirect overseas property investments, which are valued using various valuation 
techniques that require significant management judgement in determining appropriate assumptions, including 
earnings, public market comparatives and estimated future cash flows. 
 
The values of the investment in private equity and infrastructure are based on valuations provided to the 
private equity and infrastructure funds in which Lancashire County Pension Fund has invested.  These 
valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 
Guidelines or equivalent, which follow the valuation principles of IFRS and US GAAP.  Valuations are 
performed annually mainly, and at the end of December.  Cash flow adjustments are used to roll forward the 
valuations to 31 March as appropriate. 
 
Indirect properties are valued at the current open market value as defined by the RICS Appraisal and 
Valuation Standards. These investments are not publicly listed and as such there is a degree of estimation 
involved in the valuation.   
 
Property Funds 
The properties were valued at open market value at 31 March 2023 by independent property valuers Avison 
Young in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors' Valuation Global Standards 2017 (the 
Red Book).   
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprises of cash in hand and on demand deposits and includes amounts held by the Fund's external 
managers. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and that are subject to minimal risk of changes in value.  
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Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 
 
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years 
dependent on the assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc. The police schemes, injury benefits and the Local Government Pension Fund liabilities 
have been assessed by Mercer Human Resource Consulting Ltd, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates being based on the last full valuations of the 
schemes. The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

  Local Govt. Pension Scheme 

  PCC staff CC Staff 

  2021/22  2022/23  2021/22  2022/23  

Mortality assumptions:         

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners (LGPS):         

      Men 21.4 21.5 21.4 21.5 

      Women 23.7 23.8 23.7 23.8 

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners (LGPS):         

      Men 22.6 22.8 22.6 22.8 

      Women 25.5 25.6 25.5 25.6 

Rate of inflation: CPI 3.30% 2.70% 3.10% 2.70% 

Rate of increase in salaries 4.80% 4.20% 4.60% 4.20% 

Rate of increase in pensions 3.40% 2.80% 3.20% 2.80% 

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.80% 4.80% 2.80% 4.80% 
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Police Officers 1987 

Scheme 
Police Officers 2006 

Scheme 
Police Officers 
2015 Scheme 

Injury Awards 

  2021/22  2022/23  2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 

Longevity at 60 for current pensioners:                 

      Men 26.9 26,7 26.9 26.7 26.9 26.7 24.3 24.1 

      Women 29.1 29.0 29.1 29.0 29.1 29.0 26.5 26.3 

                  

Longevity at 60 for future pensioners:                 

      Men 29.2 28.7 29.2 28.7 29.2 28.7 26.5 26.0 

      Women 31.3 30.9 31.3 30.9 31.3 30.9 28.6 28.2 

Rate of inflation: CPI 3.30% 2.70% 3.30% 2.70% 3.30% 2.70% 3.30% 2.70% 

Rate of increase in salaries 4.80% 4.20% 4.80% 4.20% n/a n/a 4.80% 4.20% 

Rate of increase in pensions 3.40% 2.80% 3.40% 2.80% 3.40% 2.80% 3.40% 2.80% 

Rate of revaluation of CARE pensions n/a n/a n/a n/a 4.55% 3.95% n/a n/a 

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.80% 4.80% 2.80% 4.80% 2.80% 4.80% 2.80% 4.80% 
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The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table 
above. The methods used to carry out the sensitivity analyses presented in the notes below for the material 
assumptions are the same as those the employer has used previously. The calculations alter the relevant 
assumption by the amount specified, whilst assuming that all other variables remain the same. This approach 
is not necessarily realistic, since some assumptions are related for example, if the scenario is to show the 
effect if inflation is higher than expected, it might be reasonable to expect that nominal yields on corporate 
bonds will increase also. However, it enables the reader to isolate one effect from another.  

 
Local Government Pension Scheme (PCC & PCC Group): 
 

  Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme 

  PCC Group Single Entity PCC 

  
Increase in 

Assumption 
(Decrease in 
Assumption) 

Increase in 
Assumption 

(Decrease in 
Assumption) 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

          
Longevity (increase or 
decrease in 1 year) 

8,956 (8,956) 136 (136) 

Rate of inflation (increase or 
decrease by 1%) 

90,820 (90,820) 304 (304) 

Rate for discounting scheme 
liabilities (increase or 
decrease by 1%) 

82,742 (82,742) 1096 (1,096) 

Rate of increase in salaries 
(increase or decrease by 1%) 

13,980 (13,980) 192 (192) 

Rate of change in investment 
returns (increase or decrease 
by 1%) 

5,425 (5,425) 82 (82) 
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Police officer pension schemes and injury benefits (PCC Group only – all pension obligations relate to 
officers employed by the CC): 
 

  Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme 

  Police Pension Schemes Injury Benefits 

  
Increase in 

Assumption 
(Decrease in 
Assumption) 

Increase in 
Assumption 

(Decrease in 
Assumption) 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 

          
Longevity (increase or decrease 
in 1 year) 

56,341 (56,341) 3,413 (3,413) 

Rate of inflation (increase or 
decrease by 1%) 

473,012 (473,012) 34,796 (34,796) 

Rate for discounting scheme 
liabilities (increase or decrease by 
1%) 

482,818 (482,818) 30,446 (30,446) 

Rate f increase in salaries 
(increase or decrease by 1%) 

89,564 (89,564) 23,384 (23,384) 
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Other Notes 
 

29. Related Parties 
 

The PCC Group is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies or individuals 
that have the potential to control or influence the Group or to be controlled or influenced by the Group. 
Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which the Group might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party's 
ability to bargain freely with the Group. 
 
Central government has effective control over the general operations of the Group: it is responsible for 
providing the statutory framework within which the Group operates, provides the majority of its funding 
in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the Group has with other 
parties.  Details of transactions with government departments are set out in the subjective analysis in 
Note 2 (Expenditure and income analysed by nature) and further analysis in Note 14 (Grant Income).  

 
The PCC has direct control over the Group’s finances and is responsible for setting the Police and Crime 
Plan.  The CC retains operational independence and operates within the budget set by the PCC, to 
deliver the aims and objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan.  Section 28 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 requires that the local authorities covered by the police area must 
establish a Police and Crime Panel (PCP) for that area.  The PCP scrutinises the decisions of the PCC, 
reviews the Police and Crime Plan and has a right of veto over the precept.   
 
A survey of the related party interests of the PCC, CC and members of both senior management teams 
and their immediate family members was carried out in preparing the Statement of Accounts. No material 
related party interests were disclosed. 

 
30. Publicity  
 

The PCC Group has spent £1.336m (£1.351min 2021/22) on certain categories of publicity* including 
communication and consulting with Lancashire residents; this information is published in accordance 
with section 5(1) of the Local Government Act 1986.  The categories and the split between PCC and CC 
are: 

 

  PCC CC Group 

  2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Publicity 145 132 1,138 1,161 1,283 1,293 

Advertising -
Recruitment 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Advertising - Other 2 3 65 40 68 43 

  147 135 1,204 1,201 1,351 1,336 
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31. External Audit Costs  
 

In 2022/23 the PCC Group incurred the following fees relating to external audit.  
 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  £000 £000 

Fees payable to Grant Thornton UK LLP, auditors appointed under the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014, with regard to external audit services 
carried out under the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General in accordance with s19 of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 

79  78  

Total Costs 79  78  

 
The Group audit fee set out above of £78k includes a £28k fee payable in relation to the audit of the Chief 
Constable. 

 
32. Contingent Liabilities  

 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the PCC/PCC Group a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the PCC/PCC Group. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that the outflow 
of resources will be required, or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  
 
As the PCC holds all usable reserves and is the responsible body for assets and liabilities, any contingent 
assets or liabilities will be recorded within their accounts. Contingent assets and liabilities are not 
recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
While the claims associated with the McCloud meet the definition of a Contingent Liability as outlined 
above the effect of the claims is not considered to be material. 
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 

i. General 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) issued by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015. The accounting policies contained in the Code apply International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted for the public sector by the International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). 
 
Following the passing of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, 
Lancashire Police Authority was replaced with two ‘corporations sole’, the PCC and the 
CC. Both bodies are required to prepare separate Statements of Accounts. The Financial 
Statements included here represent the accounts for the PCC as a single entity and also 
the PCC Group. The financial statements cover the 12 months to 31 March 2023.  
 
The term ‘Group’ is used to indicate consolidated transactions and policies of the PCC 
and the CC for the year ended 31 March 2023. The identification of the PCC as the holding 
organisation and the requirements to produce Group accounts stems from the powers 
and responsibilities of the PCC under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 
2011. 
 
The PCC Group and the PCC have adopted consistent accounting policies, which are 
detailed below.  
 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis using an historic cost 
accounting convention modified to account for the revaluation of certain categories of non-
current assets.  
 
Notes relating to specific items in the financial statements include corresponding 
accounting policies. The accounting policies below relate to policies with no 
accompanying note. 

 
ii. Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
Revenue from contracts with service recipients is recognised when (or as) the goods or 
services are transferred to the service recipient in accordance with performance 
obligations in the contract. 
 
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap 
between the date supplies are received and their consumption they are carried as 
inventories on the balance sheet. 
 
Expenses in respect of services received (including services provided by employees) are 
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are 
made. 
 
Interest receivable on investments is accounted for as income based on the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or 
determined by the contract. 
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Where revenue or expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the balance sheet.  Where 
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and, where material, a 
charge made to revenue for the income that might not be collected. 
 
Whilst all expenditure is paid for by the PCC, including the salaries of police officers and 
police staff, the actual recognition in the respective accounts of the PCC and CC is based 
on economic benefit and service delivery.  
 
 

iii. Fair Value Measurement 
 

The PCC measures some of their non-financial assets such as surplus assets and investment 
assets at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability between market participants at the measurement 
date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer 
the liability takes place either: 

• in the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

• in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset 

or liability. 

The PCC measures the fair value of an asset or liability using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, if market participants act in their 
best interest. 
 

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the authority considers a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best 
use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and 
best use. 
 

The PCC uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data is available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs. 
 

Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the PCC group financial statements are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy, as follows: 

• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the PCC can assess at the measurement date; 

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted price included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 

• Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
iv. Working Capital 

 
The PCC has the responsibility for managing financial relationships with third parties and has 
legal responsibility for discharging the contractual terms and conditions of suppliers. All 
payments are made and income received by the PCC, with no cash transactions taking place 
in the name of the CC. Hence all working capital balances are retained on the PCC balance 
sheet except for employee related creditors which are recognised in the first instance in the 
CC balance sheet but are funded by either unusable reserves or a short term debtor with the 
PCC.  
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v. PCC Funding of the Chief Constable's Expenditure 
 

As the Chief Constable has no resources with which to fulfil their devolved responsibilities to 
provide a policing service, the expenditure is funded by the PCC. The PCC’s funding of the 
CC’s expenditure takes the form of ‘intragroup funding’ and is shown as income in the CC’s 
CIES and expenditure in the PCC’s CIES. The intragroup transactions are accounted for on 
an accruals basis and are eliminated on consolidation in the Group financial statements. 
There is no actual transfer of cash involved in this transaction as all the resources belong to 
the PCC 

 
vi. VAT 

 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from 
Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 

 
vii. Overheads and Support Services 

 
Overhead budgets are held as separate budgets and reported to management in the 
same way as operational budget with no ultimate re-apportionment across operating 
segments.  

 
viii. Financial assets  

 
Financial assets are classified based on the business model for holding the financial 
assets and their expected cash flow characteristics.  

 
Financial assets are classified into one of three categories:  

 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost  

 
Where the PCC’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash 
flows, the financial assets are classified as amortised cost. 

  
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
They are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at their 
amortised cost.  

 
Annual credits to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the 
comprehensive income and expenditure statement for interest receivable are based on 
the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. For all of the financial assets held by the PCC, this means that the amount 
presented in the balance sheet is the outstanding principal receivable plus accrued 
interest.  
 
Interest credited to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement is the amount 
receivable for the year in the loan agreement.  

 
There is no recognition of gains or losses on fair value until reclassification or de-
recognition of the asset. Any gains or losses that arise on the de-recognition of the asset 
are charged to the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the 
comprehensive income and expenditure statement.  
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Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  
 
Any assets held in this category are held with the objective of collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling assets in order to meet long term investment requirements while 
ensuring the PCC is not subject to a high degree of credit risk. These assets would be 
measured and carried at fair value.  
 
Interest is recognised in the comprehensive income and expenditure statement on the 
same basis as for amortised cost financial assets, as described above.  
 
All gains or losses due to changes in the fair value of the assets (both realised and 
unrealised) are charged to the other comprehensive income and expenditure line in the 
comprehensive income and expenditure statement and balanced by an entry in the 
financial instruments revaluation reserve.  
 
Any gains or losses that arise on the de-recognition of the asset are charged to the 
financing and investment income and expenditure line in the comprehensive income and 
expenditure statement, along with any accumulated gains or losses previously 
recognised in the financial instruments revaluation reserve.  
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit of loss (FVPL)  
 
These assets are measured and carried at fair value.
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POLICE PENSION ACCOUNT 
 
The CC administers the Police Pension Fund Account (the Account) on behalf of the PCC, 
in accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. Amounts 
debited and credited to the Account are specified by legislation, the Police Pension Fund 
Regulations 2007 [Statutory Instrument 2007 No 1932], (the Regulations). During the year 
all payments and receipts are made to and from the Police Fund, which is held by the 
PCC. This statement shows the income and expenditure for each of the 1987, the 2006 
and the 2015 Police Pension Schemes.
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POLICE PENSIONS ACCOUNT    2021/22 2022/23 

  NOTES 1987 scheme 2006 scheme 2015 scheme Total 1987 scheme 2006 scheme 2015 scheme Total 
    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Contributions receivable                   
Employer contributions 3 (1,886) (174) (35,619) (37,679) (0) (0) (39,712) (39,713) 
 Early Retirements   (1,410) 0 (106) (1,516) (1,862) (152) (506) (2,520) 
                    

    (3,296) (174) (35,725) (39,195) (1,862) (152) (40,218) (42,233) 
Officer Contributions   (876) (68) (15,301) (16,244) (14) (0) (17,073) (17,087) 

Total Contributions Receivable   (4,172) (241) (51,026) (55,439) (1,876) (152) (57,291) (59,320) 
                    
Transfers In    (100) 0 (870) (970) 0 (10) (335) (345) 
                    
Benefits Payable                   
Pensions   86,325 88 902 87,314 90,728 120 1,326 92,174 
Commutations and lump sum 
retirement benefits 

  21,113 83 164 21,360 16,067 158 679 16,904 

Lump sum death benefits   36 0 129 165 24 0 125 149 
                    

Total Benefits Payable   107,474 170 1,194 108,838 106,819 278 2,130 109,227 
                    
Payments on Account of Leavers                   
Transfer values out   81 0 7 88 10 0 1 12 
Refund of contributions   (0) 8 70 77 0 1 87 87 

Total Payments on Account of 
Leavers 

  81 8 77 166 10 1 88 99 

                    

Net amount payable/(receivable) 
for the year contribution from 
Police Fund 

  103,282 (63) (50,625) 52,595 104,953 116 (55,408) 49,661 

                    
Contribution from the Police Fund 
not met by Home Office grant 

2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additional contribution from the 
Police Fund met by Home Office 
grant 

  (103,282) 63 50,625 (52,595) (104,953) (116) 55,408 (49,661) 

Net amount payable/(receivable)   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
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NET ASSET STATEMENT 
 

31-Mar-22   31-Mar-23 
£000   £000 

(1,607) Unpaid pensions benefits (493) 

0 Payment in Advance 7,135 

1,607 Amounts owed from/(to) PCC's General Fund  (6,642) 

0 Net Assets 0 

 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
 

1. Basis of preparation 
 

The Police Pension Account combines the accounting transactions of three pension 
schemes; the 1987 Scheme, which was set up in 1987 and the 2006 Scheme which was 
created by the Home Office under the Police Pension Regulations 2006 and the most 
recent 2015 Scheme, established under the Police Pension Regulations 2015. 
 
From April 2015 the 2015 Police Pension Scheme replaced the 1987 and 2006 Police 
Pension Schemes. Except for some officers closest to retirement, who are covered by full 
or tapered transitional provisions, all police officers have moved to the new scheme. The 
2015 Police Pension Scheme is a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme 
and replaces final salary schemes. It is governed by the Police Pensions Regulations 
2015 and related regulations in the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. 
 
This financial statement has been prepared in accordance with the Police Pension Fund 
Regulations 2007 (SI 2007 No 1932) and CIPFA Code of Practice 2022/23. It summarises 
the transactions of the Pension Account. It does not take account of obligations to pay 
pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year – these obligations 
are considered by the actuary when valuing the schemes liabilities and are reflected in 
the CIES and balance sheets of the CC and the PCC Group. 
 
This statement does not form part of the Statement of Accounts for either the PCC or the 
CC but has been audited as a separate statement and is covered by the audit opinion on 
Page 105. 
 
All the pension schemes are unfunded and have no investment assets. Benefits payable 
are funded by contributions from employees and employers (in this instance the PCC) 
and any difference between benefits payable and contributions receivable is funded by 
an additional contribution by the PCC from/to the Police General Fund, which, in 2022/23 
is financed in full by top-up grant from the Home Office.  
 

2. Actuarial Valuation 
 

From 1 April 2019 the actuarial valuation changed the employer contribution rate from 
21.3% to 31.0%. This additional contribution is met by the Home Office Grant and 
additional funding received for Police Pension Costs.  
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3. Accounting policies 

 
General 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis except for transfers to 
and from the account and contributions refunded, which are treated on a cash basis. 
 
Employers’ Contributions 
 
The employers’ contribution rate for all the pension schemes is set nationally, based on a 
percentage of pensionable pay. The rate is subject to triennial revaluation by the 
Government Actuary’s Department, timed to coincide with the revaluation of the local 
government pension scheme. The rate for 2021/22 was set at 31.0%.  
 
Employees’ Contributions 
 
Police officer contributions are deducted from officer salaries.   Contribution rates range 
between 11% and 15.05% dependent upon on the range the police officer’s salary falls 
into and whether the officer is a member of the 1987, 2006 or the 2015 scheme. 
 

4. Net Asset Statement 
 

The net asset statement does not include liability to pay pensions and other benefits after 
the 31 March 2023 These liabilities remain ultimately with the PCC Group and have been 
reflected in the CC and PCC Group Balance Sheets. Details of these liabilities can be 
found in Note 28 to the main statement of accounts. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Opinion on financial statements  

We have audited the financial statements of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire (the ‘Police and Crime 

Commissioner’) and its subsidiary the Chief Constable (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise the PCC 

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the PCC Single Entity Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, the PCC Group Movement in Reserves Statement 2020/21 & 2021/22, the PCC Single Entity Movement in Reserves 

Statement 2020/21 and 2021/22, the PCC Group Balance Sheet, the PCC Single Entity Balance Sheet,  the PCC Group Cash Flow 

Statement, the PCC Single Entity Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies and include the police pension fund financial statements comprising the Police Pensions Account, the Net Asset 

Statement and notes to the accounts. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 

and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22.  

 

In our opinion, the financial statements:  

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Police and Crime  

Commissioner as at 31 March 2022 and of the group’s expenditure and income and the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 

expenditure and income for the year then ended;   

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2021/22; and   

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.  

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by 

the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ 

section of our report. We are independent of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the group in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Conclusions relating to going concern  

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Chief Financial Officer’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the Police and Crime Commissioner and group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 

obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Police and Crime Commissioner and the 

group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

    

In our evaluation of the Chief Financial Officer’s conclusions, and in accordance with the expectation set out within the 

CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22 that the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and group’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks 

associated with the continuation of services provided by the Police and Crime Commissioner and the group. In doing so we had 

regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United 

Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the 

reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the Police and Crime Commissioner and group and the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and group’s disclosures over the going concern period.   

 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 

individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Police and Crime Commissioner’s and the group’s ability to continue as 

a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Chief Financial Officer’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.   
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The responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer with respect to going concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial statements’ section of this report.  

Other information  

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 

Statement of Accounts, other than the Police and Crime Commissioner and group financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 

stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.   

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and the group obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 

financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 

that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice  

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor 

General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with 

the ‘delivering good governance in Local Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE or is misleading 

or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual 

Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

  

We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the Police 

and Crime Commissioner, the other information published together with the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts, for 

the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.  

    

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:  

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or 

at the conclusion of the audit; or  

• we make a written recommendation to the Police and Crime Commissioner under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or  

• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or;   

• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the 

conclusion of the audit; or   

• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, in the course 

of, or at the conclusion of the audit.  

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.  
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Responsibilities of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial statements  

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities set out on page 9, the Police and Crime Commissioner is required to 

make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for 

the administration of those affairs.  That officer is the Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the 

preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in 

the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, for being satisfied that they give 

a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Chief Financial Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Financial Officer is responsible for assessing the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 

and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services provided by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and the group will no longer be provided.   

The Police and Crime Commissioner is Those Charged with Governance. Those charged with governance are responsible for 

overseeing the financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 

high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 

website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.  

We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, 

including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial 

statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).   

    

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and the group and determined that the most significant ,which are directly relevant to specific assertions in the 

financial statements, are those related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards as interpreted and 

adapted by the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2021/22, the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Local Government Act 2003 and the Police Reform 

and Social Responsibility Act 2011). We also identified the following additional regulatory frameworks in respect of the police 

pension fund, Public Service Pensions Act 2013, The Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007, The Police Pensions Regulations 

2015, and The Police Pensions Regulations 2006.  

• We enquired of management and the Police and Crime Commissioner, concerning the Police and Crime Commissioner 

and group’s policies and procedures relating to:   

− the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;  

− the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and  

− the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations.   

• We enquired of senior officers, internal audit and the Police and Crime Commissioner, whether they were aware of any 

instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged 

fraud.   

• We assessed the susceptibility of the Police and Crime Commissioner and group’s financial statements to material 

misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives and opportunities for manipulation of the 

financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls. We determined that the 

principal risks were in relation to:  

− journal entries that could be used to manipulate financial performance for the year, along with any potential management bias 

in determining accounting estimates for the valuation of land and buildings and the net defined benefit pension liability.  

  

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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• Our audit procedures involved:   

−  evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Chief Financial Officer has in place to 

prevent and detect fraud;  

−  journal entry testing, with a focus on non-routine transactions and journals falling within identified 

risk criteria including, journals posted by senior management, material journals, large year-end 

journals, post year-end journals and year-end accruals;   

−  challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting 

estimates in respect of the pension liability;   

−  assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our 

procedures on the related financial statement item.  

• These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud 

or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from 

error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-

compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we 

would become aware of it.  

• We communicate relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members, including the 

potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition. We remained alert to any indications of non-compliance with laws 

and regulations, including fraud, throughout the audit.  

• Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and group’s engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's.  

− understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity through appropriate 

training and participation  

− knowledge of the police sector  

− understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Police and Crime Commissioner and group including:  

− the provisions of the applicable legislation − guidance issued by CIPFA, 

LASAAC and SOLACE − the applicable statutory provisions.  

• In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:  

− the Police and Crime Commissioner and group’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its 

services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, account balances, expected financial 

statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material misstatement.  

− the Police and Crime Commissioner and group’s control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by 

the Police and Crime Commissioner and group to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting 

framework.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources  

Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Police and Crime Commissioner’s arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources  

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that 

the Police and Crime Commissioner has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.    

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.  

Responsibilities of the Police and Crime Commissioner   

The Police and Crime Commissioner is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 

effectiveness of these arrangements.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources  

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Police and Crime 

Commissioner has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are 

not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Police and Crime Commissioner's arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.  

    

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by the 

Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This guidance sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper 

arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary 

on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:  

• Financial sustainability: how the Police and Crime Commissioner plans and manages its resources to ensure it 

can continue to deliver its services;   

• Governance: how the Police and Crime Commissioner ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and   

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Police and Crime Commissioner uses information 

about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.  

We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the Police and Crime Commissioner has in place for each of these 

three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s 

Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we have considered whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant 

weaknesses in arrangements.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Audit certificate  

We certify that we have completed the audit for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire for  

the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of 

Audit Practice.  

Use of our report   

This report is made solely to the Police and Crime Commissioner, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies 

published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Police 

and Crime Commissioner those matters we are required to state to the Police and Crime Commissioner in an auditor's report and 

for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

Police and Crime Commissioner as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Michael Green  
Michael Green, Key Audit Partner  

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor  

  

Manchester  

11 March 2024   

 
  

April 2022  
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Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire 
Annual Governance Statement 2022/23 

 
This Annual Governance Statement sets out how the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and 
Chief Constable for Lancashire have complied with their published corporate governance framework 
for the year ended 31 March 2023, including plans for the financial year 2023/24. 

Scope of Responsibility 

Following the introduction of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the 2011 Act), 
the PCC and Chief Constable were established on 22 November 2012 as separate legal entities (a 
‘corporation sole’). However, the 2011 Act gives PCCs responsibility for the totality of policing within 
their force area and requires them to hold their force Chief Constable to account for the functions of 
the Chief Constable and those under their direction and control operational delivery of policing. 

Under the 2011 Act, the PCC is the recipient of all funding, including government grant, precept and 
other sources of income related to policing and crime reduction, and all funding for a force must 
come via the PCC (unless a specific exemption is in place). How this money is allocated is a matter 
for the PCC in consultation with the Chief Constable, who provides professional advice and 
recommendations to the PCC. However, the PCC is ultimately accountable to the public for the 
management of the Police Fund. 

The PCC is responsible for ensuring their business is conducted in accordance with the law and 
proper standards of governance and, consequently, that public money is safeguarded, properly 
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively in the discharge of their statutory 
duties and powers. 

Both the PCC and Chief Constable are required to, and have, appointed chief financial officers who 
each have a fiduciary duty to the local taxpayer for securing the efficient use of public funds. Under 
the Local Government Act 1999 the PCC makes arrangements to secure continuous improvement 
in the way their functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency, and 
effectiveness. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the PCC is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of their affairs and facilitating the exercise of their functions, which 
includes ensuring a sound system of internal control is maintained and that arrangements are in 
place for the management of risk. In exercising this responsibility, the PCC places reliance on the 
Chief Constable to support the governance and risk management processes. 

The Chief Constable is accountable to the law for the exercise of police powers and to the PCC for 
the delivery of efficient and effective policing, management of resources and expenditure by the 
police force. At all times the Chief Constable, their police officers and staff remain operationally 
independent in the service of the public. In discharging their overall responsibilities, the Chief 
Constable is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management processes, 
governance arrangements and ensuring that there is a sound system of internal control which 
facilitates the effective exercise of these functions. 
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The Policing Protocol Order 2011 requires both the PCC and Chief Constable to abide by the seven 
principles of personal conduct set out in ‘Standards in Public Life: First Report of the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life’ (commonly known as the ‘Nolan Principles’), i.e. ‘Selflessness’, ‘Integrity’, 
‘Objectivity’, ‘Accountability’, ‘Openness’, Honesty’ and ‘Leadership’. The Nolan Principles are 
incorporated into both the PCC’s Code of Conduct and the College of Policing ‘Code of Ethics. 

A copy of the code of corporate governance is on our website at: 

https://www.lancashire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/governance-documents/  

This Annual Governance Statement explains how the PCC and Chief Constable have complied with 
the Code of governance and the requirements of Regulation 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. 

 

The purpose of the Governance Framework 

Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved. The fundamental function of good governance in the public 
sector is to ensure that statutory entities (in this case, the PCC, and Chief Constable) achieve their 
intended outcomes whilst acting in the public interest at all times. 

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values by which 
the PCC and Chief Constable discharge their responsibilities and through which the police service 
accounts to and engages with the community. It enables the PCC to monitor the achievement of 
their strategic objectives and to consider whether these objectives have led to the delivery of 
appropriate, cost-effective services, including achieving value for money. 

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk 
to a reasonable and foreseeable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims 
and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. It is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them effectively, efficiently and economically. 
 

Internal Financial Controls 

Internal financial control systems are in place to minimise the risk of loss and unlawful expenditure 
and help to deliver value for money. 

The key documents that set out the internal financial controls are: 

• Financial Regulations – to secure the proper administration of financial affairs 

• Contract Standing Orders - to ensure procedures are followed in respect of contracts for the 
supply of goods and services 

• Scheme of Delegation - to assign authority and responsibility to officers and staff to carry out 
specific activities or functions 

• Financial Instructions – to provide guidance on the operation of specific financial processes. 
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The Governance Framework 

A framework of governance and internal control has been established, comprising the systems and 
processes, culture and values by which the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 
is directed and controlled in order to discharge the two primary statutory duties: 

• to secure an effective and efficient local police service; and 

• to hold the Chief Constable to account for the exercise of their functions and those of officers 
and staff under their direction and control. 

 
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is based on an on-going 
process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the PCC and Chief 
Constable’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
The Chartered Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has identified the principles of 
good governance for public services and those specifically relating to policing services are; 
 

1. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and respecting 
the rule of law 

2. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

3. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits. 

4. Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended 
outcomes 

5. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals 
within it. 

6. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial 
management. 

7. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective 
accountability 

 

Delivering Good Governance Framework 

1. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values and 

respecting the rule of law 

The PCC and the Chief Constable have developed and approved a ‘Joint Corporate Governance 
Framework’ which clarifies the working relationship between the PCC, Chief Constable and their 
respective staff. This includes the code of corporate governance, the scheme of delegation and 
financial regulations. The Framework is informed by the requirements of ‘The Good Governance 
Standard for Public Services’ and is consistent with the seven Nolan Principles of standards in public 
life. 

The national police service Code of Ethics sets and defines exemplary standards of behaviour for 
everyone who works in policing, placing an absolute duty on officers and staff. The Code applies to 
everyone in policing; officers, staff, volunteers and contractors. It applies both on and off duty. It 
guides behaviour within the organisation as much as it informs how to deal with those outside. 
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Measures are in place to ensure that the PCC, Deputy PCC (when appointed) and employees of 
the Office of the PCC (OPCC) and Lancashire Constabulary are not influenced by prejudice, bias or 
conflicts of interest in dealing with different stakeholders. This includes the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and 
Corruption Policy and guidance on the acceptance of gifts, loans and hospitality. Notifications of 
disclosable interests and a register of gifts and hospitability are published on the PCC and the Force 
websites. 

The PCC and Chief Constable have transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing with 
complaints received from the public. 

The Force has a Professional Standards Department (PSD) whose role is to uphold the ethical and 
professional standards of Lancashire Constabulary. PSD manages the application of police 
misconduct regulations, and the administration of complaints by members of the public against the 
quality of service they have received from the Force and/or the conduct of police officers and police 
staff below the rank of Chief Constable. 

The PCC has a statutory responsibility to undertake reviews (formerly known as ‘appeals’) of the 
handling and outcome of complaints made against the Force, where requested by complainants, to 
improve transparency and accountability on behalf of the public. Furthermore, complaints against 
the Chief Constable are dealt with by the PCC. The independent Lancashire Police and Crime Panel 
(PCP) handles formal complaints made against the PCC. 

Both the PCC and Chief Constable are required to demonstrate respect for the rule of law and 
comply with relevant laws and regulations. To that end, both employ in-house legal advisors to 
provide assurance and guidance upon lawful decision-making. 

The PCC is independent of Force management and operational decision-making, which is the 
responsibility of the Chief Constable. Established mechanisms and guidance are in place to ensure 
that the PCC and Chief Constable do not breach or misuse their legal and regulatory powers 
inadvertently. 

The PCC and their Deputy (when appointed) are subject to the PCC’s Code of Conduct and Oath 
of Office, and the Chief Constable (and all other individuals who work in policing) are subject to the 
College of Policing’s Code of Ethics, both of which are consistent with the Nolan principles. The 
Chief Executive of the OPCC is also the designated statutory Monitoring Officer with responsibility 
for advising on the legality and appropriateness of the PCC’s actions and decisions. 

The PCC and Chief Constable create the conditions for all members of the OPCC and Force to be 
able to discharge their responsibilities in accordance with good practice. Guidance originating from 
the College of Policing and NPCC is disseminated Force-wide by the Learning and Development 
Team in People Services and/or the Policing Strategy Unit. Similarly, best practice for PCCs is 
obtained via the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners (APCC), Association of Policing 
and Crime Chief Executives (APAC2E) and Police and Crime Commissioners’ Treasurers Society 
(PACCTS), and is disseminated amongst the OPCC. 

The Force employs a Force Vetting Manager and team within the Professional Standards 
Department to ensure compliance with relevant national vetting standards. 

2. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement. 

The PCC has a statutory responsibility to consult the Chief Constable and obtain the views of the 
community and victims of crime about the policing of the Force area, and he must have regard to 
their views as well as the priorities of responsible authorities within Lancashire and relevant 
government bodies before issuing a police and crime plan. 
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The Police and Crime Plan must be published by the end of the financial year in which the PCC is 
elected and, may be reviewed and revised, as necessary and appropriate, to ensure it remains 
relevant and fit for purpose. In so doing, the PCC is helping to ensure that local policing services 
address the priorities of local communities and that the Force is being held to account for the way 
services are delivered to the public. 

The PCC’s ‘Police and Crime Plan 2021-2025’ discharges the above duties and sets out their 
strategic policing and crime reduction priorities and key aims, and how these will be delivered, over 
the four-year period of their current tenure of office. The delivery of their Plan is supported by the 
Force’s Strategic Plan and the corporate Financial Strategy. 

The Police and Crime Plan has due regard to the Strategic Policing Requirement as issued by the 
Home Secretary and is developed in consultation with the Chief Constable, informed by the views 
of the local community, victims of crime and the priorities of other key stakeholders. 

The independent Lancashire Police and Crime Panel meets regularly to review and scrutinise the 
decisions and actions of the PCC and their performance in delivering the priorities and key aims 
contained in their Police and Crime Plan. It also meets specifically to consider the PCC’s proposed 
annual council tax precept increase; Police and Crime Plan, Annual Report and any proposed senior 
appointments to the roles of Deputy PCC, Chief Constable, OPCC Chief Executive and OPCC Chief 
Finance Officer. 

Arrangements have been agreed upon and implemented for the PCC to hold the Chief Constable 
to account for Force performance and compliance with other requirements. These arrangements 
include a schedule of formal public and private meetings, i.e. regular Accountability Board Meetings, 
with the reports and agendas published on the PCC’s website, supplemented by regular informal, 
private, liaison meetings between the PCC and Chief Constable (in respect of which minutes are 
taken but not published). 

The Joint Corporate Governance Framework defines the parameters for decision-making, including 
delegations, financial regulations and contract regulations. The PCC has published their policy 
statement on decision-making. All formal and significant PCC decisions taken under this policy are 
published on their website. 

The PCC proactively publishes information to maintain openness and transparency with the public 
on this same website; in doing so, he also meets their obligations under the Elected Local Policing 
Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011 (as amended) and, as a public authority, under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

The PCC published their 2022/23 Annual Report July 2023. 

The Chief Constable has prepared and published the Lancashire Constabulary Strategic Plan. A 
performance update on the strategic plan and delivery against the PCC's Police and Crime Plan 
priorities is provided to the PCC’s Accountability Board meetings. The agenda and papers for the 
Accountability Board are published on the PCC’s website. 

Papers, reports, and decisions made by the Commissioner are published on the PCC's website 
together with consultations and public surveys. 

Papers for meetings of the Joint Audit and Ethics Committee are published and available to the 
public. From April 2023 this committee has been replaced by a Joint Independent Audit Committee 
and a Joint Independent Ethics Committee. Papers for both committees will be published. 

The PCC has a Communication and Engagement Strategy that sets out how he engages with 
stakeholders, partners and the public, through a combination of collaborative working, 
representation on boards, stakeholder consultation meetings and attendance at public community 
events.  
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3. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable, economic, social and environmental 

outcomes 

The PCC publishes a four-year Police and Crime Plan (the Plan) that is reviewed annually.  

This Plan is used to direct the resources of the PCC and Chief Constable. It informs the revenue 
budget on where resources are most needed and the capital investment programme to identify the 
priority needs for investment. The PCC has a Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS) that covers 
a rolling four-year period which is reviewed annually. The MTFS ensures that resources are directed 
to the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan priorities and the Constabulary strategic plan. 

Capital investment must meet the requirements of the prudential code in that they must be 
affordable. There are regular reports in compliance with the code during the year. 

4. Determining the intervention necessary to optimise the achievement of intended 

outcomes 

The Force planning cycle incorporates the annual Force Management Statement, financial plans, 
workforce plans and the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan to inform the Force’s annual Strategic Plan. 
Priority activities, measures and intended outcomes are proposed and approved through the Chief 
Officer Team (COT) and monitored through the service improvement framework and quarterly 
updates to inform the PCC’s Accountability Board. 

All new areas of business require a formal business case to be submitted. These business cases 
go through an internal approval process within the Constabulary before sign-off by the Chief 
Constable or PCC depending on the value or public interest. 

The same is true of business cases relating to regional and national collaborations. The approval 
process is slightly different in that groups of officers form layers of approval, but the result is the 
same with the PCC signing off the final business cases. 

5. Developing capacity and capability 

The PCC and Chief Constable ensure that their statutory officers have the skills, resources and 
support necessary to perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are properly understood 
throughout the organisation. Specialist advice, in areas such as taxation, some legal matters and 
treasury management, is sourced externally, as this is more practical and cost-effective. 

Chief Officers have clearly defined leadership roles and are responsible for implementing strategy 
and managing the delivery of services within their respective portfolios. 

Officers and staff manage their performance and continuous development through the Performance 
Development Review framework. An annual assessment of competencies linked to the Force 
Strategic Plan outcomes is supported by interim reviews and a requirement for officers and staff to 
undertake Continuous Professional Development. The framework also allows for the management 
of unsatisfactory performance or attendance where it is identified. 

The Force has a stated Health and Wellbeing Strategy, along with a workforce plan focussed on 
recruitment, retention and resilience. Progress on becoming increasingly representative of the 
communities the Force serves is also an area of focus. The Force is committed to being considered 
an employer of choice. 
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Chief Officers have promoted a learning environment climate focussed on continuous service 
improvement, recognising the importance of independent and peer review when needed. Integral to 
this is the identification of lessons learned, recommendations and identified areas for improvement 
through the end of project / programme closure reports undertaken before transitioning to business 
as usual, results analysis, individual management reviews, serious case reviews and Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) audit / inspection 
processes. 

The PCC has implemented a staffing structure within the OPCC to ensure it has the necessary 
capability and capacity to support them deliver their statutory functions, such as commissioning 
services for victims and witnesses. 

The PCC reviews the workload and performance of their office via the Quarter Performance Review 
(QPR) framework, which allows them to monitor activities and identify workload priorities and staffing 
capacity needs in accordance with the delivery of their strategic priorities. 

The PCC is a member of the national Association of Police and Crime Commissioners (APCC). The 
Chief Constable and their fellow chief officers are members of the National Police Chiefs’ Council 
(NPCC). 

6. Managing risks and performance 

The PCC has an approved governance framework that is reviewed annually to ensure it remains fit 
for purpose.  

The Joint Independent Audit and Joint Independent Ethics Committees (Previously Joint Audit and 
Ethics Committee) are responsible for enhancing public trust and confidence in the governance of 
the PCC and Lancashire Constabulary.  

At the start of each financial year, the PCC and the Constabulary agree a programme of internal 
and external audit work, which is reported back through the Joint Independent Audit Committee. 
Minutes of the Committee are published on the PCC website. 

Reporting of performance, both operational and financial, is undertaken on a regular basis and the 
PCC holds formal meetings to scrutinise performance each quarter. The PCC also meets with the 
Chief Constable on a regular basis to challenge where the performance is slipping. 

The PCC has established a risk management policy and procedures, which cover not only strategic 
business risks but also significant organisational and operational risks and opportunities.   Strategic 
level risks are routinely monitored and reviewed through the corporate decision-making process. 
Controlled risks are documented on a dedicated risk register to ensure appropriate and 
proportionate monitoring whilst maintaining focus on key issues. The PCC considers risk 
management in discharging all core functions. The PCC’s strategic risk register is a live document 
and risks are routinely considered at all key meetings. 

7. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and accountability 

All decisions of the PCC are published on the website, together with any supporting information to 
explain why any particular option was taken. 

The Police and Crime Plan together with financial strategies and internal policies are also published 
and reviewed regularly. 

The PCC decision-making process requires oversight by both of the statutory officers (i.e., the 
Monitoring Officer and PCC Chief Finance Officer).  All decisions made are formally recorded and 
made available on the PCC's website for public information and scrutiny as appropriate.   
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The Police and Crime Panel for Lancashire comprising local authority and other local 
representatives, maintains a supportive check and balance on the PCC's decisions and activity 
through the year. Part of the role of the Police and Crime Panel is to approve the Commissioner's 
budget and precept proposals and also the Police and Crime Plan.  The Commissioner's statutory 
requirements in relation to the Police and Crime Panel were met in full for 2022/23. 

The Police and Crime Panel meet regularly to hold the PCC to account for the decisions being taken. 
The minutes of this public meeting are published on the Blackburn with Darwen Council website. 

The PCC's section 151 Officer ensures that all financial arrangements conform with the 
requirements set out in the CIPFA statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government (2016) where appropriate and provides appropriate evidence where they do not. 

The section 151 officer ensures effective counter fraud and anti-corruption arrangements are in 
place through a program of training, procedure and review by the internal audit function. 

The PCC is clear that good governance arrangements must be in place for all partnership 
arrangements. The proposed governance arrangements are reviewed as part of the decision 
process undertaken and ultimately signed off by the PCC. This provides the PCC with the necessary 
assurance that appropriate governance arrangements are in place before any partnership activity 
can commence.  

The PCC ensures there are effective arrangements in place for the safe collection, use and sharing 
of data.  

 

Overall Assurance Summary 

No system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

However, based on the review of the sources of assurance set out in this Statement, we are satisfied 
that the Police and Crime Commissioner has in place satisfactory systems of corporate governance 
and internal control which facilitate the effective exercise of their functions, and which include 
arrangements for the effective management of risk. 

In their annual report for 2022/23 the Head of Internal Audit stated that " Overall, I can provide 
moderate assurance regarding the adequacy of design and effectiveness in operation of the 
frameworks of governance, risk management and control of the Chief Constable and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner.". 

Moderate assurance is defined as "the framework of control is adequately designed and/ or 
effectively operated overall, but some action is required to enhance aspects of it and/ or ensure that 
it is effectively operated throughout the service, system or process." 

The PCC has been assured that all the actions identified as required by the internal audit review 
has been implemented or are to be implemented shortly. 

Review of effectiveness 

The PCC has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of the 
governance framework, including the system of internal audit and the systems of internal control. 
The review has been conducted by the Chief Officer team and takes account of comments from 
both internal and external audit and inspectorate reports. 
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The review involves gathering examples of effective controls, mitigation of risks and the overall 
efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation.  The evidence gathered is documented in a 
separate record that is used to support the certificates of assurance signed by each of the chief 
officer team. 

Considering all these factors, the PCC, and Constabulary systems of internal control for 2022/23 
are considered both satisfactory and effective.  

The roles and processes applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance 
framework are outlined below: 
 
ENSURING EFFECTIVE GOVERNANCE OF ORGANISATIONAL RISKS 

Area for action identified for 2022/23 

1. Financial Pressures 

The commitment to deliver the 'uplift' programme for 20,000 additional officers by March 2023 was 
met but the additional cost pressures from high inflation and pay awards have a financial an 
organisational impact because of this programme. 

Strong financial control through the monitoring process has continued and the Medium-Term 
Financial Strategy has been reviewed and refreshed to form a plan to meet future cost pressures. 

2. Demand pressures 

The demands placed upon the policing service continued to change beyond the impact of COVID.  

The type of crime being dealt with is increasingly complex and resource intensive and the amount 

of these types of crime is rising significantly.  

In addition, cuts to services in other areas of the public sector, such as mental health care, mean 

that more people are committing crimes or presenting a risk of harm to either themselves or other 

members of the public. This clearly represents a further increase in the demands placed upon 

policing resources. 

The operational redesign implemented during the year enables the Constabulary to meet these 
demands and provide local policing that is more visible and increasingly effective in meeting such 
demand. 

Areas for Action in 2023/24 

1. Financial Pressures 

The commitment to maintain the police officer 'uplift' programme is in place and has delivered 
additional government funding for Lancashire. In order to maintain the increased level of police 
officers, savings will need to be made elsewhere in the organisation. 

This places a greater burden on police staff budgets as this is the most significant budget area 
outside police officer costs. It is inevitable this budget will face an impact if a significant level of 
savings is required.  

Action to address: 

The PCC and Constabulary will continue to examine every opportunity to make savings through 

improved efficiency and minimise the impact on any staff budget. 

This will be delivered through the annual 'business planning' process which is well established and 

has a proven track record in the delivery of savings solutions. 
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2. Increased complexity of Government Funding 

In recent years the Government has provided a series of grant funding streams targeted at specific 

policy objectives. 

This funding comes with a significant administrative burden including significant pressure to 

formulate bids in extremely short timescales and then requiring extensive reporting of outcomes. 

This is not ideal for effective financial management due to the uncertainty of such funding and the 

short timescales for its provision. It also places significant burden on resource to report results when 

successful. 

Action to address: 

The PCC and Constabulary will ensure that the staff involved in securing and monitoring such 

initiatives will be provided with training and resource to ensure they can identify and secure such 

funding. 

The horizon scanning undertaken for the MTFS will reflect funding of this nature as part of the 

planning process. 

 
Significant governance issues 

It should be noted that significant operational issues facing the organisation are not necessarily a 

result of weaknesses within the internal control and governance framework. 

There were no significant actual or potential governance issues identified for 2022/23. 

There are currently no significant actual or potential governance issues identified in respect of 

2022/23 ‘business as usual’ activities. The PCC is satisfied to the best of their knowledge that no 

material breaches of the governance arrangements occurred in 2022/23 and there are no significant 

weaknesses in the internal control and governance environment. 
 
In any event the governance arrangements of the PCC and the Chief Constable will remain under 
review at least annually over forthcoming financial years. 

 

Signed:  

Signed:   

Clive Grunshaw 
Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Lancashire 

Steve Freeman 
Interim Chief Executive of the Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire 

 
Date: 11th December 2024 

 
Date: 11th December 2024 
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GLOSSARY 

Accounting Policies 
The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by the authority in preparing and presenting 
financial statements. 
 
Accrual 
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not as cash is received or 
paid. 

Actuary 
An actuary is an expert on pension scheme assets and liabilities. The Local Government Pension Scheme Actuary 
reassesses the rate of employer contributions to the pension fund every three years. 

Actuarial gains and losses 
A change in pension fund liability due to the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions and what 
has actually occurred.  Outcomes are better or worse than the actuary had predicted or assumed – for example, because 
the fund’s assets earn more than expected, salaries do not increase as fast as assumed or members retire later than 
assumed.   

Amortisation 
An annual charge to the revenue account that spreads the cost of an asset over a period of time. 

Appropriation 
A contribution to or from a financial reserve. 
 
Asset Ceiling 
The asset ceiling is an upper limit on what is allowed to be recognised as a defined benefit asset broadly  
depending on whether the employer reporting entity can either get refunds from the outside/’third party’  
pension scheme or a reduction in future contributions to the outside/’third party’ pension scheme. 
 
Assets held for Sale 
Assets that are no longer needed by the PCC and which he is selling. 
 
Budget 
A statement which reflects the PCC’s policies in financial terms, and which sets out its spending plans for a given period. 

Capital assets 
Assets bought through capital expenditure. They are also known as ‘capital items’ and ‘non-current assets’. 
 
Capital expenditure 
Spending on buying or improving assets that have a long-term benefit – for example land, buildings and roads. Capital 
expenditure is also known as ‘capital spending’, ‘capital outlay’ and ‘capital payments’. 

Capital grant 
Money received for capital items (see ‘capital expenditure’ above). 

Capital receipts 
Proceeds received from the sale of capital assets. The proceeds are set aside in the Capital reserve in order to repay 
the county council’s borrowings or to finance new capital expenditure. 

Capital reserves 
Amounts set aside to support future capital projects. 
 
Cash balance 
Cash available to invest on the money market. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
Short term (less than 3 months), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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Cash transactions 
Cash amounts entering or leaving the accounts – for example, to pay for goods or services, or income from fees and 
charges. 

Change in Accounting Estimate 
An adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset or liability that results from an assessment of the present status and 
future benefits or obligations.  These changes occur as a result of new information, and are not corrections of errors. 
 
Non-current assets 
The classes of non-current assets required to be included in the accounting statements are: 

Property Plant & Equipment 

• Land and buildings. 

• Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment. 

• Assets under construction 

CIPFA 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountants is the accountancy body which recommends accounting 
practice for the preparation of local authority accounts. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
Liabilities relating to a known set of circumstances which may or may not arise. They can also be liabilities which are 
likely to arise, but which are very difficult to measure until future developments make things clearer. 

Corporate governance 
The authoritative rules and controls in place within an organisation required to promote openness, inclusivity, integrity 
and accountability. 

Council Tax precept 
The Council Tax charged by one authority (the precepting authority) which is collected by another authority (the billing 
authority). The PCC’s Council Tax income is charged through a precept on the district councils’ collection funds 

Creditors 
Amounts owed by the PCC for work carried out, goods received or services provided, which had not been paid by the 
date of the balance sheet. 

Current assets and liabilities 
Current assets are cash, cash equivalents and items that can be readily converted into cash. Current liabilities are items 
that are due for payment immediately or in the short term. 

By convention these items are ordered by reference to the ease that the asset can be converted into cash, and the 
timescale in which the liability falls due. 

Current service cost (IAS 19) 
The increase in the PCC’s defined benefit scheme obligation (pension scheme liability) as a result of employees’ service 
during the current year. 

Curtailment cost (IAS 19) 
Additional pension scheme liabilities as a result of redundancies and efficiency retirements during the year. 

Current Value 

For land and buildings, the amount that would be exchanged for the asset in its existing use. 

Debtors 
Amounts owed to the Authority which had not been paid by the date of the balance sheet. 
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Defined Benefit Scheme 
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme. Usually, the scheme rules 
define the benefits independently of the contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments 
of the scheme. The scheme may be funded or unfunded. 

Depreciation 
Charges to the income and expenditure account to reflect a decrease in the value of assets as a result of use or ageing. 

Discretionary benefits 
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation to award and are awarded 
under the PCC’s discretionary powers. 

Devolved financial management (DFM) 
The PCC’s budget management system. The budget is managed by those who make the decisions in each area of 
responsibility (‘accountable officers’). 

Employer’s pension contributions 
Payments to the pension scheme made by the Authority for current employees. 

Expected return on assets (IAS 19) 
The average rate of return expected on investment assets held by the pension scheme. 

Fair value 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 

Financing charges 
Repayments on amounts loaned to the PCC by external organisations. These charges include interest as well as 
repayment of the amount borrowed (the ‘principal’). 

Financial instrument 

A financial instrument can be a financial asset or a financial liability.  A financial asset is a contract such as an investment 
or loan representing amounts due to the authority. A financial liability is a contract such as borrowing representing 
amounts owed by the authority. 

Non-current assets 
Assets intended to be used for several years – for example, buildings, machinery and vehicles. 

General Fund 
The main revenue fund used to provide police services. Income to the fund consists of the precept on the collection 
funds, government grants and other income. 

Government grants 
Assistance by government and inter-government agencies and similar bodies, whether local, national or international, 
in the form of cash or transfers of assets to an authority in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions 
relating to the activities of the authority. 

Historic cost 
The cost of an asset at the time it was bought. 
 
Impairment 
This is where the useful working life of an asset is significantly reduced – for example, because of damage to a piece of 
equipment or changes in technology which mean that a service can be provided more efficiently in other ways.  When 
the amount at which the asset is held exceeds the amount the authority could receive for the asset, an impairment loss 
is recognised. 
 
Intangible assets 
Assets which do not have a physical form. Examples include internally developed systems, computer software, brand 
names, patents and copyrights. 
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Interest cost (pensions) 
The expected increase in the value of pension scheme liabilities because benefits are one year closer to being paid. 

Inventory 
Raw materials and consumable goods bought but not yet used at the end of the accounting period. 
 
Investing The acquisition of and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included as part of cash 
equivalents. 

Investment Property 
Property which is held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, not as part of service delivery. 
 
Market value 
The monetary value of an asset as determined by current market conditions at the balance sheet date. 

Materiality 
The concept that any omission from or inaccuracy in the statement of accounts should not be so large as to affect the 
understanding of those statements by a reader. 

Minimum revenue provision 
The minimum amount (as laid down in statute) that the PCC must charge to the accounts each year in order to meet 
the costs of repaying amounts borrowed. 

Net book value 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical cost or current value less the 
cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 

Net pension liability 
The amount the pension scheme will have to pay out in the future, less the value of pension fund assets. 

Net realisable value 
The amount for which an asset can be sold, less the cost of selling it. 

Nominal value of a financial instrument 

The nominal value of a financial instrument is the amount, exclusive of interest, payable or receivable when the 
instrument matures. 

Non-cash adjustments 
Changes in debtors’ and creditors’ balances over the year. 

Non-distributed costs 
These are costs that cannot be specifically applied to a service or services and are held centrally, comprising certain 
pension costs and the costs of unused shares of IT facilities and other assets. 

Non-operational assets 
Assets which are not in use. 
 
Operating lease 
A lease where ownership of the goods remains with the company leasing them to the PCC. 

Operational assets 
Assets used for day-to-day activities – for example, land, buildings, furniture and equipment. 

Past service cost or gain (IAS 19) 
The increase or decrease in pension scheme liabilities as a result of changes to benefits earned in previous years – for 
example, because of early retirement or changes to pension scheme regulations. 

Pension enhancements 
Additional pension benefits (such as added years on early retirement) awarded to scheme members in line with the 
PCC's general conditions of employment. 
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Principal 
The amount of money borrowed, not including interest charges. 

 
Principal repayment of debt 
Re-payment of a loan, not including interest charges. 
 
Prior period adjustments 
Those material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting policies or from the correction 
of fundamental errors. A fundamental error is one that is of such significance as to destroy the validity of the financial 
statements. They do not include normal recurring corrections or adjustments of accounting estimates made in prior 
years. 
 
Projected unit method (Pensions) 
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make allowance for the projected earnings. An 
accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to: 
 
(a) the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased to be active members 

but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and their dependants, allowing where appropriate for future 
increases, and 

 
(b) the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
 
The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested rights or not.  
 
Provisions 
Funds set aside to cover specific past expenses, where the exact cost or timing is still uncertain. 
 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
A government agency which provides longer-term loans to local authorities at interest rates only slightly higher than 
those at which the government itself can borrow. 

Related party 
A person or organisation which has influence over another person or organisation. 
 
Reserves 
Amounts set aside in one year’s accounts which can be spent in later years. Some types of reserve can only be spent 
if certain conditions are met. 

Specific grants 
Government grants for a particular purpose. 
 


